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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, June 30, 2024
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 001-35299
l#..0000950170-24-085873img77520285_0.jpg
ALKERMES PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Ireland 98-1007018

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
Connaught House
1 Burlington Road
Dublin 4, Ireland, D04 C5Y6

(Address of principal executive offices)

+ 353-1-772-8000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
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Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Ordinary shares, $0.01 par value ALKS Nasdaq Global Select Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports),

and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant
to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant

was required to submit such files). Yes X No [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting
company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,”

and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company [

Emerging growth company [

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for

complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. (I

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [0 No

The number of the registrant’s ordinary shares, $0.01 par value, outstanding as of April 26, 2024 July 19, 2024 was
169,221,311 164,668,329 shares.

ALKERMES PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q
FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, JUNE 30, 2024
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited):

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets — March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).— For the Three and Six

Months Ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — For the Three Six Months Ended March 31, 2024 June 30,

2024 and 2023

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity — For the Three and Six Months Ended March 31,

2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Controls and Procedures

PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

Legal Proceedings
Risk Factors

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Other Information

Exhibits

Cautionary Note Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains and incorporates by reference “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the

Page No.

910
2324
34 36
3436

3537
3537
3537
3537
3638
3739

Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the

“Exchange Act”). In some cases, these statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,

”

will,”

“could,” “should,” “would,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “continue,” “believe,” “plan,” “estimate,” “intend,” or other similar words. These statements

discuss future expectations and contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition, or state trends and known

uncertainties or other forward-looking information. Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Form 10-Q")

may include, without limitation, statements regarding:
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e our expectations regarding our financial performance, including revenues, expenses, liquidity, capital expenditures, income taxes e
profitability;

e our expectations regarding our products, including expectations related to product development, regulatory filings, approvals and
timelines; therapeutic and commercial value, scope and potential; and the costs and expenses related to such activities and
expectations;

e our expectations regarding the initiation, timing and results of clinical trials of our products;

e our expectations regarding the competitive, payer, legislative, regulatory and policy landscape, and changes therein, related to our
products, including competition from generic forms of our products or competitive products and development programs; barriers to
access or coverage of our products and potential changes in reimbursement of our products; and legislation, regulations, executive
orders, guidance or other measures that may impact pricing and reimbursement of, and access to, our products;

e our expectations regarding the financial impact of currency exchange rate fluctuations and valuations;

e our expectations regarding acquisitions, collaborations, licensing arrangements and other significant agreements with third parties,
including those related to our products, development programs and our other business development programs; opportunities;

e our expectations regarding the impacts of new legislation, rules and regulations, the adoption of new accounting pronouncements,
potential government shutdowns, or other global, political or economic instability or disruptions;

e our expectations regarding near-term changes in the nature of our market risk exposures or in our management’s objectives and
strategies with respect to managing such exposures;

e our expectations regarding our ability to comply with restrictive covenants of our indebtedness and our ability to fund our debt serv
obligations;

e our expectations regarding future capital requirements and expenditures for our operations and our ability to finance such capital
requirements and expenditures;

e our expectations regarding the timing, outcome and impact of administrative, regulatory, legal and other proceedings related to our
products and intellectual property (“IP"), including our patents, know-how, and related rights or obligations;

e our expectations regarding the tax treatment and other anticipated benefits of the separation of our oncology business; and

» other expectations discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

Actual results might differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements because these forward-
looking statements are subject to risks, assumptions and uncertainties. In light of these risks, assumptions and uncertainties, the forward-
looking expectations discussed in this Form 10-Q might not occur. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking
statements in this Form 10-Q, which speak only as of the date of this Form 10-Q. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking
statements concerning the matters addressed in this Form 10-Q and attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. Except as required by applicable law or
regulation, we do not undertake any obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. For information about the risks, assumptions and uncertainties of our business, see “Part |, Item
1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the United States (“U.S.”)
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on February 21, 2024 (our “Annual Report”).
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Report”).

This Form 10-Q may include data that we obtained from industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies. Industry
publications and third-party research, surveys and studies generally indicate that their information has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. While we believe that any
industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies from which data is included in this Form 10-Q are reliable, we have not
independently verified any such data. This Form 10-Q may also include data based on our own internal estimates and research. Our
internal estimates and research have not been verified by any independent source and are necessarily subject to a high degree of
uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in “Part I, Item 1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report. These

and other factors could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in this Form 10-Q.
Note Regarding Company and Product References

Alkermes plc is a global biopharmaceutical company that seeks to develop innovative medicines in the field of neuroscience. We
have a portfolio of proprietary commercial products for the treatment of alcohol dependence, opioid dependence, schizophrenia and
bipolar I disorder, and a pipeline of clinical and preclinical candidates in development for neurological disorders, including narcolepsy. Use

”

of terms such as “us,” “we,” “our,” “Alkermes” or the “Company” in this Form 10-Q is meant to refer to Alkermes plc and its consolidated
subsidiaries. Except as otherwise suggested by the context, (a) references to “products” or “our products” in this Form 10-Q include our
marketed products, marketed products using our proprietary technologies, our licensed products, our product candidates and product
candidates using our proprietary technologies, (b) references to the “biopharmaceutical industry” in this Form 10-Q are intended to
include reference to the “biotechnology industry” and/or the “pharmaceutical industry” and (c) references to “licensees” in this Form 10-Q

are used interchangeably with references to “partners.”

Note Regarding Trademarks

We are the owner of various U.S. federal trademark registrations (“®") and other trademarks (“™"), including ALKERMES®,

ARISTADA®, ARISTADA INITIO®, LinkeRx®, LYBALVI®, NanoCrystal® and VIVITROL®.

The following are trademarks of the respective companies listed: BYANNLI®, INVEGA®, INVEGA HAFYERA®, INVEGA
SUSTENNA®, INVEGA TRINZA®, TREVICTA®, and XEPLION®—Johnson & Johnson or its affiliated companies; and VUMERITY®—
Biogen MA Inc. (together with its affiliates, “Biogen”). Other trademarks, trade names and service marks appearing in this Form 10-Q are
the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, the trademarks and trade names in this Form 10-Q may be referred to
without the ® and ™ symbols, but such references should not be construed as any indicator that their respective owners will not assert, to

the fullest extent under applicable law, their rights thereto.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements:
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ALKERMES PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(unaudited)

March 31, December 31, December 31,

2024 2023 June 30, 2024 2023

(In thousands, except share and (In thousands, except share and

per share amounts) per share amounts)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 420,753 $ 457,469 $ 535150 $ 457,469
Receivables, net 315,848 332,477 366,415 332,477
Investments—short-term 324,295 316,022 340,967 316,022
Inventory 198,369 186,406 194,731 186,406
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 101,435 98,166
Contract assets 1,229 706 3,492 706
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 111,539 98,166
Assets held for sale 96,792 94,260 — 94,260
Total current assets 1,468,825 1,485,506 1,542,190 1,485,506
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET 224,590 226,943 222,738 226,943
INVESTMENTS—LONG-TERM 86,402 39,887
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 89,683 91,460 87,889 91,460
INVESTMENTS—LONG-TERM 62,782 39,887
GOODWILL 83,027 83,027
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 932 1,991
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET AND GOODWILL 83,945 85,018
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 182,536 195,888 167,382 195,888
OTHER ASSETS 11,521 11,521 16,296 11,521
TOTAL ASSETS $ 2,123,896 $ 2,136,223 $ 2,206,842 $ 2,136,223
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 205,854 $ 2405561 $ 239,774 $ 240,561
Accrued sales discounts, allowances and reserves 240,877 263,641 263,457 263,641
Operating lease liabilities—short-term 5,910 5,746 6,007 5,746
Contract liabilities—short-term 3,336 2,730 3,311 2,730
Current portion of long-term debt 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000
Liabilities related to discontinued operations = 4,542 — 4,542
Total current liabilities 458,977 520,220 515,549 520,220
LONG-TERM DEBT 287,095 287,730 286,459 287,730
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OPERATING LEASE LIABILITIES—LONG-TERM 74,102 75,709 72,535 75,709
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 48,959 49,878 48,294 49,878
Total liabilities 869,133 933,537 922,837 933,537

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 16)
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 17)
SHAREHOLDERS'’ EQUITY:
Preferred shares, par value, $0.01 per share; 50,000,000 shares
authorized; zero issued and outstanding at March 31, 2024 and December
31, 2023 — —
Ordinary shares, par value, $0.01 per share; 450,000,000 shares
authorized; 175,734,220 and 172,569,051 shares issued; 169,184,516
and 166,979,833 shares outstanding at March 31, 2024 and December

31, 2023, respectively 1,757 1,726
Treasury shares, at cost (6,549,704 and 5,589,218 shares at March 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively) (217,685) (189,336)

Preferred shares, par value, $0.01 per share; 50,000,000 shares

authorized; and zero issued and outstanding at June 30, 2024 and

December 31, 2023 — —
Ordinary shares, par value, $0.01 per share; 450,000,000 shares

authorized; 175,959,272 and 172,569,051 shares issued; and

165,886,689 and 166,979,833 shares outstanding at June 30, 2024 and

December 31, 2023, respectively 1,760 1,726

Treasury shares, at cost (10,072,583 and 5,589,218 shares at June 30,

2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively) (303,025) (189,336)

Additional paid-in capital 2,780,992 2,736,934 2,804,202 2,736,934

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,601) (3,110) (3,590) (3,110)

Accumulated deficit (1,306,700) (1,343,528) (1,215,342) (1,343,528)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,254,763 1,202,686 1,284,005 1,202,686

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 2,123,896 $ 2,136,223 $ 2,206,842 $ 2,136,223

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

ALKERMES PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
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(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

March 31, June 30, June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(In thousands, except per

share amounts) (In thousands, except per share amounts)
REVENUES:
Product sales, net $ 233536 $ 214,727 $269,273 $231,477 $502,809 $446,204
Manufacturing and royalty revenues 116,833 72,862 129,858 385,913 246,691 458,775
Research and development revenue 3 6 = 7 3 13
Total revenues 350,372 287,595 399,131 617,397 749,503 904,992
EXPENSES:
Cost of goods manufactured and sold (exclusive of
amortization of acquired intangible assets shown below) 58,644 58,164 61,472 63,249 120,116 121,413
Research and development 67,611 63,770 59,649 68,225 127,260 131,995
Selling, general and administrative 179,749 167,833 168,113 195,756 347,862 363,589
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 1,059 8,800 14 8,898 1,073 17,698
Total expenses 307,063 298,567 289,248 336,128 596,311 634,695
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS 43,309 (20,972)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET:
OPERATING INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 109,883 281,269 153,192 270,297
OTHER INCOME, NET:
Interest income 9,399 4,966 10,735 6,769 20,134 11,735
Interest expense (5,978) (5,288) (5,952) (5,684) (11,930) (10,972)
Other income (expense), net 182 (39) 2,053 (525) 2,235 (564)
Total other income (expense), net 3,603 (361)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES 46,912 (11,333)
Total other income, net 6,836 560 10,439 199
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 116,719 281,829 163,631 270,496
INCOME TAX PROVISION 7,964 717 22,061 2,728 30,025 3,445
NET INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 38,948 (12,050)
NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 94,658 279,101 133,606 267,051
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET OF TAX (2,120) (29,795) (3,300)  (42,036) (5,420)  (71,831)
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 36,828 $ (41,845)
NET INCOME $ 91,358 $ 237,065 $128,186 $195,220
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EARNINGS (LOSS) PER ORDINARY SHARE:

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations - basic $ 023 $  (0.07)

Loss per share from discontinued operations - basic $ (001) $ (0.18)

Earnings (loss) per share - basic $ 022 $ (0.25)

Earnings per ordinary share from continuing operations - basic $ 056 $ 168 $ 079 $ 161

Loss per ordinary share from discontinued operations - basic ~ $  (0.02) $  (0.25) $ (0.03) $ (0.43)

Earnings per ordinary share - basic $ 054 $ 143 $ 076 $ 118

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations -

diluted $ 023 $ (0.07)

Loss per share from discontinued operations - diluted $ (001) $ (0.18)

Earnings (loss) per share - diluted $ 021 $ (0.25)

Earnings per ordinary share from continuing operations -

diluted $ 055 $ 163 $ 078 $ 1.56

Loss per ordinary share from discontinued operations - diluted $ ~ (0.02) $ (0.25) $ (0.03) $ (0.42)

Earnings per ordinary share - diluted $ 053 $ 138 $ 075 $ 114
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES
OUTSTANDING:

Basic 167,984 165,085 168,321 166,279 168,152 165,686

Diluted 172,981 165,085 170,977 171,553 171,960 170,747
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):

Net income (loss) $ 36,828 $ (41,845)

Holding (loss) gain, net of a tax (benefit) provision of $(75)

and $488, respectively (491) 2,760
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 36,337 $ (39,085)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Net income $ 91,358 $ 237,065 $128,186 $ 195,220

Holding gain (loss), net of a tax (benefit) provision of $(8), $99,

$(83) and $587, respectively 11 692 (480) 3,452
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 91,369 $ 237,757 $127,706 $198,672

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
6
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ALKERMES PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss)

(unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2024

2023

2024

2023

(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows from operating activities:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation expense
Deferred income taxes
Gain on sale of the Athlone Facility
Other non-cash charges

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Contract assets
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Right-of-use assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued sales discounts, allowances and reserves
Contract liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of equipment
Proceeds from the sale of the Athlone Facility

Purchases of investments

(In thousands)

$ 36,828 $ (41,845)

$ 128,186 $195,220
8,056 18,714 14,714 37,725
32,755 22,643 53,356 51,147
7515  (36,117) 21,724  (38,137)

(1,462) —
2,215 369 2,136 691
16,628 18,789  (33,939) (46,511)
(523) 500 (2,786) 8,929
(12,641)  (2,029) (9,538)  (6,879)
(7,461)  (3,697) (1,206) (774)
1,777 4,269 3,571 8,498
(38,448)  (30,154) (1,930) 19,995
(22,764) 30,148 (185)  (29,347)
(208)  (4,287) (1,463)  (5,032)
(2516)  (4,379) (5,049)  (8,471)
(105) 5,774 1,009 7,354

21,108  (21,302)

167,138 194,408
(8,342)  (6,860) (15453) (16,565)
411 — 434 3

97,933 —
(114,508)  (23,898) (209,962)  (30,284)
11/116
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Sales and maturities of investments 82,488 103,608 138,947 240,544
Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities (39,951) 72,850
Cash flows provided by investing activities 11,899 193,698
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares under share-based compensation
arrangements 11,226 2,874 13,833 12,000
Employee taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (28,349) (24,744) (29,000) (25,284)
Payment for the repurchase of ordinary shares (84,689) —
Principal payments of long-term debt (750) (750) (2,500) (1,500)
Cash flows used in financing activities (A7,873) (22,620) (101,356) (14,784)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (36,716) 28,928
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 77,681 373,322
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of period 457,469 292,473 457,469 292,473
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—ENd of period $ 420,753 $321,401 $ 535,150 $ 665,795
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE:
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchased capital expenditures included in accounts payable and accrued
expenses $ 2629 $ 1,762 $ 1649 $ 4,863
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
7
ALKERMES PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(unaudited)
Accumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensi Accumulat
Ordinary Shares Paid-In ve ed Treasury Stock
Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Shares Amount Total
(In thousands, except share data)
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BALANCE — December 31, 2023

Issuance of ordinary shares under

employee stock plans

Receipt of Alkermes' ordinary shares for the
exercise of stock options or to satisfy
minimum tax withholding obligations related

to share-based awards
Share-based compensation

Unrealized gain on marketable securities,
net of tax benefit of $75

Net income

BALANCE — March 31, 2024

BALANCE — December 31, 2022

Issuance of ordinary shares under
employee stock plans

Receipt of Alkermes' ordinary shares for the
exercise of stock options or to satisfy
minimum tax withholding obligations related

to share-based awards
Share-based compensation

Unrealized gain on marketable securities,

net of tax provision of $488

Net loss

BALANCE — March 31, 2023

172,569, $ 1,726 $ 27369 $ (3,110) $ (1,343)  (5589.2) $ (189,33) $1,202,68
051 34 528 18 6 6
3,165,16
9 31 11,195 — — — — 11,226
= = = — —  (960,486)  (28,349)  (28,349)
— — 32,863 — — — — 32,863
— — = (491) — — = (491)
— — — — 36,828 — — 36,828
175,734, 2,780,9 (1,306, (6,549,7 (217,68 1,254,76
220 $ 1,757 $ 92 $ (3601) $  700) 04) $ 5) $ 3
Accumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensi Accumulat
Ordinary Shares Paid-In ve ed Treasury Stock
Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Shares Amount Total
(In thousands, except share data)
168,951, 2,913,0 (1,699, (4,574,1 (160,86 1,043,75
193 $ 1690 $ 99 $ (10,889) $  285) 84) $ 2) $ 3
2,567,60
3 25 2,849 — — — — 2,874
= — — — —  (885,652)  (24,744)  (24,744)
— — 22,778 — — — — 22,778
_ — = 2,760 — — — 2,760
— — — — (41,845) — — (41,845)
171,518, 2,938,7 (1,741, (5,459,8 (185,60 1,005,57
796 $ 1,715 $ 26 $ (8129) $  130) 36) $ 6) $ 6
Accumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensi Accumulat
Ordinary Shares Paid-In ve ed Treasury Stock
Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Shares Amount Total
13/116
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(In thousands, except share data)

172,569, 2,736,9 (1,343, (5,589,2 (189,33 1,202,68
BALANCE — December 31, 2023 051 $ 1,726 34 $ (3110) $ 528) 18) $ 6) $ 6
Issuance of ordinary shares under 3,165,16
employee stock plans 9 31 11,195 — — — — 11,226
Receipt of Alkermes' ordinary shares for the
exercise of stock options or to satisfy
minimum tax withholding obligations related
to share-based awards — — — — — (960,486) (28,349) (28,349)
Share-based compensation — — 32,863 — — — — 32,863
Unrealized loss on marketable securities,
net of tax benefit of $75 = = = (491) = — — (491)
Net income = = = — 36,828 — — 36,828
175,734, 2,780,9 (1,306, (6,549,7 (217,68 1,254,76
BALANCE — March 31, 2024 220 $ 1,757 92 $ (3601) $ 700) 04) $ 5) $ 3
Issuance of ordinary shares under
employee stock plans 225,052 3 2,604 — — — — 2,607
Receipt of Alkermes' ordinary shares for the
exercise of stock options or to satisfy
minimum tax withholding obligations related
to share-based awards — — — — — (26,692) (651) (651)
(3,496,1
Repurchase of Alkermes' ordinary shares — — — — — 87) (84,689) (84,689)
Share-based compensation — — 20,606 — — — — 20,606
Unrealized gain on marketable securities,
net of tax benefit of $8 — — — 11 — — — 11
Net income = = = = 91,358 = — 91,358
175,959, 2,804,2 (1,215, (10,072, (303,02 1,284,00
BALANCE — June 30, 2024 272 $ 1,760 02 $ (3590) $  342) 583) $ 5) $ 5
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BALANCE — December 31, 2022

Issuance of ordinary shares under
employee stock plans

Receipt of Alkermes' ordinary shares for the
exercise of stock options or to satisfy
minimum tax withholding obligations related
to share-based awards

Share-based compensation

Unrealized gain on marketable securities,

net of tax provision of $488

Net loss

BALANCE — March 31, 2023

Issuance of ordinary shares under
employee stock plans

Receipt of Alkermes' ordinary shares for the
exercise of stock options or to satisfy
minimum tax withholding obligations related

to share-based awards
Share-based compensation

Unrealized gain on marketable securities,

net of tax provision of $99

Net income

BALANCE — June 30, 2023

Accumulated

Other
Additional Comprehensi Accumulat
Ordinary Shares Paid-In ve ed Treasury Stock
Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Shares Amount Total
(In thousands, except share data)
168,951, 2,913,0 (1,699, (4,574,1 (160,86 1,043,75
193 $ 169 $ 99 $ (10,889) $  285) 84) $ 2) $ 3
2,567,60
3 25 2,849 — — — — 2,874
— — — — —  (885,652)  (24,744)  (24,744)
= = 22,778 = = = = 22,778
— — — 2,760 — — — 2,760
= = = - (41,845) = = (41,845)
171,518, 2,938,7 (1,741, (5,459,8 (185,60 1,005,57
796 $ 1,715 $ 26 $ (8129) $  130) 36) $ 6) $ 6
457,105 5! 9,121 - - = = 9,126
— — — — — (17,777) (540) (540)
— — 28,518 — — — — 28,518
— — — 692 — — — 692
237,06
— — — — 5 — — 237,065
171,975, 2,976,3 (1,504, (5,477,6 (186,14 1,280,43
901 $ 1,720 $ 65 $ (7,437) $  065) 13) $ 6) $ 7
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ALKERMES PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Unaudited)

1. THE COMPANY

Alkermes plc is a global biopharmaceutical company that seeks to develop innovative medicines in the field of neuroscience.
Alkermes has a portfolio of proprietary commercial products for the treatment of alcohol dependence, opioid dependence, schizophrenia
and bipolar | disorder and a pipeline of clinical and preclinical candidates in development for neurological disorders, including narcolepsy.
Headquartered in Ireland, Alkermes also has a corporate office and research and development (“R&D”) center in Massachusetts and a

manufacturing facility in Ohio.

On May 1, 2024, the Company completed the previously announced sale of its development and manufacturing facility in Athlone,
Ireland (the “Athlone Facility”) to Novo Nordisk (“Novo”). The Company and Novo also entered into subcontracting arrangements to
continue certain development and manufacturing activities currently performed at the Athlone Facility for a period of time after the closing
of the transaction; these activities may continue through the end of 2025. In connection with the sale of the Athlone Facility, the Company
received approximately $97.9 million from Novo, which included a payment of approximately $91.0 million for the facility and certain
related assets, and recorded a gain of approximately $1.5 million within “Other income (expense), net” in the accompanying condensed
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024. At March 31, 2024
and December 31, 2023, the Company classified the assets described under the related asset purchase agreement for the sale as
“Assets held for sale” withinin the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company for the three and six months ended March 31,
2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 are unaudited and have been prepared on a basis substantially consistent with the audited financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2023. The year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet data, which is presented for
comparative purposes, was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S. (commonly referred to as “GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the condensed consolidated
financial statements include all adjustments of a normal recurring nature that are necessary to state fairly the results of operations for the
reported periods.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of the
Company, which are contained in the Annual Report. The results of the Company’s operations for any interim period are not necessarily

indicative of the results of the Company’s operations for any other interim period or for any full fiscal year.
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Alkermes plc and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
accompanying the Annual Report. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Columns and rows within tables may
not sum due to rounding.

Reclassification
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The Company has presented operations from its former oncology business as discontinued operations in its accompanying
condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the three and six months ended March 31,
2023 June 30, 2023. See Note 3, Discontinued Operations in these “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form

10-Q for additional information.
Discontinued Operations

The Company determined that the separation of its oncology business in November 2023 met the criteria for classification of the
oncology business as discontinued operations in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 205, Discontinued Operations (“Topic 205"). Accordingly, the financial statements have been updated to present the
results of the oncology business as discontinued operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 in the

accompanying condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). income.
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ALKERMES PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Unaudited) (Continued)

Assets Held for Sale

In connection with the sale of the Athlone Facility, the Company reviewed FASB ASC 805, Business Combinations (“Topic 805”")and,
based on the definitions therein, determined that the Athlone Facility constitutes constituted a business. Accordingly, the assets
associated with the sale of the Athlone Facility were classified as “Assets held for sale” withinin the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires that Company
management make estimates, judgments and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates,
judgments and methodologies, including, but not limited to, those related to revenue from contracts with its customers and related
allowances, impairment and amortization of long-lived assets, share-based compensation, income taxes including the valuation allowance
for deferred tax assets, valuation of investments and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different conditions or using different assumptions.

Segment Information

The Company operates as one business segment, which is the business of developing, manufacturing and commercializing
medicines designed to address unmet medical needs of patients in major therapeutic areas. The Company'’s chief decision maker, its
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Chief Executive Officer and chairman of its board of directors, reviews the Company’s operating results on an aggregate basis and

manages the Company’s operations as a single operating unit.
New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard-setting bodies that are adopted by the
Company as of on or prior to the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, described in this Form 10-Q, the Company believes
that the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on its financial position or results of

operations upon adoption.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosure, which requires disclosure of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided
to the chief operating decision maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, an amount and description of
its composition for other segment items to reconcile to segment profit or loss and the title and position of the Company’s chief operating
decision maker. The amendments in this guidance also expand the interim segment disclosure requirements. All disclosure requirements
under this guidance are required for public entities with a single reportable segment. This ASU became effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted and the
amendments in this guidance are required to be applied on a retrospective basis. The Company elected to early adopt this guidance and
determined this ASU did not have an impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, to enhance
the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures in order to provide information to assist key stakeholders in better
assessing how the Company’s operations and related tax risks and tax planning and operational opportunities affect the Company’s tax
rate and prospects for future cash flows. This ASU becomes effective for public companies for annual periods beginning after December
15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. This
guidance will be applied on a prospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its consolidated

financial statements and related disclosures.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Unaudited) (Continued)

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Mural Oncology Separation

On November 15, 2023 (the “Separation Date”), the Company completed the separation of its oncology business into Mural
Oncology plc (“Mural”), a new, independent, publicly-traded company (the “Separation”). The Separation was effected by means of a
distribution of all of the outstanding ordinary shares of Mural to the Company’s shareholders (the “Distribution”), in which each of the

Company’s shareholders received one ordinary share, nominal value $0.01 per share, of Mural for every ten ordinary shares, par value
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$0.01 per share, of the Company (the “Distribution Ratio”) held by such shareholder as of the close of business on November 6, 2023, the
record date for the Distribution. The historical results of the oncology business have been reflected as discontinued operations in the
Company’s accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30,
2023 and as of December 31, 2023.

In connection with the Separation, the Company entered into a separation agreement with Mural, dated as of November 13, 2023
(the “Separation Agreement”), that, among other things, sets forth the Company’s agreements with Mural regarding the principal actions
taken or to be taken in connection with the Separation, including the Distribution. The Separation Agreement identified those assets to be
transferred to, liabilities to be assumed by, and contracts to be assigned to Mural, including the operating lease for the office and
laboratory space at 852 Winter Street in Waltham, Massachusetts, and it provided for when and how such transfers, assumptions and
assignments were to occur. The purpose of the Separation Agreement was to provide Mural and the Company with those assets
necessary to operate their respective businesses and to retain or assume the respective liabilities related to those assets.

Under the terms of the Separation Agreement, the Company granted Mural a perpetual, worldwide, non-exclusive, royalty-free, fully
paid-up license (or, as the case may be, sublicense) to certain IP controlled by the Company as of the date of the Distribution to allow
Mural to use such IP for the oncology business, and Mural granted the Company a perpetual, worldwide, non-exclusive, royalty-free, fully
paid-up license (or, as the case may be, sublicense) to the IP transferred to Mural as part of the Separation for the Company’s use
outside of the oncology business.

Each of Mural and the Company agreed to releases with respect to pre-Distribution claims, and cross-indemnities with respect to
post-Distribution claims, that are principally designed to place financial responsibility for the obligations and liabilities allocated to Mural
under the Separation Agreement, and financial responsibility for the obligations and liabilities allocated to the Company under the
Separation Agreement. The Company and Mural are also each subject to mutual six-month employee non-solicitation and non-hire

restrictions, subject to certain customary exceptions, and certain confidentiality restrictions and information sharing obligations.

The transfer of assets and liabilities to Mural was effected through a contribution in accordance with the Separation Agreement, as
summarized below:

(In thousands) November 15, 2023
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 275,000
Total current assets 275,000
Property, plant and equipment, net 10,096
Right-of-use assets 14,513
Goodwill 7,800
Deferred tax asset 1,799
Total assets $ 309,208
LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Operating lease liabilities—short-term $ 6,036
Total current liabilities 6,036
Operating lease liabilities—long-term 9,412
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Total liabilities 15,448

Net assets transferred to Mural $ 293,760
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Unaudited) (Continued)

The Company determined that the Separation and related the Distribution qualified as tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes,
which required significant judgment by management. In making such determination, the Company applied U.S. federal tax law to relevant
facts and circumstances and obtained: (i) a favorable private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service; (ii) a tax opinion; and (iii)
other external tax advice related to the concluded tax treatment. If the Separation and Distribution were to ultimately fail to qualify for tax-
free treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Company and/or its shareholders could be subject to significant liabilities, which
could have material adverse impacts on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in future
reporting periods. Furthermore, other than taxes recorded on the transfer of IP, the Company determined that the Separation and related
Distribution qualified as tax-free for Irish tax purposes, which required significant judgment by management. In making such
determination, the Company applied Irish tax law to relevant facts and circumstances and obtained: (i) a tax opinion; and (ii) other
external tax advice related to the concluded tax treatment. If the Separation and Distribution were to ultimately fail to qualify for tax-free
treatment for Irish tax purposes, the Company and/or its shareholders could be subject to significant liabilities, which could have material

adverse impacts on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in future reporting periods.

In connection with the Separation, the Company also entered into a tax matters agreement with Mural, dated as of November 13,
2023. The tax matters agreement governs the Company’s and Mural’s respective rights, responsibilities and obligations with respect to
taxes (including taxes arising in the ordinary course of business and taxes, if any, incurred as a result of any failure of the Distribution,
together with certain related transactions, to qualify as tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes), tax attributes, the preparation and

filing of tax returns, the control of audits and other tax proceedings, and assistance and cooperation in respect of tax matters.

In connection with the Separation, the Company also entered into an employee matters agreement with Mural, dated as of November
13, 2023 (as amended, the “Employee Matters Agreement”). The Employee Matters Agreement governs the Company’s, Mural's and
their respective subsidiaries’ and affiliates’ rights, responsibilities and obligations after the Separation with respect to, employment,
benefits and compensation matters relating to employees and former employees (and their respective dependents and beneficiaries) who
are or were associated with the Company, including those who became employees of Mural in connection with the Separation; the
allocation of assets and liabilities generally relating to employees, employment or service-related matters and employee benefit plans;
other human resources, employment and employee benefits matters; and the treatment of equity-based awards granted by the Company

prior to the Separation.

The Company entered into two transition services agreements with Mural. On November 13, 2023, Alkermes, Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (“Alkermes US"), and Mural Oncology, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mural (“Mural US”), entered into one
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transition services agreement, pursuant to which the Company and its subsidiaries will provide, on an interim, transitional basis, various
services to Mural and its subsidiaries, and a second transition services agreement, pursuant to which Mural and its subsidiaries will
provide certain services to the Company and its subsidiaries, in each case for a term of two years, unless earlier terminated in
accordance with the terms of the applicable agreement.

Discontinued Operations

The Company determined that the Separation met the criteria for classification of the oncology business as discontinued operations
in accordance with Topic 205. The following summarizes the loss from discontinued operations for the three and six months ended March
31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Operating expenses from discontinued operations
Cost of goods manufactured $ — $ 1 $ — $ 1 $ — $ 22
Research and development 2,516 29,867 3,913 32,563 6,429 62,430
Selling, general and administrative — 6,644 — 9,502 — 16,146
Total operating expenses from discontinued operations 2,516 36,522 3,913 42,076 6,429 78,598
Operating loss from discontinued operations (2,516) (36,522) (3,913) (42,076) (6,429) (78,598)
Income tax benefit from discontinued operations (396) (6,727) (613) (40) (1,009) (6,767)

Net loss and comprehensive loss from discontinued operations  $ (2,120) $ (29,795) $ (3,300) $ (42,036) $ (5,420) $ (71,831)
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There were no assets and $4.5 million of liabilities related to the Separation at December 31, 2023. All assets related to the
Separation were transferred to Mural as of the Separation Date. The $4.5 million of liabilities classified as “Liabilities related to
discontinued operations” in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet related to bonus amounts accrued for employees
that transferred to Mural during 2023 and through the Separation Date that were paid by the Company in the first quarter of 2024, in

accordance with the terms of the Employee Matters Agreement.

The following table summarizes the significant non-cash items and capital expenditures of the discontinued operations that are
included in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30,
2023:
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Three Months Ended

(In thousands) March 31, 2023

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Depreciation $ 116
Share-based compensation expense 1,620
Right-of-use assets 3,066
Operating lease liabilities (1,460)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions of property, plant and equipment $ (200)

4. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Product Sales, Net

Six Months Ended

June 30, 2023

$

240
2,937
4,364

(2,927)

(173)

During the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded product sales, net, as

follows:
Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
VIVITROL $ 97,659 $ 96,659 $ 111873 $ 102,071 $ 209,532 $ 198,730
ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO 78,870 80,077 86,049 82,409 164,919 162,486
LYBALVI 57,007 37,991 71,351 46,997 128,358 84,988
Total product sales, net $ 233,536 $ 214,727 $ 269,273 $ 231,477 $ 502,809 $ 446,204

Manufacturing_and Royalty Revenues

During the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded manufacturing and royalty

revenues from its collaboration arrangements as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024 Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 Six Months Ended June 30, 2024
Manufacturing Royalty Manufacturing Royalty Manufacturing Royalty
(In thousands) Revenue Revenue Total Revenue Revenue Total Revenue Revenue Total
Long-acting
INVEGA
products() $ — $ 62,673 $ 62673 $ — $ 78,739 $ 78,739 $ — $141412 $141,412
VUMERITY 12,124 19,130 31,254 9,863 25,371 35,234 21,987 44,501 66,488
Other 17,906 5,000 22,906 10,417 5,468 15,885 28,323 10,468 38,791
$ 30,030 $ 86,803 $116,833 $ 20,280 $109,578 $129,858 $ 50,310 $196,381 $ 246,691
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 Three Months Ended June 30, 2023 Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Manufacturing Royalty Manufacturing Royalty Manufacturing Royalty
(In thousands) Revenue Revenue Total Revenue Revenue Total Revenue Revenue Total
Long-acting
INVEGA
products $ — $ 13562 $13562 $ — $321,239 $321,239 $ — $334,801 $334,801
VUMERITY 12,649 16,225 28,874 10,369 21,926 32,295 23,018 38,151 61,169
Other 25,791 4,635 30,426 21,529 10,850 32,379 47,320 15,485 62,805

$ 38,440 $ 34,422 $72862 $ 31,898 $354,015 $385,913 $ 70,338 $388,437 $458,775

(1) “long-acting INVEGA products”: INVEGA SUSTENNA/XEPLION (paliperidone palmitate), INVEGA TRINZA/TREVICTA (paliperidone palmitate) &
INVEGA HAFYERA/BYANNLI (paliperidone palmitate).
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In November 2021, the Company received notice of partial termination of an exclusive license agreement with Janssen
Pharmaceutica N.V., a subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson (“Janssen Pharmaceutica”). Under this license agreement, the Company
provided Janssen Pharmaceutica with rights to, and know-how, training and technical assistance in respect of, the Company’s small
particle pharmaceutical compound technology, known as NanoCrystal technology, which was used to develop the long-acting INVEGA
products. When the partial termination became effective in February 2022, Janssen Pharmaceutica ceased paying royalties related to
sales of INVEGA SUSTENNA, INVEGA TRINZA and INVEGA HAFYERA. Accordingly, the Company ceased recognizing royalty revenue
related to sales of these products in February 2022. In April 2022, the Company commenced binding arbitration proceedings related to,
among other things, Janssen Pharmaceutica’s partial termination of this license agreement and Janssen Pharmaceutica’s royalty and
other obligations under the agreement. In May 2023, the arbitral tribunal (the “Tribunal”) in the arbitration proceedings issued a final
award (the “Final Award”) which concluded the arbitration proceedings. The Final Award provided, among other things, that the Company
was due back royalties and late-payment interest related to 2022 U.S. net sales of the long-acting INVEGA products which payments
were received from Janssen Pharmaceutica in the second quarter of 2023, and is entitled to 2023 and future royalty revenues from
Janssen Pharmaceutica related to net sales of INVEGA SUSTENNA through August 20, 2024, INVEGA TRINZA through the second
quarter of 2030 (but no later than May 2030 when the license agreement expires) and INVEGA HAFYERA through May 2030 (when the

license agreement expires).

Following issuance of the Final Award and receipt in June 2023 of back royalties of $195.4 million, inclusive of $8.1 million in late-
payment interest, the Company recognized royalty revenues related to the such back royalties and resumed recognizing royalty revenue

related to ongoing U.S. sales of the long-acting INVEGA products.
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Contract Assets

Contract assets include unbilled amounts related to the manufacture of a product that, once complete, will be sold under certain of
the Company’s manufacturing contracts. The amounts included in the contract assets table below are classified as “Current assets” in the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, as they relate to manufacturing processes that are completed in ten days to eight

weeks.

Total contract assets at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 were as follows:

(In thousands) Contract Assets Contract Assets

Contract assets at December 31, 2023 $ 706 % 706
Additions 1,229 4,721
Transferred to receivables, net (706) (1,935)

Contract assets at March 31, 2024 $ 1,229

Contract assets at June 30, 2024 $ 3,492

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities consist of contractual obligations related to deferred revenue. At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31,
2023, $3.3 million and $2.7 million of the contract liabilities, respectively, were classified as “Contract liabilities—short-term” in the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets and $1.2 no million ne and $2.1 million of the contract liabilities, respectively, were

classified as “Other long-term liabilities” in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Total contract liabilities at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 were as follows:

(In thousands) Contract Liabilities Contract Liabilities
Contract liabilities at December 31, 2023 $ 4775  $ 4,775
Additions — 34
Amounts recognized into revenue (208) (1,498)
Contract liabilities at March 31, 2024 $ 4,567
Contract liabilities at June 30, 2024 $ 3,311
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5. INVESTMENTS

Investments consisted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Unrealized

Gross Unrealized

Amortized Estimated
March 31, 2024 Cost Gains Fair Value
June 30, 2024 Cost Gains Fair Value

Short-term investments:
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. government and
agency debt securities $214,958 $ 227
Corporate debt securities 109,691 290

$ (77) $ (444) $214,664
109,631

$214,637 $

Estimated

$ (69) $ (340) $214,325
126,642

Total short-term
investments 324,649 517

324,295

340,967

Long-term investments:
Available-for-sale securities:

U.S. government and

29,158
31,804

42,602
43,655

agency debt securities 29,446 —
Corporate debt securities 32,104 —
61,550 —

60,962

86,257

Held-to-maturity securities:

1,820

145

62,782

86,402

Certificates of deposit 1,820 —
Total long-term

investments 63,370 —

Total investments $388,019 $ 517

$(232) $(1,227) $387,077

$428,308 $ 229

(804) $ 427,369

December 31, 2023

Short-term investments:
Available-for-sale securities:

U.S. government and
agency debt securities $199,708 $ 758

Corporate debt securities 112,055 703

Non-U.S. government debt

securities 4,004 =

$ (36) $ (611) $199,819 $199,708 $ 758 $ (36) $
112,207

3,996

(611) $ 199,819
112,207

3,996
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Total short-term
investments 315,767 1,461 (51) (1,155) 316,022 315,767 1,461 (51) (1,155) 316,022

Long-term investments:
Available-for-sale securities:

U.S. government and

agency debt securities 19,392 — (27) (315) 19,050 19,392 — 27) (315) 19,050
Corporate debt securities 19,306 — — (289) 19,017 19,306 — — (289) 19,017
38,698 _— (27)  (604) 38,067 38,698 —  (27) (604) 38,067
Held-to-maturity securities:

Certificates of deposit 1,820 — — — 1,820 1,820 — — — 1,820

Total long-term
investments 40,518 — (27) (604) 39,887 40,518 — 27) (604) 39,887
Total investments $356,285 $1,461 $ (78) $(1,759) $355,909 $356,285 $1,461 $ (78) $(1,759) $ 355,909

At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company reviewed its investment portfolio to assess whether the unrealized losses on its
available-for-sale investments were temporary. Investments with unrealized losses consisted of corporate debt securities and debt
securities issued and backed by U.S. agencies and the U.S. government. At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, 114 175 of the Company’s
248 272 investment securities were in an unrealized loss position and had an aggregate estimated fair value of $220.2 286.1 million. The
Company’s corporate debt securities investments have a minimum rating of A2 (Moody’s)/A (Standard and Poor’s). The primary reason
for the unrealized losses in the Company’s investment portfolio is that its investments are fixed-rate securities acquired in a rising interest
rate environment. In making the determination whether the decline in fair value of these securities was temporary, the Company
evaluated whether it intended to sell the security and whether it was more likely than not that the Company would be required to sell the
security before recovering its amortized cost basis. The Company has the intent and ability to hold these investments until recovery,
which may be at maturity.
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Realized gains and losses on the sales and maturities of investments, which were identified using the specific identification method,

were as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Proceeds from the sales and maturities of investments $ 82,488 $ 103,608 $ 138,947 $ 240,544
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Realized gains $ — $ — $ — 3 —

Realized losses $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —

The Company’s available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 had contractual maturities in the

following periods:

Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity Available-for-sale Held-to-maturity
Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
(In thousands) Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Within 1 year $ 223529 $ 222,712 $ 1820 $ 1,820 $ 244,162 $ 243,407 $ 145 $ 145
After 1 year through 5 years 162,670 162,545 — — 184,001 183,817 — —
Total $ 386,199 $ 385257 $ 1820 $ 1,820 $ 428,163 $ 427,224 $ 145 $ 145

6. FAIR VALUE

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis and indicates the fair value hierarchy and the valuation techniques that the Company utilized to determine such fair value:

March 31, June 30,
Level Level

(In thousands) 2024 Level 1 Level 2 3 2024 Level 1 Level 2 3
Assets:

U.S. government and agency debt

securities $243,822 $210,249 $ 33573 $ — $256,927 $224,306 $ 32,621 $ —

Corporate debt securities 141,435 — 141,435 — 170,297 — 170,297 —

Total $385,257 $210,249 $175008 $ — $427,224 $224,306 $202,918 $ —

December 31,

2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 34,316 % 34,316 $ —  $ —
U.S. government and agency debt securities 218,869 181,041 37,828 —
Corporate debt securities 131,224 — 131,224 —
Non-U.S. government debt securities 3,996 — 3,996 —
Total $ 388405 $ 215357 $ 173,048 $ —

The Company transfers its financial assets and liabilities, measured at fair value on a recurring basis, between the fair value

hierarchies at the end of each reporting period.

There were no transfers of any securities between levels during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. At March

31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company had no investments with fair values that were determined using Level 3 inputs.
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The Company’s investments classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy were initially valued at the transaction price and
subsequently valued, at the end of each reporting period, utilizing market-observable data. The market-observable data included
reportable trades, benchmark yields, credit spreads, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, current spot rates and other industry and
economic events. The Company validated the prices developed using the market-observable data by obtaining market values from other
pricing sources, analyzing pricing data in certain instances and confirming that the relevant markets are active.

The carrying amounts reflected in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, contract assets, other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses, sales discounts, allowances and
reserves, approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.
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The estimated fair value of the Company'’s long-term debt under its amended and restated credit agreement (such debt, the “2026
Term Loans”), which was based on quoted market price indications (Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy) and which may not be
representative of actual values that could have been, or will be, realized in the future, was $283.7 290.3 million and $291.0 million at
March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

7. INVENTORY

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory
consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31, June 30, December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Raw materials $ 76,563 $ 71,416 $ 76,117 $ 71,416
Work in process 72,517 68,843 69,093 68,843
Finished goods1) 49,289 46,147 49,521 46,147
Total inventory $ 198,369 $ 186,406 $ 194,731 $ 186,406

(1) At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had $34.2 37.8 million and $33.9 million, respectively, of finished goods inventory
located at its third-party warehouse and shipping service provider.

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:
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March 31, December 31, June 30, December 31,

(In thousands) 2024 @ 2023 (1) 2024 2023 @)
Land $ 957 $ 957 $ 957 $ 957
Building and improvements 133,126 132,735 131,819 132,735
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 243,376 237,728 242,823 237,728
Leasehold improvements 39,927 39,893 39,971 39,893
Construction in progress 45,679 45,791 49,354 45,791
Subtotal 463,065 457,104 464,924 457,104
Less: accumulated depreciation (238,475) (230,161) (242,186) (230,161)
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 224590 $ 226,943 % 222,738 % 226,943

(1) In connection with the sale of the Athlone Facility, $94.7 million and $92.2 million of the Company’s property, plant and equipment has been was classified as
“Assets held for sale” in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets sheet at March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2023,

respectively, and are was not included in these amounts.

9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of the following:

March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024
Weighted Gross Weighted Gross Net
Amortizable Life Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Amortizable Life Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(In thousands) (Years) Amount Amortization Amount (Years) Amount Amortization Amount
Goodwill $ 83,027 $ — $ 83,027 $ 83,027 $ — $ 83,027
Finite-lived
intangible assets:
Collaboration
agreements 12 $ 465590 $ (465,590) $ = 12 $ 465590 $  (465,590) $ =
Capitalized IP 11-13 118,160 (117,228) 932 11-13 118,160 (117,242) 918
Total $ 583,750 $ (582,818) $ 932 $ 583750 $ (582,832) $ 918

In connection with the sale of the Athlone Facility, the Company reviewed FASB ASC Topic 805Business Combinations and
determined that the Athlone Facility constitutes constituted a business and, accordingly, $2.0 million of the Company’s goodwill was
allocated to the Athlone Facility and iswas classified as “Assets held for sale” in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance
sheets sheet as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 and is not included in the amounts above. .
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10. LEASES

Future lease payments under non-cancelable leases at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 consisted of the following:

March 31, June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2024
2024 $ 7,610 $ 5,070
2025 10,227 10,217
2026 10,298 10,288
2027 9,508 9,507
2028 9,574 9,574
Thereafter 59,694 59,695
Total operating lease payments $ 106,911 $ 104,351
Less: imputed interest (26,899) (25,809)
Total operating lease liabilities $ 80,012 $ 78,542

At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the weighted average incremental borrowing rate and the weighted average remaining lease term
for all operating leases held by the Company were 4.34.2% and 8.3 7.9 years, respectively. Cash paid for lease liabilities was $2.5 million
during the three months ended March 31, 2024, as compared to and $2.8 5.0 million during the three and six months ended March 31,
2023. June 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to $2.5 million and $5.3 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023,
respectively. The Company recorded operating lease expense from continuing operations of $1.8 million and $3.6 million during the three
and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to $2.8 million and $5.6 million during the three and six
months ended March 31, 2023.

June 30, 2023, respectively.

On November 13, 2023, in connection with the Separation, Alkermes US and Mural US entered into an assignment and assumption
of lease agreement (the “Assignment”), pursuant to which Alkermes US assigned to Mural US an operating lease for approximately
180,000 square feet of corporate office space, administrative areas and laboratories located at 852 Winter Street in Waltham,
Massachusetts (the “852 Winter Street Lease”). Under the terms of the Assignment, Mural US assumed all of Alkermes US’ obligations
under the 852 Winter Street Lease. In accordance with FASB ASC 842, Leases, as the Company can no longer access or direct the use
of the asset following the Assignment, the 852 Winter Street Lease no longer meets the definition of a lease for the Company. On
November 15, 2023, the effective date of the Assignment, the Company reduced its right-of-use asset and lease liability by $14.5 million
and $15.4 million, respectively, in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

11. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following:
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March 31, December 31, June 30, December 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Accounts payable $ 77,052 $ 65,649 $ 104,747 $ 65,649
Accrued compensation 47,208 83,107 49,390 83,107
Accrued other 81,594 91,805 85,637 91,805
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 205854 % 240,561 $ 239,774 $ 240,561

A summary of the Company’s current provision for sales discounts, allowances and reserves was as follows:

March 31, December 31, June 30, December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Medicaid rebates $ 196,773 $ 213,845 $ 212,995 $ 213,845
Product discounts 14,685 15,121 16,207 15,121
Medicare Part D 15,665 20,569 18,246 20,569
Other 13,754 14,106 16,009 14,106
Total accrued sales discounts, allowances and reserves $ 240877 $ 263641 $ 263,457 $ 263,641

Included in accounts payable was approximately $42.550.3 million and $34.5 million of amounts payable related to state U.S.
Medicaid rebates as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

1812. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
2026 Term Loans, due March 12, 2026 $ 289,459 $ 290,730
Less: current portion (3,000) (3,000)
Long-term debt $ 286,459 $ 287,730
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12. LONG-TERM DEBT
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Long-term debt consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
2026 Term Loans, due March 12, 2026 $ 290,095 $ 290,730
Less: current portion (3,000) (3,000)
Long-term debt $ 287,095 $ 287,730

The 2026 Term Loans mature on March 12, 2026. The 2026 Term Loans bear interest at the Secured Overnight Financing Rate plus

a credit spread adjustment applicable to the interest period and an applicable margin of 2.50% with a floor of 0.5%.

The 2026 Term Loans have an incremental facility capacity in the amount of $175.0 million plus additional amounts, provided that the
Company meets certain conditions, including a specified leverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with its debt covenants at
March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024.

13. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

In February 2024, the Company announced approval by its board of directors of a new share repurchase program authorizing the
Company to repurchase its ordinary shares in an aggregate amount of up to $400.0 million (exclusive of any fees, commissions or other
expenses related to such repurchases) from time to time (the “Repurchase Program”). The specific timing and amounts of repurchases
under the Repurchase Program will depend on a variety of factors, including but not limited to ongoing assessments of the Company’s
needs, alternative investment opportunities, the market price of its ordinary shares and general market conditions. The Repurchase
Program has no set expiration date and may be suspended or discontinued at any time.

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company repurchased approximately 3.5 million of its ordinary shares under the
Repurchase Program at an average purchase price of $24.22 per share, resulting in a total cost of $84.7 million. All ordinary shares
repurchased were returned to treasury. As of June 30, 2024, the remaining amount authorized under the Repurchase Program was
$315.3 million.

14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The following table presents share-based compensation expense from continuing and discontinued operations included in the

accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss): income:

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cost of goods manufactured and sold $ 2906 $ 2682 $ (279) $ 2,921 $ 2,627 $ 5,603
Research and development 10,278 5,764 6,021 6,687 16,299 12,451
Selling, general and administrative 19,571 12,577 14,859 17,579 34,430 30,156
Share-based compensation expense from continuing operations 32,755 21,023 20,601 27,187 53,356 48,210
Cost of goods manufactured and sold — — — — — —
Research and development — 1,143 — 819 — 1,962
Selling, general and administrative — 477 — 498 — 975
Share-based compensation expense from discontinued operations = 1,620 — 1,317 — 2,937
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Total share-based compensation expense $32,755 $22,643 $20,601 $28504 $53,356 $ 51,147

At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, $3.3 million and $3.2 million, respectively, of share-based compensation

expense was capitalized and recorded as “Inventory” in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

In February 2021, the compensation committee of the Company’s board of directors approved the grant of performance-based
restricted stock units unit awards to employees of the Company at the Senior Vice President level and above, in each case subject to
vesting based on the achievement of certain financial, commercial and R&D performance criteria to be assessed over a performance
period of three years, from the date of the grant, and subject, atfollowing the end of such three-year performance period, to upward or
downward adjustment based on a market condition tied to relative share price performance over the three-year performance period. On
February 8, 2024, the compensation committee of the Company'’s board of directors determined that the Company partially achieved the
financial performance criteria. This was considered a modification in accordance with FASB ASC 718, Compensation—Stock
Compensation (“Topic 718") and resulted in a modification charge of approximately $6.8 million. On February 8, 2024, the compensation
committee of the Company’s board of directors also determined that the Company achieved the pipeline performance criteria for these
awards, resulting in a $2.6 million incremental share-based compensation expense, as it was deemed such pipeline performance criteria

had been met. The share-based compensation expense related to these achievements was recognized in the first quarter of 2024.
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14.15. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER ORDINARY SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per ordinary share is calculated based upon net income (loss) available to holders of ordinary shares divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding. For the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share, the
Company utilizes the treasury stock method and adjusts the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effect of

outstanding ordinary share equivalents such as stock options and restricted stock unit awards.

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 (1 2024 2023 (1 2024 2023
Numerator:

Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 38,948 $ (12,050)

Net income from continuing operations $ 94,658 $279,101 $ 133,606 $ 267,051

Net loss from discontinued operations (2,120) (29,795) (3,300) (42,036) (5,420) (71,831)

Net income (loss) $ 36,828 $ (41,845)
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Net income $ 91,358 $237,065 $128,186 $ 195,220

Denominator:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding 167,984 165,085 168,321 166,279 168,152 165,686
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options 1,734 — 839 1,896 1,284 1,634
Restricted stock unit awards 3,263 — 1,817 3,378 2,524 3,427
Dilutive ordinary share equivalents 4,997 — 2,656 5,274 3,808 5,061

Shares used in calculating diluted earnings (loss) per
ordinary share 172,981 165,085 170,977 171,553 171,960 170,747

(1) Prior period amounts have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the effects of the Separation.

The following potential ordinary share equivalents were not included in the net earnings (loss) per ordinary share calculation because

the effect would have been anti-dilutive:

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Stock options 11,152 13,007 14,049 12,138 12,339 12,288
Restricted stock unit awards 1,776 6,093 2,765 1,180 2,507 3,024
Total 12,928 19,100 16,814 13,318 14,846 15,312

15.16. INCOME TAXES

The Company recognizes income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are recognized for differences
between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities at enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date. In determining future taxable income, the Company is responsible for assumptions that it utilizes, including
the amount of Irish and non-Irish pre-tax operating income, the reversal of temporary differences and the implementation of feasible and
prudent tax planning strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable income and are

consistent with the plans and estimates that the Company uses to manage the underlying business.

The Company recorded income tax provisions of $8.022.1 million and $0.7 30.0 million during the three and six months ended March
31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, and 2023, of $2.7 million and $3.4 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023,
respectively. The income tax provision provisions during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 was June 30, 2024 were
primarily attributable to taxes on income earned in Ireland. The income tax provision provisions during the three and six months ended
March 31, 2023 was June 30, 2023 were primarily due to U.S. federal and state taxes on income earned in the U.S. As of June 30, 2023,
the Company maintained a valuation allowance against its Irish deferred tax assets and did not record an income tax provision in
connection with the tax impact utilization of employee equity activity. its net operating losses to offset the income earned in Ireland during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.
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The Company’s effective tax rate during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 was 17.0 18.3%, which exceeds
the Irish
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statutory tax rate of 12.5%, primarily due to non-deductible expenses and income that was taxable at rates higher than the Irish statutory
tax rate. The income tax provision recorded as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 took into account the estimated impact of the global
minimum tax rate component, known as Pillar Two, of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development's two-pillar plan on

global tax reform, which became effective in Ireland as of January 1, 2024 for
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multinational companies with consolidated annual revenue of at least €750.0 million. The Company does not expect Pillar Two to have a

material impact for the current year.

16.17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Litigation

From time to time, the Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. On a quarterly
basis, the Company reviews the status of each significant matter and assesses its potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from
any claim, asserted or unasserted, or legal proceeding is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, the
Company would accrue a liability for the estimated loss. Because of uncertainties related to claims and litigation, accruals are based on
the Company’s best estimates, utilizing all available information. On a periodic basis, as additional information becomes available, or
based on specific events such as the outcome of litigation or settlement of claims, the Company may reassess the potential liability
related to these matters and may revise these estimates, which could result in material adverse adjustments to the Company’s operating
results. At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, there were no potential material losses from claims, asserted or unasserted, or legal

proceedings that the Company determined were probable of occurring.

INVEGA SUSTENNA ANDA Litigation

Janssen Pharmaceutica and Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. initiated patent infringement lawsuits in the U.S. District Court for the

District of New Jersey (the “NJ District Court”) in January 2018 against Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (“Teva”) and Teva
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Pharmaceuticals Industries, Ltd. (“Teva PI”) (such lawsuit, the “Teva Lawsuit”), in August 2019 against Mylan Laboratories Limited (“Mylan
Labs”) and other Mylan entities (the “Mylan Lawsuit”), in December 2019 against Pharmascience, Inc. (“Pharmascience”), Mallinckrodt
plc, and SpecGX LLC (the “Pharmascience Lawsuit”), and in February 2022 against Accord Healthcare, Inc., Accord Healthcare, Ltd. and
Intas Pharmaceuticals, Ltd (“Accord” and such lawsuit, the “Accord Lawsuit”), and in June 2024 against Qilu Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
and Qilu Pharma, Inc. (together, “Qilu”), and in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware (the “DE District Court”) in December
2021 against Tolmar Holding, Inc., Tolmar Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Tolmar Therapeutics, Inc., and Tolmar, Inc. (“Tolmar” and such lawsuit,
the “Tolmar Lawsuit”), following the respective filings by each of Teva, Mylan Labs, Pharmascience, Accord, Qilu and Tolmar of an
Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”) seeking approval from the FDA to market a generic version of INVEGA SUSTENNA before
the expiration of U.S. Patent No. 9,439,906. In October 2021, the NJ District Court entered a judgment in favor of the Janssen entities in
the Teva Lawsuit. In December 2021, the NJ District Court entered a judgment in favor of the Janssen entities in the Mylan Lawsuit,
based on the parties’ prior stipulation to be bound by the judgment in the Teva Lawsuit. The Teva entities and Mylan Labs each filed
notices of appeal of their respective judgments with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (“Federal Circuit Court”), which were
consolidated in January 2022 (the “Teva Appeal”). The Pharmascience Lawsuit and the Accord Lawsuit were administratively terminated
in July 2022, pending the outcome of the Teva Appeal. The Company is notIn March 2024, the DE District Court issued a party to

any decision in the Tolmar Lawsuit, following which both parties filed notices of these proceedings. appeal with the Federal Circuit Court.
On April 1, 2024, the Federal Circuit Court issued a decision in the Teva Appeal, affirming in part and vacating and remanding in part the
NJ District Court’s judgment. A trial was held in the Tolmar Lawsuit in October 2023 judgment, and on March 13, 2024 June 14, 2024,
opening briefs were filed with the DE NJ District Court issued for the remanded matters. The Company is not a decision, following which a

notice party to any of appeal and certain post-trial motions were filed in April 2024. these proceedings.

INVEGA TRINZA ANDA Litigation

In September 2020, Janssen Pharmaceutica, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Janssen Research & Development, LLC initiated a
patent infringement lawsuit in the NJ District Court against Mylan Labs, Mylan, and Mylan Institutional LLC following the filing by Mylan
Labs of an ANDA seeking approval from the FDA to market a generic version of INVEGA TRINZA before the expiration of U.S. Patent No.
10,143,693 (the 693 Patent”). Requested judicial remedies include recovery of litigation costs and injunctive relief. In May 2023, the NJ
District Court issued an opinion in favor of the Janssen entities on the issues of infringement and validity of the '693 Patent and the Mylan

entities filed a notice of appeal of the decision. The Company is not a party to this proceeding.
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VUMERITY ANDA Litigation

In July 2023, Biogen Inc., Biogen Swiss Manufacturing GmbH and Alkermes Pharma Ireland Limited filed a patent infringement
lawsuit in the DE District Court against Zydus Worldwide DMCC, Zydus Pharmaceuticals (USA) Inc. and Zydus Lifesciences Limited
(collectively, “Zydus”) following the filing by Zydus of an ANDA seeking approval from the FDA to engage in the commercial manufacture,
use or sale of a generic version of VUMERITY (diroximel fumarate) delayed-release capsules for oral use, 231 mg, before expiration of
the Company’s U.S. Patent Nos. 8,669,281;
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9,090,558; and 10,080,733. The filing of the lawsuit triggered a stay of FDA approval of the ANDA for up to 30 months in accordance with
the U.S. Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Act”). A bench trial is scheduled to begin
on July 28, 2025.

Government Matters

The Company has received a subpoena and civil investigative demands from U.S. state and federal governmental authorities for
documents related to VIVITROL. The Company is cooperating with the investigations.

Product Liability and Other Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in litigation and other legal proceedings incidental to its normal business activities, including a product
liability cases case alleging that the FDA-approved VIVITROL labeling was inadequate and that VIVITROL caused the users of the
productindividual to suffer from opioid overdose and death. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself in these matters.

In addition, in January 2023, Acorda filed a petition with the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “NY
Southern District Court”) asking the court to confirm in part and modify in part the final arbitral award rendered by an arbitration panel in
October 2022 and, as part of the requested modification, seeking an additional approximately $66.0 million in damages. In August 2023,
the NY Southern District Court confirmed the final arbitral award and declined to modify the final award to increase the damages awarded
thereunder. In September 2023, Acorda filed a notice of appeal of the NY Southern District Court decision to the Federal Circuit Court,
and the Company filed a motion to transfer the appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. In October 2023, Acorda filed
an opposition to such motion. On January 18, 2024, January 2024, the Federal Circuit Court denied without prejudice the Company’s
motion to transfer the appeal and instructed the parties to brief the jurisdictional question as part of the merits appeal. Briefing in the
Federal Circuit Court is complete, and the matter is pending decision.

While the outcome of any of these proceedings cannot be accurately predicted, the Company does not believe the ultimate resolution

of any of these existing proceedings would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business or financial condition.

Guarantees

In connection with the Separation, the Company entered into the Assignment related an assignment and assumption of lease
agreement (the “Assignment”) pursuant to the which Alkermes US assigned to Mural US an operating lease for approximately 180,000
square feet of corporate office space, administrative areas and laboratories located at 852 Winter Street Lease, in Waltham,
Massachusetts (the “852 Winter Street Lease”), which is described in more detail in Note 10, Leases in the “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements” in the Annual Report. Although the Assignment transferred all of the rights, title and interest in, to and under the

852 Winter Street Lease were transferred to Mural US as of November 15, 2023, pursuant to the Assignment, the Company ratified and
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reaffirmed for the remainder of the lease term its guarantor obligations in respect of the lease under that certain Guaranty dated as of May
16, 2014 related to the 852 Winter Street Lease. . This lease expires in 2026 and includes a tenant option to extend the term for an
additional five-year period. Upon completion of the Separation, the Assignment was accounted for as a termination of the original lease
and the Company de-recognized the right-of-use asset and lease liability related to the 852 Winter Street Lease. At March 31, 2024 June

30, 2024, the fair value of the guarantee was not material to the Company.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and
related notes beginning on page 5 in this Form 10-Q, and “Part II, Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations” and the audited financial statements and notes thereto accompanying our Annual Report.
Executive Summary

Net income from continuing operations was $38.9 million $94.7 million and $133.6 million or $0.23 $0.56 and 0.79 per ordinary share
—basic and $0.55 and $0.78 per ordinary share—diluted, for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024,
respectively, compared to net lossincome from continuing operations of $12.1 million $279.1 million and $267.1 million or $0.07 $1.68 and
$1.61 per ordinary share—basic and $1.63 and $1.56 per ordinary share—diluted, for the three and six months ended March 31,

2023. June 30, 2023, respectively.

The decreases in net income from continuing operations during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as
compared to the net loss from continuing operations during the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, was were
primarily due to an increase decreases of $44.0 million $256.1 million and $212.1 million, respectively, in manufacturing and royalty
revenues, an increase partially offset by increases of $18.8 million $37.8 million and $56.6 million, respectively, in product sales, net and a

decrease decreases of $7.7 million $46.9 million and $38.4 million, respectively, in operating expenses.

The decreases in manufacturing and royalty revenues during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the
three and six months ended June 30, 2023, were primarily due to the receipt in June 2023 of back royalties and interest in respect of
2022 U.S. sales of the long-acting INVEGA products, following the successful outcome of the arbitration proceedings related to such
products. The decreases in operating expenses during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the three and six
months ended June 30, 2023, were primarily due to decreases of $27.6 million and $15.7 million, respectively, in selling, general and
administrative expenses, $8.6 million and $4.7 million, respectively, in research and development expenses and $8.9 million and $16.6
million, respectively, in amortization of acquired intangible assets, partially offset by an increase of $11.9 million in selling, general and

administrative expense, and an increase of $6.4 million in R&D expense. assets.
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These items are discussed in greater detail later in the “Results of Operations” section in this “Part |, ltem 2—Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Form 10-Q.
Business Update

On May 1, 2024, we completed the previously announced sale of the Athlone Facility to Novo. We also entered into subcontracting
arrangements with Novo to continue certain development and manufacturing activities currently performed at the Athlone Facility for a
period of time after the closing of the transaction; these activities may continue through the end of 2025.

Products

Marketed Products

The key marketed products discussed below have generated, or are expected to generate, significant revenues for us. See the
descriptions of the marketed products below and “Part I, ltem 1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report for important factors that could
adversely affect our marketed products. See the “Patents and Proprietary Rights” section in “Part I, tem 1—Business” in our Annual

Report for information with respect to the IP protection for these marketed products.
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The following provides summary information regarding our proprietary products that we commercialize:

Proprietary Products

Product Indication(s) Territory
l#.0000950170-24-085873img77520285_1.jpg Initiation or re-initiation of u.sS.
ARISTADA for the treatment
of

Schizophrenia
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Schizophrenia u.S.
|#.10000950170-24-085873img77520285_2.jpg Schizophrenia; u.sS.

Bipolar | disorder
[#.10000950170-24-085873img77520285_3.jpg Alcohol dependence; u.sS.

Opioid dependence
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The following provides summary information regarding certain key third-party products using our proprietary technologies under

license and our key licensed product, that are commercialized by our licensees:

Key Third-Party Products Using Our Proprietary Technologies

Product Indication(s) Licensee

Licensed Territory
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INVEGA SUSTENNA / XEPLION INVEGA SUSTENNA: Janssen Pharmaceutica  Worldwide

Schizophrenia; (together with Janssen
Schizoaffective Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
disorder Janssen International

and their affiliates
XEPLION: “Janssen”)

Schizophrenia

INVEGA TRINZA / TREVICTA Schizophrenia Janssen Worldwide

INVEGA HAFYERA / BYANNLI Schizophrenia Janssen Worldwide

Our Key Licensed Product

Product Indication(s) Licensee Licensed Territory

VUMERITY Multiple sclerosis Biogen Worldwide
Proprietary Products

We have developed and now commercialize products designed to help address the unmet needs of people living with opioid
dependence, alcohol dependence, schizophrenia and bipolar | disorder. See the “Patents and Proprietary Rights” section in “Part |, ltem 1
—Business” in our Annual Report for information with respect to the IP protection for our proprietary products.

ARISTADA

ARISTADA (aripiprazole lauroxil) is an extended-release intramuscular injectable suspension approved in the U.S. for the treatment
of schizophrenia. ARISTADA utilizes our proprietary LinkeRx technology. ARISTADA is a prodrug; once in the body, ARISTADA is likely
converted by enzyme-mediated hydrolysis to N-hydroxymethyl aripiprazole, which is then hydrolyzed to aripiprazole. ARISTADA is
available in four dose strengths with once-monthly dosing options (441 mg, 662 mg and 882 mg), a six-week dosing option (882 mg) and
a two-month dosing option (1064 mg). ARISTADA is packaged in a ready-to-use, pre-filled syringe product format. We exclusively
manufacture and commercialize ARISTADA in the U.S.

In April 2024, U.S. Patent No. 11,969,469 relating to ARISTADA was granted. This patent has claims to pharmaceutical
compositions that confer long-term stability of the ARISTADA formulation and expires in 2033.
ARISTADA INITIO

ARISTADA INITIO (aripiprazole lauroxil) leverages our proprietary LinkeRx and NanoCrystal technologies and provides an extended-
release formulation of aripiprazole lauroxil in a smaller particle size compared to ARISTADA, thereby enabling faster dissolution and more
rapid achievement of relevant levels of aripiprazole in the body. ARISTADA INITIO, combined with a single 30 mg dose of oral
aripiprazole, is indicated for the initiation of ARISTADA when used for the treatment of schizophrenia in adults. The first ARISTADA dose
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may be administered on the same day as the ARISTADA INITIO regimen or up to 10 days thereafter. We exclusively manufacture and
commercialize ARISTADA INITIO in the U.S.

2526

LYBALVI

LYBALVI (olanzapine and samidorphan) is a once-daily, oral atypical antipsychotic drug approved in the U.S. for the treatment of
adults with schizophrenia and for the treatment of adults with bipolar | disorder, as a maintenance monotherapy or for the acute treatment
of manic or mixed episodes, as monotherapy or an adjunct to lithium or valproate. LYBALVI is a combination of olanzapine, an atypical
antipsychotic, and samidorphan, an opioid antagonist, in a single bilayer tablet. LYBALVI is available in fixed dosage strengths composed
of 10 mg of samidorphan and 5 mg, 10 mg, 15 mg or 20 mg of olanzapine. We exclusively manufacture and commercialize LYBALVI in
the U.S.

VIVITROL

VIVITROL (naltrexone for extended-release injectable suspension) is a once-monthly, non-narcotic, injectable medication approved
in the U.S. for the treatment of alcohol dependence in patients able to abstain from alcohol in an outpatient setting prior to initiation of
treatment with VIVITROL and for the prevention of relapse to opioid dependence, following opioid detoxification. VIVITROL uses our
polymer-based microsphere injectable extended-release technology to deliver and maintain therapeutic medication levels in the body

through one intramuscular injection every four weeks. We exclusively manufacture and commercialize VIVITROL in the U.S.
Products Using Our Proprietary Technologies and Licensed Product

We have licensed products to third parties for commercialization and have licensed our proprietary technologies to third parties to
enable them to develop, commercialize and/or manufacture products. See the “Proprietary Technology Platforms” and “Patents and
Proprietary Rights” sections in “Part |, tem 1—Business” in our Annual Report for information with respect to our proprietary technologies
and the IP protection for these products. We receive royalties and/or manufacturing and other revenues from the commercialization of

these products under our collaborative arrangements with these third parties. Such arrangements, among others, include the following:
Products Using Our Proprietary Technologies
INVEGA SUSTENNA/XEPLION, INVEGA TRINZA/TREVICTA and INVEGA HAFYERA/BYANNLI

The long-acting INVEGA products are long-acting atypical antipsychotics owned and commercialized worldwide by Janssen. We

believe that these products incorporate our technologies.
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INVEGA SUSTENNA is approved in the U.S. for the treatment of schizophrenia and for the treatment of schizoaffective disorder as
either a monotherapy or adjunctive therapy. Paliperidone palmitate extended-release injectable suspension is approved in the European
Union (“EU”) and other countries outside of the U.S. for the treatment of schizophrenia and is marketed and sold under the trade name
XEPLION. INVEGA SUSTENNA/XEPLION is manufactured by Janssen.

INVEGA TRINZA is approved in the U.S. for the treatment of schizophrenia in patients who have been adequately treated with
INVEGA SUSTENNA for at least four months. TREVICTA is approved in the EU for the maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in adult
patients who are clinically stable on XEPLION. INVEGA TRINZA/TREVICTA is manufactured by Janssen.

INVEGA HAFYERA is approved in the U.S. for the treatment of schizophrenia in patients who have been adequately treated with
INVEGA SUSTENNA for at least four months or INVEGA TRINZA for at least three months. BYANNLI is approved in the EU for the
maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in adult patients who are clinically stable on XEPLION or TREVICTA. INVEGA
HAFYERA/BYANNLI is manufactured by Janssen.

For a discussion of legal proceedings related to certain of the patents covering INVEGA SUSTENNA and INVEGA TRINZA, see Note
16,17, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities in the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-Q and for
information about risks relating to such legal proceedings, see “Part I, Item 1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report and specifically the
section entitled “We or our licensees may face claims against IP rights covering our products and competition from generic drug
manufacturers.”

2627

Licensed Product
VUMERITY

VUMERITY (diroximel fumarate) is a novel, oral fumarate with a distinct chemical structure that is approved in the U.S., the EU and
several other countries for the treatment of relapsing forms of multiple sclerosis in adults, including clinically isolated syndrome, relapsing-
remitting disease and active secondary progressive disease.

Under our license and collaboration agreement with Biogen, Biogen holds the exclusive, worldwide license to develop and
commercialize VUMERITY. For more information about the license and collaboration agreement with Biogen, see the “Collaborative
Arrangements—Biogen” section in “Part I, ltem 1—Business” in our Annual Report. For a discussion of legal proceedings related to
certain of the patents covering VUMERITY, see Note 16, 17, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities in the “Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-Q and for information about risks relating to such legal proceedings, see “Part I, Item
1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report and specifically the section entitled “We or our licensees may face claims against IP rights

covering our products and competition from generic drug manufacturers.”
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Key Development Program

Our R&D is focused on the development of innovative medicines in the field of neuroscience that are designed to address unmet
patient needs. As part of our ongoing R&D efforts, we have devoted, and will continue to devote, significant resources to conducting
preclinical work and clinical studies to advance the development of new pharmaceutical products. The discussion below highlights our
current key development program. Drug development involves a high degree of risk and investment, and the status, timing and scope of
our development programs are subject to change. Important factors that could adversely affect our drug development efforts are
discussed in “Part I, ltem 1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report. See the “Patents and Proprietary Rights” section in “Part I, ltem 1—

Business” in our Annual Report for information with respect to the IP protection for our key development program.
ALKS 2680

ALKS 2680 is a novel, investigational, oral, selective orexin 2 receptor (“OX2R”) agonist in development as a once-daily treatment for
narcolepsy. Orexin neuropeptides are important regulators of the sleep/wake cycle through OX2R activation, and loss of orexinergic
neurons in the brain is associated with excessive daytime sleepiness and cataplexy in narcolepsy. ALKS 2680 was designed to address
the underlying pathology of narcolepsy with the goal of improving duration of wakefulness and providing cataplexy control. Once-daily oral
administration of ALKS 2680 was evaluated in a phase 1 study in healthy volunteers and patients with narcolepsy type 1, narcolepsy type
2 and idiopathic hypersomnia and is currently being evaluated in aour Vibrance-1 phase 2 study in patients with narcolepsy type 1. We
expect to initiate Vibrance-2, a planned phase 2 study in patients with narcolepsy type 2, in the second halfthird quarter of 2024.
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Results of Operations

As a result of the Separation, the historical results of our oncology business have been reflected as discontinued operations in our
condensed consolidated financial statements through the Separation Date. Prior period results of operations and balance sheet

information have been recast to reflect this presentation.

Product Sales, Net

Our product sales, net, consist of sales of VIVITROL, ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO, and LYBALVI, primarily to wholesalers,
specialty distributors and pharmacies. The following table presents the adjustments deducted from product sales, gross to arrive at
product sales, net, for sales of VIVITROL, ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO, and LYBALVI during the three and six months ended March
31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In millions, except % of % of % of % of % of % of
for % of Sales) 2024 Sales 2023 Sales 2024 Sales 2023 Sales 2024 Sales 2023 Sales
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Product sales,
gross $ 467.3 100.0 % $ 433.9 100.0 % $ 533.0 100.0 % $ 469.8 100.0 % $1,000.3 100.0 % $ 903.7 100.0 %
Adjustments
to product
sales, gross:
Medicaid
rebates (105.0) (225)%  (97.9) (226)% (122.6) (23.0)% (1124) (23.9)%  (227.6) (22.8)% (210.3) (23.3)%
Chargebacks ~ (50.5) (10.8)%  (45.4) (105)% (56.5) (10.6)%  (46.9) (10.0)%  (107.0) (10.7)%  (92.5) (10.2)%

Product
discounts (34.3) (7.3)% (345) (8.0)% (38.4) (7.2)% (348) (7.4)% (727)  (7.3)%  (69.1) (7.6)%
Medicare
Part D (7.4) (3.7)% (189) (44)% (21.5) (4.0)% (182) (3.9)% (389) (39)% (37.1) (41)%
Other (26.6) (.7)% (225) (BL)% (247) (46)% (259) (55)% (51.3) (5.1)%  (485) (54)%
Total

adjustments  (233.8) (50.0)% (219.2) (50.5)% (263.7) (49.5)% (238.3) (50.7)%  (497.5) (49.8)% (457.5) (50.6)%

Product
sales, net $ 233.5 50.0 o $ 214.7 495 04$ 269.3 50.5 o5 $ 2315 493 o $ 502.8 50.2 o $ 446.2 49.4 o

VIVITROL product sales, gross, increased by 2% 9% and 6% during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024,
respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, primarily due to increases of 6% and 2%,
respectively, in the number of units sold and a 3.2% increase in the selling price that went into effect in January 2024, partially offset by a
1% decrease in the number of units sold. 2024. ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO product sales, gross, were relatively flatincreased by
4% and 2% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30,
2023. The increase in ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO during the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as compared to
the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, was due to an increase of 2% in the number of units sold and a 3.0% increase in
the selling price that went into effect in January 2024. The increase in ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO during the six months ended
June 30, 2024, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023, was primarily due to the January 2024 partially offset by a 3%
decreaseincrease in the number of units sold. selling price. LYBALVI product sales, gross, increased by 57% and 56% during the three
and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June
30, 2023, primarily due to a 50% increase increases of 52% and 51%, respectively, in the number of units sold and 3% and 3.8%
increases in the selling price of 3.8% and 3.0% that went into effect in January 2024 and July 2023, and January 2024, respectively.

The following table compares product sales, net earned during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and
2023:

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,

(In millions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
VIVITROL $ 977 $ 967 $ 10 $ 1119 $ 1020 $ 99 $ 2095 $ 1987 $ 108
ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO 78.9 80.1 (1.2) 86.0 82.4 3.6 164.9 162.5 2.4
LYBALVI 57.0 37.9 19.1 71.4 47.1 24.3 128.4 85.0 43.4
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Product sales, net $ 2335 $ 2147 $ 189 $ 2693 $ 2315 $ 378 $ 502.8 $ 4462 $ 56.6
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Manufacturing and Royalty Revenues

The following table compares manufacturing and royalty revenues earned during the three and six months ended March 31,
2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In millions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change

Manufacturing and royalty

revenues:

Long-acting INVEGA products $ 62.7 $13.6 $ 491 $ 787 $321.2 $(2425) $1414 $334.8 $(193.4)

VUMERITY 31.3 28.9 2.4 35.2 32.3 2.9 66.5 61.2 5.3
Other 22.8 30.4 (76) 16.0 324 (16.4) 38.8 62.8 (24.0)
Manufacturing and royalty
revenues $116.8 $72.9 $ 439 $129.9 $385.9 $(256.0) $246.7 $458.8 $(212.1)
28

Our agreements with Janssen related to the long-acting INVEGA products provide for tiered royalty payments, which consist of a
patent royalty and a know-how royalty, both of which are determined on a country-by-country basis. The patent royalty, which equals
1.5% of net sales, is payable in each country until the expiration of the last of the patents with valid claims applicable to the product in
such country. The know-how royalty is a tiered royalty of 3.5% on calendar year net sales up to $250 million; 5.5% on calendar year net
sales of between $250 million and $500 million; and 7.5% on calendar year net sales exceeding $500 million. The know-how royalty rate
resets to 3.5% at the beginning of each calendar year and is payable until 15 years from the first commercial sale of a product in each
individual country, subject to expiry of the agreement. For more information about the license agreement with Janssen in respect of the
long-acting INVEGA products, see the “Collaborative Arrangements—Janssen” section in “Part I, Item 1—Business” in our Annual Report.
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In November 2021, we received notice from Janssen of partial termination of our license agreement under which we provided
Janssen with rights to, and know-how, training and technical assistance in respect of, our NanoCrystal technology, which was used to
develop the long-acting INVEGA products. The partial termination became effective in February 2022, at which time Janssen ceased
paying royalties related to sales of INVEGA SUSTENNA, INVEGA TRINZA and INVEGA HAFYERA. Accordingly, we ceased recognizing
royalty revenue related to sales of these products in February 2022. In April 2022, we commenced binding arbitration proceedings related
to, among other things, Janssen’s partial termination of this license agreement and Janssen'’s royalty and other obligations under the
agreement. In May 2023, the Tribunal issued the Final Award, which concluded the arbitration proceedings. The Final Award provided
that we were due back royalties and late-payment interest related to 2022 U.S. net sales of the long-acting INVEGA products, which we
received from Janssen in the second quarter of 2023, and are entitled to 2023 and future royalty revenues from Janssen related to net
sales of INVEGA SUSTENNA through August 20, 2024, INVEGA TRINZA through the second quarter of 2030 (but no later than May
2030 when the license agreement expires) and INVEGA HAFYERA through May 2030 (when the license agreement expires).

Following issuance of the Final Award, we recognized The decreases in royalty revenues related to the back royalties and resumed
recognizing royalty revenue related to U.S. sales of the long-acting INVEGA products. Royalty revenues related to the long-acting
INVEGA products increased by $49.1 million during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as compared to the
three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, were primarily due to the resultreceipt in June 2023 of back royalties of
$195.4 million, inclusive of $8.1 million in late-payment interest, related to 2022 U.S. sales of the long-acting INVEGA products following
the successful outcome of the arbitration proceedings described above. The decreases were partially offset by increases in the second
quarter of 2023 and the resumption of recognizing royalty revenue on U.S.related to worldwide net sales of the long-acting INVEGA
products. During the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, Janssen’s worldwide net sales of the long-acting
INVEGA products were $1,056.0 million $1,054.0 million and $2,110.0 million, respectively, as compared to $1,044.0 million $1,031.0
million and $2,075.0 million during the three and six months ended March 31, 2023. June 30, 2023, respectively.

We expect royalty revenues from net sales of the long-acting INVEGA products to decrease in the near-term, as the royalty revenues
related to net sales of INVEGA SUSTENNA are expected to end on August 20, 2024, which we anticipate will have a significant impact on
our INVEGA SUSTENNA royalty revenues during 2024. In addition, each of INVEGA SUSTENNA and INVEGA TRINZA are currently
subject to Paragraph IV litigation in response to companies seeking to market generic versions of such products. Increased competition
from new products or generic versions of these products may lead to reduced unit sales of such products and increased pricing pressure.
For a discussion of these legal proceedings, see Note 16, 17, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities in the “Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-Q, and for information about risks relating to these legal proceedings, see “Part |,
Item 1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report, and specifically the section entitled “We or our licensees may face claims against IP rights

covering our products and competition from generic drug manufacturers.”
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We receive a 15% royalty on worldwide net sales of VUMERITY manufactured and packaged by us, subject to increases in such
royalty rate for VUMERITY manufactured and/or packaged by Biogen or its designees, in the period that the end-market sales of
VUMERITY occur. We also recognize manufacturing revenue related to VUMERITY at cost plus 15%, upon making available bulk
batches of VUMERITY to Biogen and, to the extent we package such product, then also when packaged batches of VUMERITY are made
available to Biogen. Manufacturing revenue from VUMERITY decreased by $0.5 million and $1.0 million during the three and six months
ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The
decrease was decreases were primarily due to a reduction reductions in the sales price, partially offset by increases in the number of
packaged and bulk batches made available to Biogen. price. The reduction in the sales price related to our manufacturing revenue was
primarily due to the removal of depreciation expense from the manufacturing cost base as the assets used to manufacture VUMERITY
were classified as held for sale and transferred to Novo in connection with the sale of the Athlone Facility in the three six months ended
March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. Royalty revenue related to VUMERITY increased by $2.9 million $3.4 million and $6.4 million during the
three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended March 31,
2023 June 30, 2023. The increase increases in royalty revenue was were due to an increase increases in end-market net sales of
VUMERITY from $108.2 million $146.2 million and $254.3 million during the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023,
respectively, to $127.5 million $166.8 million and $293.3 million during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024. June 30, 2024,

respectively.
29
Costs and Expenses
Cost of Goods Manufactured and Sold
Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In millions) 2024 2023 @ Change 2024 2023 @ Change 2024 2023 @ Change

Cost of goods manufactured and sold $ 586 $ 582 $ 04 % 615 $ 632 $ (1.7) $ 1201 $ 1214 $ (1.3)

(1) Prior period amounts have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the effects of the Separation.

The increase decrease in the cost of goods manufactured and sold during the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, was primarily due to an increase a decrease of $3.9 million $2.6
million in the cost of goods sold manufactured for VIVITROL, partially offset by primarily due to decreases in costs related to out-of-
specification batches and investigation costs, and decreases in the cost of goods manufactured for certain legacy products that we
manufacture due to reduced sales of such products. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in the number of units
manufactured and sold for VIVITROL, as discussed above, and by an increase of $1.1 million in the cost of goods manufactured for
ARISTADA and ARISTADA INITIO, primarily due to an increase in the number of units manufactured and sold, as discussed above.
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The decrease in the cost of goods manufactured and sold during the six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the six
months ended June 30, 2023, was primarily due to decreases in the cost of goods manufactured for certain legacy products due to a
decrease in sales of such products. The products, as discussed above, partially offset by an increase of $1.3 million in the cost of goods
sold manufactured for VIVITROL, was primarily due to an increase in costs related to out-of-specification batches the number of units

manufactured and investigation costs. sold, as discussed above.
Research and Development Expenses

For each of our R&D programs, we incur both external and internal expenses. External R&D expenses include fees for clinical and
preclinical activities performed by contract research organizations, consulting fees, and costs related to laboratory services, the purchase
of drug product materials and third-party manufacturing development activities. Internal R&D expenses include employee-related
expenses, occupancy costs, depreciation and general overhead. We track external R&D expenses for each of our development
programs; however, internal R&D expenses are not tracked by individual program as they can benefit multiple development programs or
our products or technologies in general.
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The following table sets forth our external R&D expenses for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and

2023 relating to our then-current development programs and our internal R&D expenses, listed by the nature of such expenses:

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In millions) 2024 2023 @ Change 2024 2023w  Change 2024 2023@®w  change
External R&D expenses:
Development programs:
ALKS 2680 $ 105 $ 17 $ 88 $ 125 $ 106 $ 1.9 23.0 12.3 10.7
LYBALVI 5.0 3.3 1.7 3.8 3.3 0.5 8.8 6.6 22
Other external R&D expenses 8.8 14.4 (5.6) 10.0 12.0 (2.0) 18.8 26.3 (7.5)
Total external R&D expenses 24.3 19.4 4.9 26.3 25.9 0.4 50.6 45.2 5.4
Internal R&D expenses:
Employee-related 34.5 33.2 1.3 26.3 31.0 4.7) 60.8 64.2 (3.4)
Occupancy 3.0 2.9 0.1 2.8 3.1 (0.3) 5.8 6.0 (0.2)
Depreciation 1.4 2.3 (0.9) 14 2.3 (0.9) 2.8 4.7 (1.9)
Other 4.4 6.0 1.6) 2.8 5.9 (3.1) 7.3 11.9 (4.6)
Total internal R&D expenses 43.3 44.4 (1.1) 333 42.3 (9.0) 76.7 86.8 (10.1)

Research and development expenses $ 676 $ 638 $ 38 $ 596 $ 682 $ (86) $127.3 $ 1320 $ (4.7)
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(1) Prior period amounts have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the effects of the Separation.

These amounts are not necessarily predictive of future R&D expenses. In an effort to allocate our spending most effectively, we
continually evaluate our products under development based on the performance of such products in preclinical and/or clinical trials, our
expectations regarding the likelihood of their regulatory approval and our view of their future potential commercial viability, among other

factors.

The increase increases in expenses related to ALKS 2680 during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as
compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, was were primarily due to an increase increases in spend
related to the advancement of the development program for the product, including completion of our phase 1b proof-of-concept study and
activities to prepare for the initiation of our phase 2 clinical studies for the product, the first of which was announced in April 2024 in
patients with narcolepsy type 1, and the second of which we expect to initiate in patients with narcolepsy type 2 in the second half third
quarter of 2024.The increase 2024. The increases in expenses related to LYBALVI during the three and six months ended March 31,
2024 June 30, 2024, as compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, was were primarily due to increased
spend on the pediatric studies
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related to the product, partially offset by decreased spend following the completion of the long-term safety and tolerability studies for the
product. The decrease decreases in other external R&D expenses during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024,
as compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, was were primarily due to disciplined prioritization of R&D

spend and activities associated with our research programs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In millions) 2024 20231  change 2024 2023  Cchange 2024 20231  Change
Selling and marketing expense $1256 $ 1185 $ 7.1 $119.7 $ 137.9 $(18.2) $2453 $ 2564 $ (11.1)
General and administrative expense 54.1 49.3 4.8 48.4 57.9 (9.5) 102.6 107.2 (4.6)

Selling, general and administrative expense $179.7 $ 1678 $ 119 $168.1 $ 1958 $(27.7) $3479 $363.6 $ (15.7)

(1) Prior period amounts have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the effects of the Separation.

The increase decreases in selling and marketing expense during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as
compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, was were primarily due to a $4.7 million decreases of $15.3

million and $10.6 million, respectively, in marketing expense and decreases of $3.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively, in employee-
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related expenses. The decreases in marketing expense primarily related to disciplined prioritization of selling and marketing expense,
partially offset in the six months ended June 30, 2024 by an increase in marketing spend expense related to the direct-to-consumer
campaign for LYBALVI. Employee-related timing and mix of commercial activities, and the decreases in employee-related expenses also
increased by $2.0 million, were primarily due to decreases in salaries and benefits related to a 7% reduction in sales and marketing
headcount.

32

The decreases in general and administrative expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the
three and six months ended June 30, 2023, were primarily due to decreases in legal expenses of $9.1 million and $11.1 million,
respectively. The decrease during the six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023, was
partially offset by an increase of $2.3 million in employee-related expenses, primarily due to increases in certain payroll-related taxes and
in share-based compensation expense related to the vesting of certain performance-based restricted stock unit awards in February 2024,
as previously discussed described in Note 13,14, Share-based Compensation within inthe “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements” in this Form 10-Q.

The increase in general and administrative expense during the three months ended March 31, 2024, as compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2023, was primarily due to an increase in employee-related expenses of $4.8 million, primarily due to an
increase in share-based compensation expense related to the vesting of certain performance-based restricted stock unit awards, as
previously discussed in Note 13, Share-based Compensation within the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in this

Form 10-Q, partially offset by a decrease in professional services fees of $1.9 million, primarily due to decreased legal expenses.

Other Income, (Expense), Net

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(in millions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Interest income $ 94 $ 50 $ 44 $ 107 $ 67 $ 40 $ 201 $ 117 $ 84
Interest expense (6.0) (5.3) (0.7) (5.9) (5.7) (0.2) (11.9) (11.0) (0.9)
Other income (expense), net 0.2 (0.1) 0.3 2.0 (0.4) 2.4 2.2 (0.5) 2.7

Total other income (expense), net $ 36 $ (04)3% 40
Total other income, net $ 68 $ 06 $ 62 $ 104 $ 02 $ 102

Interest income consists primarily of interest earned on our cash and available-for-sale investments. Interest expense consists of
interest incurred on our 2026 Term Loans. The increases in interest income and interest expense in the three and six months ended
March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as compared to the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, were primarily related to
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increases in interest rates, due to the rising interest rate environment. Interest expense consists of interest incurred on our 2026 Term
Loans.

The increases in other income (expense), net, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the three and
six months ended June 30, 2023, were primarily due to the gain on the sale of the Athlone Facility of approximately $1.5 million, following
the completion of the sale in May 2024.

Income Tax Provision

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
March 31, June 30, June 30,
(In millions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 (1 Change 2024 2023 (1 Change
Income tax provision 8.0 07 $ 7.3 22.1 27 $ 194 $ 300 $ 34 $ 266

(1) Prior period amounts have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the effects of the Separation.

The income tax provision in the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 was June 30, 2024 were primarily attributable to taxes
on income earned in Ireland. The income tax provision in the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 was June 30, 2023 were

primarily due to U.S. federal and state taxes on income earned in the U.S. and the tax impact of employee equity activity.
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Liquidity and Financial Condition
Our financial condition is summarized as follows:
March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(In millions) u.s. Ireland Total u.s. Ireland Total uU.s. Ireland Total uU.s. Ireland Total
Cash and cash
equivalents $128.3 $2925 $420.8 $317.8 $139.7 $4575 $210.1 $3251 $5352 $317.8 $139.7 $4575
Investments—
short-term 209.8 1145 324.3 187.6 128.4 316.0 186.5 154.5 341.0 187.6 128.4 316.0
Investments—
long-term 28.0 34.8 62.8 18.0 21.9 39.9 41.9 44.5 86.4 18.0 21.9 39.9
Total cash and
investments $366.1 $441.8 $807.9 $5234 $290.0 $8134 $4385 $5241 $962.6 $523.4 $290.0 $8134

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 52/116

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Outstanding

borrowings—short
and long-term $290.1 $ — $290.1 $290.7 $ — $290.7 $2895 $ — $2895 $290.7 $ — $290.7
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At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 our investments consisted of the following:

Gross Gross
Allowance Allowance
Amortized Unrealized for Estimated Amortized Unrealized for Estimated
- Credit Credit

(In millions) Cost Gains Losses Losses Fair Value Cost Gains Losses Losses Fair Value
Investments—short-term available-
for-sale $ 3246 $05 $ (08) $ — $ 3243 $ 3415 $02 $ (0.7) $ — $ 3410
Investments—long-term available-
for-sale 61.6 — (0.6) — 61.0 86.7 — (0.4) — 86.3
Investments—long-term held-to-
maturity 1.8 — — — 1.8 0.1 — — — 0.1
Total $ 3880 $05 $(14) $ — $ 3871 $ 4283 $02 $(11) $ — $ 4274

Sources and Uses of Cash

We generated $21.1 million $167.1 million and $194.4 million of cash from operating activities and used $21.3 million of cash in
operating activities during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We expect that our existing
cash, cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to finance our anticipated working capital and other cash requirements, such as
capital expenditures and principal and interest payments on our long-term debt, for at least the twelve months following the date from
which our financial statements were issued. Subject to market conditions, interest rates and other factors, we may pursue opportunities to
obtain additional financing in the future, including debt and equity offerings, corporate collaborations, bank borrowings, arrangements
relating to assets or other financing methods or structures. In addition, the 2026 Term Loans have an incremental facility capacity in an
amount of $175.0 million, plus additional potential amounts, provided that we meet certain conditions, including a specified leverage ratio.

Our investment objectives are, first, to preserve capital and provide sufficient liquidity to satisfy operating requirements and, second,
to generate investment income. We mitigate credit risk in our cash reserves by maintaining a well-diversified portfolio that limits the
amount of investment exposure as to institution, maturity, sector and investment type. Our available-for-sale investments consist primarily

of short and long-term U.S. government and agency debt securities and corporate debt securities.
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We classify available-for-sale investments in an unrealized loss position that do not mature within twelve months as long-term
investments. We have the intent and ability to hold these investments until recovery, which may be at maturity, and it is more-likely-than-
not that we would not be required to sell these securities before recovery of their amortized cost.

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our financial condition, changes in
financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources in the next twelve
months.

In February 2024, we announced approval by our board of directors of the Repurchase Program, as described in Note 13,
Shareholders’ Equity in the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-Q. During the three months ended
June 30, 2024, we repurchased approximately 3.5 million of our ordinary shares under the Repurchase Program at a total cost of $84.7
million. As of June 30, 2024, the remaining amount authorized under the Repurchase Program was $315.3 million.

Information about our cash flows, by category, is presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows. The
discussion of our cash flows that follows does not include the impact of any adjustments to remove discontinued operations and is stated
on a total company consolidated basis. The following table summarizes our cash flows for the three six months ended March 31,

2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Six Months Ended June 30,

(In millions) 2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period $ 4575 % 292.5
Cash flows provided by operating activities 167.1 194.4
Cash flows provided by investing activities 12.0 193.7
Cash flows used in financing activities (101.4) (14.8)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 5352 $ 665.8
3234
Three Months Ended March 31,
(In millions) 2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period $ 4575 $ 292.5
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 21.1 (21.3)
Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities (39.9) 72.8
Cash flows used in financing activities (17.9) (22.6)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 4208 % 3214
Operating Activities
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Cash flows from operating activities represent the cash receipts and disbursements related to all of our activities other than investing
and financing activities. Operating cash flow is derived by adjusting our net income (loss) for non-cash operating items such as
depreciation, amortization and share-based compensation and changes in operating assets and liabilities, which reflect timing differences
between the receipt and payment of cash associated with transactions and when they are recognized in our results of operations.

Cash flows provided by operating activities for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 were $21.1 million $167.1
million and primarily consisted of a net income of $38.9 million $128.2 million, adjusted for non-cash items including share-based
compensation of $32.8 million $53.4 million, depreciation and amortization of $8.1 million and $14.7 million, deferred income taxes of $7.5
million $21.7 million and gain on the sale of the Athlone Facility of $1.5 million, partially offset by changes in working capital of $66.3
million $51.5 million.

Cash flows used in provided by operating activities for the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 were $21.3
million $194.4 million and primarily consisted of a net lossincome of $41.8 million $195.2 million, adjusted for non-cash items including
share-based compensation of $22.6 million, $51.1 million and depreciation and amortization of $18.7 million and $37.7 million, partially
offset by changes in working capital of $14.9 million, partially offset by $52.2 million and deferred income taxes of $36.1 million $38.1
million. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, net income included receipt of $195.4 million from Janssen, inclusive of $8.1 million
in late-payment interest, related to 2022 U.S. net sales of the long-acting INVEGA products following the successful outcome of the
arbitration proceedings in respect of such products.

Investing Activities

Cash flows used in provided by investing activities for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 were primarily due
to $32.0 million proceeds related to the sale of the Athlone Facility of approximately $97.9 million, which included a payment of
approximately $91.0 million for the facility and certain related assets, partially offset by $71.0 million in net purchase of investments and
the purchase of $8.3 million $15.5 million of property, plant and equipment. Cash flows provided by investing activities for the three six
months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 were primarily due to a $79.7 million increase $210.3 million in net sales of investments,

offset by the purchase of $6.9 million $16.6 million of property, plant and equipment.
Financing Activities

Cash flows used in financing activities for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 June 30, 2024 primarily related to
$28.3 million $84.7 million used to repurchase our ordinary shares under the Repurchase Program and $24.7 million $29.0 million of
employee taxes paid related to the net share settlement of equity awards, respectively, partially offset by $11.2 million and $2.9
million $13.8 million of cash that we received upon exercises of employee stock options, respectively. options. Cash flows used in
financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023 primarily related to $25.3 million of employee taxes paid related to the net

share settlement of equity awards, partially offset by $12.0 million of cash that we received upon exercises of employee stock options.
Debt

At March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the principal balance of our borrowings consisted of $291.0 million $290.3 million outstanding
under our 2026 Term Loans. See Note 12, Long-Term Debt, in the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form
10-Q for further discussion of our 2026 Term Loans.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these

estimates under different conditions or using different assumptions.
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See the “Critical Accounting Estimates” section in “Part Il, tem 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report for a discussion of our critical accounting estimates.
New Accounting Standards

See the “New Accounting Pronouncements” section in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the “Notes to

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-Q for discussion of certain recent accounting standards applicable to us.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risks related to our investment portfolio, and the ways we manage such risks, are summarized in “Part Il, ltem 7A—
Quantitative and Quialitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in our Annual Report. We regularly review our marketable securities holdings
and shift our investment holdings to those that best meet our investment objectives, which are to preserve capital, provide sufficient
liquidity to satisfy operating requirements and generate investment income. Apart from such adjustments to our investment portfolio, there
have been no material changes to our market risks since December 31, 2023, and we do not anticipate any near-term changes in the

nature of our market risk exposures or in our management’s objectives and strategies with respect to managing such exposures.

We are exposed to non-U.S. currency exchange risk related to manufacturing and royalty revenues that we receive on certain of our
products, partially offset by certain operating costs arising from expenses and payables in connection with our Irish operations that are
settled predominantly in Euro. These non-U.S. currency exchange rate risks are summarized in “Part Il, Item 7A—Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in our Annual Report. There has been no material change in our assessment of our sensitivity

to non-U.S. currency exchange rate risk since December 31, 2023.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our principal executive officer and interim principal financial officer, the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of
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March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and interim principal financial officer each
concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that (a) the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (b) such information
is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and interim principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures,
our management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating

the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
b) Change in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial

reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

For information regarding legal proceedings, see the discussion of legal proceedings in Note 16,17, Commitments and Contingent
Liabilities in the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-Q, which discussion is incorporated into this

Part Il, Item 1 by reference.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

For a discussion of our risk factors, see “Part |, ltem 1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report. There have been no material changes

from the risk factors disclosed in our Annual Report.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

On February 15, 2024, The following table summarizes purchases of our ordinary shares made by or on behalf of us or any of our
affiliated purchasers, as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act, during the three months ended June 30, 2024:

Period Total Number of Average Price Paid per Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Ordinary Shares Ordinary Share Ordinary Shares Value (in millions) of

Purchased (b) Purchased as Part of Ordinary Shares that

@ Publicly Announced May Yet Be
Program Purchased Under the
(€)@ Program
()@
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April 1, 2024 — April 30, 2024 4,388 $ 26.11 = $ 400.0

May 1, 2024 — May 31, 2024 1,535,566 24.08 1,533,769 363.1
June 1, 2024 — June 30, 2024 1,982,925 24.33 1,962,418 315.3
Totals 3,522,879 (1) $ 24.22 3,496,187 (1)

(1) The difference between the total number of ordinary shares purchased shown in column (a) and the total number of ordinary shares purchased
part of the publicly announced Repurchase Program shown in column (c) consists of 26,692 ordinary shares acquired to satisfy withholding tax
obligations related to the vesting of equity awards.

(2) In February 2024, we announced approval by our board of directors of the Repurchase Program, which authorized a share the repurchase
program to repurchase of our ordinary shares of the Company in an aggregate amount of up to $400.0 million (exclusive of any fees, commissi
or other expenses related to such repurchases) from time to time (the “2024 Repurchase Program”). time. The specific timing and
amount amounts of any share repurchases under the 2024 Repurchase Program will be based depend on a variety of factors, including but not
limited to ongoing assessments of our needs, alternative investment opportunities, the market price of our ordinary shares and general market
conditions. The 2024 Repurchase Program has no set expiration date and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The 2024 Repurcha
Program terminates, and supersedes in its entirety, our prior share repurchase program authorized by our board of directors in September 201:
We did not purchase any shares under this program during the three months ended March 31, 2024.

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, we acquired 960,486 of our ordinary shares, at an average price of $29.52 |

share, to satisfy withholding tax obligations related to the vesting of employee equity awards.
Item 5. Other Information

During the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, no officers officer (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange
Act) or directors director of the Company adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement (each such term as defined in Iltem 408 of Regulation S-K).
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Item 6. Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed or furnished as part of this Form 10-Q:

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

3.1101# Memorandum Fifth Amendment to License and Articles Collaboration Agreement between Alkermes Pharma Ireland

Limited and Biogen International GmbH (as successor to Biogen Swiss Manufacturing GmbH),_effective as of

Association of June 7, 2024.

10.2 Alkermes plc (as 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to

the Alkermes plc Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-35299) filed on May 31, 2024).
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10.2A #t

10.2B #t

311 #
31.2#
321+%

101.SCH #
104 #

Form of Non-Employee Director Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Certificate (rev. 2024) under the Alkermes plc 2018

Stock Option and restated on May 13, 2022). Incentive Plan, as amended.

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award (Time-Vesting) Award Certificate (rev. 2024) under the

Alkermes plc 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certification.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certification.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document with Embedded Linkbase Documents.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained
in Exhibit 101)

# Filed herewith.

f Furnished herewith.

t Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its

behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ALKERMES PLC

(Registrant)

By: /sl Richard F. Pops
Richard F. Pops

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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By: /s/ Blair C. Jackson

Blair C. Jackson
Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
(Interim Principal Financial Officer)

Date: May 1, 2024 July 24, 2024
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Exhibit 3.1
10.1

Companies Act 2014

A PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

CONSTITUTION
of
ALKERMES PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

(amended and restated by Special Resolution dated 13 May 2022)

Incorporated 4 May 2011

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LICENSE AND COLLABORATION AGREEMENT

THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT (this “Fifth Amendment”) is made as of the date last signed below (the “Fifth
Amendment Effective Date”) to the certain License and Collaboration Agreement dated November 27, 2017, as
amended (the “Agreement”), by and between ALKERMES PHARMA IRELAND LIMITED (“Alkermes”) on the one
hand and BIOGEN SWISS MANUFACTURING GMBH (“BSM”) on the other. Unless noted otherwise, capitalized

terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement.
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Companies Act 2014
A PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION
of RECITALS
ALKERMES PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY WHEREAS, Alkermes and BSM have entered into the Agreement;

WHEREAS, BSM and Biogen International GmbH (“BIG”) have effected a merger with BIG being the surviving
entity (the “Merger”) with an effective date of March 13, 2024 (the “Merger Date”);

WHEREAS, by law upon the Merger, all rights and obligations imposed on and owned by BSM have been
automatically transferred by universal succession to BIG as of the Merger Date; and

WHEREAS, Alkermes and BIG now wish to amend the Agreement to substitute BIG for BSM as party to the
Agreement to ensure clarity with respect to the transfer of the Agreement as of the Merger Date;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. The nameBSM shall be substituted and replaced by BIG, which hereby assumes all rights, obligations a
liabilities, regardless of when, where or how such liabilities arose, of BSM under the Company is Alkerm
public limited company. Agreement.

2. The registered office defined term “Biogen” and all uses of such defined term in the Company Agreement sk
be at Connaught House, 1 Burlington Road, Dublin 4 or at such other place as the Board may frc
time deemed references to time decide. BIG.

3. The Company is a public limited company deemed toThis Fifth Amendment shall be a PLC to which P
17 governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Companies Act 2014 applies. State of Ni
York without regard to its conflict of law provisions.

4. The objectsfor which the Company is established are:

4.1
(@) To carry on Except as expressly provided in this Fifth Amendment, all or anyother terms, conditions and provisions
businesses of manufacturers, buyers, sellers, Agreement shall continue in full force and distributing agents ofe
provided therein. The Agreement (as amended by this Fifth Amendment) constitutes the entire agreement between the
relating to the subject matter hereof and dealers in thereof and supersedes all kinds of patent, pharmaceutical, medicir
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(b)

and medicated preparations, patent medicines, drugs, herbs, contemporaneous negotiations, agreements, represer
understandings and of and in pharmaceutical, medicinal, proprietary and industrial preparations, compounds, and ar
all kinds; and to manufacture, make up, prepare, buy, sell, and deal in all articles, substances, and things comrm
conveniently used in or for making up, preparing, or packing any of the products in which the Company is authorised
or which may be required by customers of or persons having dealings commitments with the Company. respect thereto.

To establish, maintain and operate laboratories for the purpose of carrying on chemical, physical and other research in

medicine, chemistry, industry or other unrelated or related fields.

4.2

5.

(c) To carry on the business of a holding company and to co-ordinate the administration, finances and activities of any su

companies or associated companies, to do all lawful acts and things whatever that are necessary or convenient in car
the business of such a holding company and in particular to carry on in all its branches the business of a mana
services company, to act as managers and to direct or coordinate the management of other companies or of the bt
property and estates of any company or person and to undertake and carry out all such services in connection there
may be deemed expedient by the Company’s Board and to exercise its powers as a shareholder of other companies.

To acquire and hold shares, stocks, debenture stock, bonds, mortgages, obligations and securities and interests of any kind is
guaranteed by any company, corporation or undertaking of whatever nature and wherever constituted or carrying on bt
whether in Ireland or elsewhere, and to vary, transpose, dispose of or otherwise deal with,

from time to time as This Fifth Amendment may be considered expedient, any of the Company’s investmel
for the time being.

4.3 To acquire any such shares and other securities as are mentioned in the preceding paragraph by subscription, sy
participation, tender, purchase, exchange or otherwise and to subscribe for the same, either conditionally or otherwise,
guarantee the subscription thereof and to exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incident to the ow
thereof.

4.4 To lease, acquire by purchase or otherwise and hold, sell, dispose of and deal in real property and in personal property of ¢
wheresoever situated.

45 To enter into any guarantee, contract of indemnity or suretyship and to assure, support or secure with or without consider
benefit the performance of any obligations of any person or persons and to guarantee the fidelity of individuals filling or aba
situations of trust or confidence.

4.6 To acquire or undertake the whole or any part of the business, property and liabilities of any person carrying on any business
Company is authorised to carry on.

4.7 To apply for, register, purchase, lease, acquire, hold, use, control, licence, sell, assign or dispose of patents, patent rights, cor
trade marks, formulae, licences, inventions, processes, distinctive marks and similar rights.

4.8 To enter into partnership or into any arrangement for sharing of profits, union of interests, co-operation, joint venture, re
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4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

concession or otherwise with any person carrying on or engaged in or about to carry on or engage executed in any busi
transaction that the Company is authorised to carry on or engage in or any business or transaction capable number c
conducted so as to benefit the Company.

To take or otherwise acquire and hold securities in any other body corporate having objects altogether or in part sil
those counterparts, each of the Company or carrying on any business capable of being conducted so as to benefit the Compa

To lend money to any employee or to any person having dealings with the Company or with whom the Company proposes
dealings or to any other body corporate any of whose shares are held by the Company.

To apply for, secure or acquire by grant, legislative enactment, assignment, transfer, purchase or otherwise and to exercise, ¢
and enjoy any charter, licence, power, authority, franchise, concession, right or privilege, that any government or authority
body corporate or other public body may be empowered to grant, and to pay for, aid in and contribute toward carrying it int
and to assume any liabilities or obligations incidental thereto and to enter into any arrangements with any governments or aut
supreme, municipal, local or otherwise, that may seem conducive to the Company’s objects or any of them.

To perform any duty or duties imposed on the Company by or under any enactment and to exercise any power conferred
Company by or under any enactment.

To incorporate or cause to be incorporated any one or more subsidiaries of the Company (within the meaning of the Compai
2014) for the purpose of carrying on any business.

To establish and support or aid in the establishment and support of associations, institutions, funds or trusts for the be
employees, directors and/or consultants or

former employees, directors and/or consultants of the Company or its predecessors or any of its subsidiary or associated companies,
or the dependants or connections of such employees, directors and/or consultants or former employees, directors and/or consultants
and grant gratuities, pensions and allowances, including the establishment of share option schemes, enabling employees, directors
and/or consultants of the Company or other persons aforesaid to become shareholders in the Company, or otherwise to participate in
the profits of the Company upon such terms and in such manner as the Company thinks fit, and to make payments towards
insurance or for any object similar to those set forth in this paragraph.

4.15

4.16

To establish and contribute to any scheme for the purchase by trustees of Shares in the Company to be held for the benef
Company’s employees or the employees of any of its subsidiary or associated companies and to lend or otherwise provide m
the trustees of such schemes or the Company’s employees or the employees of any of its subsidiary or associated comp:
enable them to purchase Shares of the Company.

To grant bonuses to any person or persons who are or have been in the employment of the Company or any of its subsi
associated companies or any person or persons who are or have been directors of, or consultants to, the Company or ar
subsidiary or associated companies.
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4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

To establish any scheme or otherwise to provide for the purchase by or on behalf of customers of the Company of share
Company.

To subscribe or guarantee money for charitable, benevolent or educational objects or for any exhibition or for any public, ge
useful objects.

To promote any company for the purpose of acquiring or taking over any of the property and liabilities of the Company or
other purpose that may benefit the Company.

To purchase, lease, take in exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any personal property and any rights or privileges that the Ci
considers necessary or convenient for the purposes of its business.

To construct, maintain, alter, renovate and demolish any buildings or works necessary or convenient for its objects.

To construct, improve, maintain, work, manage, carry out or control any roads, ways, tramways, branches or sidings, |
reservoirs, watercourses, wharves, factories, warehouses, electric works, shops, stores and other works and conveniences tl
advance the interests of the Company and contribute to, subsidise or otherwise assist or take part in the construction, impro'
maintenance, working, management and carrying out of control thereof.

To raise and assist in raising money for, and aid by way of bonus, loan, promise, endorsement, guarantee or otherwise, any
and guarantee the performance or fulfilment of any contracts or obligations of any person, and in particular guarantee the pay
the principal of and interest on the debt obligations of any such person.

To guarantee, support, secure, whether by personal covenant or by mortgaging or charging all or any part of the unde
property and assets (both present and future) and uncalled capital of the Company, or by both such methods, the performanc
obligations of, and the repayment or payment of the principal amounts of and premiums, interest and dividends on any secu
any person, firm, or company including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) any company which is for the tim
the Company’s holding company as defined by the Companies Act 2014, or a

subsidiary as therein defined of any such holding company or otherwise associated by the Company in business.

4.25

4.26

To borrow or secure the payment of money in such manner as the Company shall think fit, and in particular by the i
debentures, debenture stocks, bonds, obligations and securities of all kinds, either perpetual or terminable and either redeen
otherwise and to secure the repayment of any money borrowed, raised or owing by trust deed, mortgage, charge, or lien u
whole or any part of the Company’s property or assets (whether present or future) including its uncalled capital, and also by
trust deed, mortgage, charge or lien to secure and guarantee the performance by the Company of any obligation or liability
undertake.

To engage in currency exchange, interest rate and/or commodity or index linked transactions (whether in connection
incidental to any other contract, undertaking or business entered into or carried on by the Company or whether as an inde|
object or activity) including, but not limited to, dealings in foreign currency, spot and forward rate exchange contracts,
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4.27

4.28

4.29

4.30

4.31

4.32

4.33

4.34

options, forward rate agreements, swaps, caps, floors, collars, commodity or index linked swaps and any other foreign ex
interest rate or commodity or index linked arrangements and such other instruments as are similar to or derive from any
foregoing whether for the purpose of making a profit or avoiding a loss or managing a currency or interest rate exposure or ar
purpose and to enter into any contract for and to exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incidental, dir
indirectly, to such transactions or termination of any such transactions.

To remunerate any person or company for services rendered or to be rendered in placing or assisting to place or guarantes
placing of any of the shares of the Company’s capital or any debentures, debenture stock or other securities of the Company
about the formation or promotion of the Company or the conduct of its business.

To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue bills of exchange, promissory notes, bills of lading, warrants ar
negotiable or transferable instruments.

To sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of the undertaking of the Company or any part thereof as an entirety or substan
an entirety for such consideration as the Company thinks fit.

To sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange, lease, dispose of, turn to account or otherwise deal with the property of the Ci
in the ordinary course of its business.

To adopt such means of making known the products of the Company as may seem expedient, and in particular by adverti:
purchase and exhibition of works of art or interest, by publication of books and periodicals and by granting prizes and rewa
making donations.

To cause the Company to be registered and recognised in any foreign jurisdiction, and designate persons therein accordin
laws of that foreign jurisdiction or to represent the Company and to accept service for and on behalf of the Company of any |
or suit.

To allot and issue fully-paid shares of the Company in payment or part payment of any property purchased or otherwise acq|
the Company or for any past services performed for the Company.

To distribute among the Members of the Company in cash, kind, specie or otherwise as may be resolved, by way of dividend
or in any other manner considered advisable,

any property of the Company, but not so as to decrease the capital of the Company unless the distribution is made for the purpose of
enabling the Company to be dissolved or the distribution, apart from this paragraph, would be otherwise lawful.

4.35

To promote freedom of contract, and to resist, insure against, counteract and discourage interference therewith, to join an
federation, union or association or do any other lawful act or thing with a view to preventing or resisting directly or indire:
interruption of or interference with the Company’s or any other trade or business or providing or safeguarding against the s
resisting strike, movement or organisation, which may be thought detrimental to the interests or opposing any of the Compa
employees and to subscribe to any association or fund for any such purposes.
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4.36 To make or receive gifts by way of capital contribution or otherwise.
4.37 To establish agencies and branches.

4.38 To take or hold mortgages, hypothecations, liens and charges to secure payment of the purchase price, or of any unpaid bal
the purchase price, of any part of the property of the Company of whatsoever kind sold by the Company, or for any money du
Company from purchasers and others and to sell or otherwise dispose of any such mortgage, hypothec, lien or charge.

4.39 To pay all costs and expenses of or incidental to the incorporation and organization of the Company.

4.40 To invest and deal with the monies of the Company not immediately required for the objects of the Company in such manner
be determined.

4.41 To do any of the things authorised by this memorandum as principals, agents, contractors, trustees or otherwise, and either ¢
in conjunction with others.

4.42 To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objects and the exercise of the power:
Company.

The objects set forth in any sub-clause of this clause shall be regarded as independent objects and shall not, except, where the
context expressly so requires, be in any way limited or restricted by reference to or inference from the terms of any other sub-clause,
or by the name of the Company. None of such sub-clauses or the objects therein specified or the powers thereby conferred shall be
deemed subsidiary or auxiliary merely toan original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the objects mentioned in the
first sub-clause of this clause, but the Company shall have full power to exercise all or any of the powers conferred by any part of this
clause in any part of the world notwithstanding that the business, property or acts proposed to be transacted, acquired or performed
do not fall within the objects of the first sub-clause of this clause.

5. The liability of each Member is limited to the amount from time to time unpaid on such Member’s Shares.

6. The authorised share capital of the Company is €40,000 and US$5,000,000 divided into 40,000 ordinary shares of €1.01
450,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each and 50,000,000 undesignated preferred shares of US$0.01 each.

7. The shares forming the capital, increased or reduced, may be increased or reduced and be divided into such classes and issued v
special rights, privileges and conditions or with such qualifications as regards preference, dividend, capital, voting or other
incidents, and be held upon such terms as may be attached thereto or as may from time to time be

same instrument. Signatures provided by the original or any substituted or amended articles of association and regulations of the
Company for the time being, but so that where shares are issued with any preferential or special rights attached thereto such rights shall
not be alterable otherwise than pursuant to the provisions of the Company’s articles of association for the time being.
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Capitalised terms that are not defined in this memorandum of association bear the same meaning as those givenin the articles of
association of the Company.

Companies Act 2014
A PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
of
ALKERMES PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
(amended and restated by Special Resolution dated 13 May 2022)

PRELIMINARY

The provisions set out in these articles of association shall constitute the whole of the regulations applicable to the Company
and no “optional provision” as defined by section 1007(2) of the Companies Acts (with the exception of sections 83 and 84) shall
apply to the Company.

2.1 In these Atrticles:

“Address” includes, without limitation, any number or address used for the purposes of communication by way of electronic mail
or other electronic communication;

“Articles” or “Articles of Association” means these articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time by
Special Resolution;

“Assistant Secretary” means any person appointed by the Secretary from time to time to assist the Secretary’;
“Auditors” means the persons for the time being performing the duties of auditors of the Company;

“Available Director Positions” shall have the meaning given to such term in Article 151.2;

“Board” means the board of directors for the time being of the Company;

“clear days” means, in relation to a period of notice, that period excluding the day when the notice is given or deemed to be
given and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;
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“Companies Acts” means the Companies Act 2014, all statutory instruments which are to be read as one with, or construed or
read together as one with, the Companies Acts and every statutory modification and re-enactment thereof for the time being in

force;
“Company” means the above-named company;

“contested election” shall have the meaning given to such term in Article 151.2;

“Court” means the Irish High Court;

“Director Nominees” shall have the meaning given to such term in Article 151.2;

“Directors” means the directors for the time being of the Company;

“dividend” includes interim dividends and bonus dividends;

“Dividend Periods” shall have the meaning given to such term in Article 14.2;

“electronic communication” shall have the meaning given to those words in the Electronic Commerce Act 2000;
“electronic signature” shall have the meaning given to those words in the Electronic Commerce Act 2000;

“Exchange” means any securities exchange or other system on which the Shares of the Company may be listed or otherwise
authorised for trading from time to time;

“Exchange Act’” shall have the meaning given to such term in Article 99;

“IAS Regulation” means Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 on the

application of international accounting standards;

“Members” mean persons who have agreed to become a Member of the Company and whose name is entered in the Register
of Members as a registered holder of Shares and each and any of them individually a Member;

“Memorandum” means the memorandum of association of the Company as amended from time to time by Special Resolution;

“month” means a calendar month;
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“officer’ means any executive of the Company that has been designated by the Company the title “officer” and for the avoidance

of doubt does not have the meaning given to such term under the Companies Acts;
“Ordinary Resolution” means an ordinary resolution of the Company’s Members within the meaning of the Companies Acts;

“paid-up” means paid-up as to the nominal value and any premium payable in respect of the issue of any Shares and includes

credited as paid-up;
“Redeemable Shares” means redeemable shares in accordance with the Companies Acts;

“Register of Members” or “Register’ means the register of Members of the Company maintained by or on behalf of the
Company, in accordance with the Companies Acts and includes (except where otherwise stated) any duplicate Register of

Members;
“registered office” means the registered office for the time being of the Company;
“Seal” means the seal of the Company, if any, and includes every duplicate seal;

“Secretary” means the person appointed by the Board to perform any or all of the duties of secretary of the Company and
includes an Assistant Secretary and any person appointed by the Board to perform the duties of secretary of the Company;

“Share” and “Shares” means a share or shares in the capital of the Company;

“Shareholder Rights Plan” means a shareholder rights plan providing for the right of Members to purchase securities of the
Company in the event of any proposed acquisition of a majority of the Shares where such acquisition is not approved or

recommended by the Board; and

“Special Resolution” means a special resolution of the Company’s Members within the meaning the Companies Acts.

2.2 In the Articles:
(@) words importing the singular number include the plural number and vice-versa;
(b) words importing the feminine gender include the masculine gender;
(c) words importing persons include any company, partnership or other body of persons, whether corporate or not, any tr

any government, governmental body or agency or public authority, whether of Ireland or elsewhere;
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(d) “written” and “in writing” include all modes of representing or reproducing words in visible form, including el
communication;

(e) references to a company include any body corporate or other legal entity, whether incorporated or established in Ire
elsewhere;
) references to provisions of any law or regulation shall be construed as references to those provisions as amended,

re-enacted or replaced from time to time;

” n

(9) any phrase introduced by the terms ‘“including”, “include”, “in particular” or any similar expression shall be const
illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words preceding those terms;

(h) headings are inserted for reference only and shall be ignored in construing these Articles; and

(@) references to US$, USD, $ or dollars shall mean United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of Ame
references to €, euro, or EUR shall mean the euro, the lawful currency of Ireland.

SHARE CAPITAL; ISSUE OF SHARES

The authorised share capital of the Company is €40,000 and US$5,000,000 divided into 40,000 ordinary shares of €1.0l
450,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each and 50,000,000 undesignated preferred shares of US$0.01 each.

Subject to the Companies Acts and the rights conferred on the holders of any other class of shares, any Share in the Company
issued with or have attached to it such preferential, deferred, qualified or special rights, privileges or conditions as the Company
Ordinary Resolution decide or, insofar as the Ordinary Resolution does not make specific provision, as the Board may from time
determine.

Subject to the provisions of these Articles relating to new Shares, the Shares shall be at the disposal of the Directors, and th
(subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts) allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, on suc
and conditions and at such times as they may consider to be in the best interests of the Company and its

Members, but so that no Share shall be issued at a discount save in accordance with the Companies Acts, and so that, in the case of
Shares offered to the public for subscription, the amount payable on application on each Share shall not be less than one-quarter of the
nominal amount of the Share and the whole of any premium thereon.

6.

7.1

Subject to any requirement to obtain the approval of Members under any laws, regulations or the rules of any Exchange, the E
authorised, from time to time, in its discretion, to grant such persons, for such periods and upon such terms as the Board
advisable, options to purchase or subscribe for any number of Shares of any class or classes or of any series of any class as th
may deem advisable, and to cause warrants or other appropriate instruments evidencing such options to be issued.

Subject to the provisions of Part XI of the 1990 Act and the other provisions of this Article 7, the Company may:

pursuant the Companies Acts, issue any Shares of the Company which are to be redeemed or are liable to be redeemet
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7.2

7.3

7.4

10.

11.

111

11.2

11.3

option of the Company or the Member on such terms and in such manner as may be determined by the Company in general |
(by Special Resolution) on the recommendation of the Directors;

redeem Shares of the Company on such terms as may be contained in, or be determined pursuant to the provisions o
Articles. Subject as aforesaid, the Company may cancel any Shares so redeemed or may hold them as treasury shares and |
such treasury shares as Shares of any class or classes or cancel them;

subject to facsimile transmission or in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts and without prejudice to any |
special rights attached to any class of shares, pursuant to the Companies Acts, purchase any of its own Shares (includ
Redeemable Shares and without any obligation to purchase on any pro rata basis as between Members or Members of th
class) and may cancel any shares so purchased or hold them as treasury (as defined Adobe® PDF sent by the Companies A«
may reissue any such shares as shares of any class or classes or cancel them; or

pursuant to the Companies Acts, convert any of its Shares into Redeemable Shares provided that the total number of Share
shall be redeemable pursuant to this authority shall not exceed the limit in the Companies Acts.

The Company may issue bearer instruments in accordance with the Companies Acts.

Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any existing Shares or class of Shares or to the ¢
conferred on the Directors pursuant to Article 14 to issue the preferred shares, any Share in the Company may be issued wi
preferred or deferred or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise
Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution determine.

The Company may pay commission to any person in consideration of any person subscribing or agreeing to subscribe, )
absolutely or conditionally, for the shares in the Company or procuring or agreeing to procure subscriptions, whether abs:
conditional, for any shares in the Company on such terms and, subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and to such condi
the Directors may determine, including, without limitation, by paying cash or allotting and issuing fully or partly paid shares
combination of the two. The Company may also on any issue of Shares pay such brokerage as may be lawful.

ORDINARY SHARES

The holders of the ordinary shares shall be:

entitled to dividends on a pro rata basis in accordance with the relevant provisions of these Articles;
entitled to participate pro rata in the total assets of the Company in the event of the Company’s winding up; and

entitled, subject to the right of the Company to set record dates for the purpose of determining the identity of Members en
notice of and/or vote at a general meeting, to attend general meetings of the Company and shall be entitled to one vote f
ordinary share registered in her name in the Register of Members, both in accordance with the relevant provisions of these Ar
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The rights attaching to the ordinary shares may be subject to the terms of issue of any series or class of preferred share allotted

by the Directors from time to time in accordance with Article 14.

12. Unless the Board specifically elects to treat such acquisition as a purchase for the purposes of the Companies Acts, an «
share electronic mail shall be deemed to be a Redeemable Share on, and from the time of, the existence or creation of an agr
transaction or trade between the Company and any third party pursuant to which the Company acquires or will acquire ordinary sh
an interest in ordinary shares, from the relevant third party. In these circumstances, the acquisition of such shares by the Compa
constitute the redemption of a Redeemable Share in accordance with the Companies Acts.

13. All ordinary shares shall rank pari passu with each other in all respects. original signatures.

PREFERRED SHARES

[Signature page follows]

14. The Directors are authorised to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued preferred shares from time to time in one or more
classes or series, and to fix for each such class or series such voting powers (full or limited or without voting powers), designations,
preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as are stated
and expressed, or in any resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such class or series adopted by the Board as hereinafter
provided, including, without limitation, and subject to the Memorandum and Articles and applicable law, the authority to provide that any

such class or series may be:
14.1 redeemable at the option of the Company, or the Members, or both, with the manner of the redemption to be set by the Boz
redeemable at such time or times, including upon a fixed date, and at such price or prices;

14.2 entitled to receive dividends (which may be cumulative or non-cumulative) at such rates, on such conditions at such times
respect of such dividend periods (the “ Dividend Periods”), and payable in preference to, or in such relation to, the dividends |
on any other class or classes of shares or any other series;

14.3 entitled to such rights upon the dissolution of, or upon any distribution of the assets of, the Company; or

14.4 convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or classes of shares, or of any other series of the same or at
class or classes of shares, of the Company at such

price or prices or at such rates of exchange and with such adjustments as the Directors determine,

which rights and restrictions may be as stated in such resolution or resolutions of the Directors as determined by them in
accordance with this Article 14. The Board may at any time before the allotment of any preferred share by further resolution in
any way amend the designations, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations or restrictions, or vary or revoke the designations

of such preferred shares.
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15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Notwithstanding the fixing of the number of preferred shares constituting a particular series upon the issuance thereof, the Board
at any time thereafter may authorise the issuance of additional preferred shares of the same series subject always to the
Companies Acts, the Memorandum and these Atrticles.

The rights conferred upon a Member holding any pre-existing shares in the share capital of the Company shall be deemed not to

be varied by the creation, issue and allotment of preferred shares in accordance with this Article 14.

No dividend shall be declared and set apart for payment on any series of preferred shares in respect of any Dividend Period unle:
shall likewise be or have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, on all preferred shares of each other series en
cumulative dividends at the time outstanding that rank senior or equally as to dividends with the series in question, dividends rat
accordance with the sums which would be payable on the said preferred shares through the end of the last preceding Dividend F
all dividends were declared and paid in full.

If, upon the winding up of the Company, the assets of the Company distributable among the holders of any one or more s
preferred shares which (i) are entitled to a preference over the holders of the ordinary shares upon such winding up, and (ii) rank
in connection with any such distribution, shall be insufficient to pay in full the preferential amount to which the holders of such pi
shares shall be entitled, then such assets, or the proceeds thereof, shall be distributed among the holders of each such serie:
preferred shares rateably in accordance with the sums which would be payable on such distribution if all sums payable were disc
in full.

ISSUE OF WARRANTS

The Board may issue warrants to subscribe for any class of Shares or other securities of the Company on such terms as it may fri
to time determine.

CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES
Unless otherwise provided for by the Board or the rights attaching to or by the terms of issue of any particular Shares, or to the
required by any stock exchange, depository, or any operator of any clearance or settlement system, no person whose name is ent
a Member in the Register of Members shall be entitled to receive a share certificate for all her Shares of each class held by her
transferring a part of holding, to a certificate for the balance).

Any share certificate, if issued, shall specify the number of Shares in respect of which it is issued and the amount paid thereon or
that they are fully paid, as the case may be, and may otherwise be in such form as shall be determined by the Board. Such cer
may be under Seal. All certificates for Shares shall be consecutively numbered or otherwise identified and shall specify the St
which they relate. The name and address of the person to whom the Shares represented thereby are issued, with the number of
and date of issue, shall be entered in the Register of Members of the Company. All certificates surrendered to the Company for
shall be cancelled and no new certificate shall be issued until the former certificate for a like number of Shares shall hav
surrendered and cancelled. The Board

may authorise certificates to be issued with the seal and authorised signature(s) affixed by some method or system of mechanical
process. In respect of a Share or Shares held jointly by several persons, the Company shall not be bound to issue a certificate or
certificates to each such person, and the issue and delivery of a certificate or certificates to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient
delivery to all such holders.
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

26.1

26.2

If a share certificate is defaced, worn out, lost or destroyed, it may be renewed on such terms (if any) as to evidence and indem!|
on the payment of such expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in investigating such evidence, as the Board may prescrit
in the case of defacement or wearing out, upon delivery of the old certificate.

REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The Company shall maintain or cause to be maintained a Register of its Members in accordance with the Companies Acts.

If the Board considers it necessary or appropriate, the Company may establish and maintain a duplicate Register or Regi
Members at such location or locations within or outside Ireland as the Board thinks fit. The original Register of Members shall be
as the Register of Members for the purposes of these Articles and the Companies Acts.

The Company, or any agent(s) appointed by it to maintain the duplicate Register of Members in accordance with these Atrticles,
soon as practicable and on a regular basis record or procure the recording in the original Register of Members all transfers of
effected on any duplicate Register of Members and shall at all times maintain the original Register of Members in such mann
show at all times the Members for the time being and the Shares respectively held by them, in all respects in accordance \
Companies Acts.

The Company shall not be bound to register more than four persons as joint holders of any Share. If any Share shall stand in the
of two or more persons, the person first named in the Register of Members shall be deemed the sole holder thereof as regards se
notices and, subject to the provisions of these Atrticles, all or any other matters connected with the Company.

TRANSFER OF SHARES
All transfers of Shares may be effected by an instrument of transfer in the usual common form or in such other form as the Boz
approve. All instruments of transfer must be left at the registered office or at such other place as the Board may appoint and
instruments of transfer shall be retained by the Company.

The instrument of transfer shall be executed by or on behalf of the transferor. The instrument of transfer of any Share she
writing and shall be executed with a manual signature or facsimile signature (which may be machine imprinted or otherwise) |
behalf of the transferor provided that in the case of execution by facsimile signature by or on behalf of a transferor, the Boz
have previously been provided with a list of specimen signatures of the authorised signatories of such transferor and the Boe
be reasonably satisfied that such facsimile signature corresponds to one of those specimen signatures.

The instrument of transfer of any Share may be executed for and on behalf of the transferor by the Secretary or an A
Secretary, and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary shall be deemed to have been irrevocably appointed agent for the trans
such Share or Shares with full power to execute, complete and deliver in the name of and on behalf of the transferor of such ¢
Shares all such transfers of Shares held by the Members in the

share capital of the Company. Any document which records the name of the transferor, the name of the transferee, the class and

number of Shares agreed to be transferred, the date of the agreement to transfer Shares, shall, once executed by the transferor or
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the Secretary or Assistant Secretary as agent for the transferor, be deemed to be a proper instrument of transfer for the purposes of
the Companies Acts. The transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of the Share until the name of the transferee is entered on
the Register in respect thereof, and neither the title of the transferee nor the title of the transferor shall be affected by any irregularity
or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the sale should the Directors so determine.

26.3

26.4

The Company, at its absolute discretion, may, or may procure that a subsidiary of the Company shall, pay Irish stamp duty ar
a transfer of Shares on behalf of the transferee of such Shares of the Company. If stamp duty resulting from the transfer of Sl
the Company which would otherwise be payable by the transferee is paid by the Company or any subsidiary of the Comy
behalf of the transferee, then in those circumstances, the Company shall, on its behalf or on behalf of its subsidiary (as the ce
be), be entitled to (i) seek reimbursement of the stamp duty from the transferee, (ii) set-off the stamp duty against any di
payable to the transferee of those Shares and (iii) to claim a first and permanent lien on the Shares on which stamp duty h¢
paid by the Company or its subsidiary for the amount of stamp duty paid. The Company’s lien shall extend to all dividends
those Shares.

Notwithstanding the provisions of these Articles and subject to any regulations made under section 239 of the Companies A
or section 1086 of the Companies Act 2014, title to any Shares in the Company may also be evidenced and transferred w
written instrument in accordance with section 239 of the Companies Act 1990 or section 1086 of the Companies Act 2014
regulations made thereunder. The Directors shall have power to permit any class of Shares to be held in uncertificated forr
implement any arrangements they think fit for such evidencing and transfer which accord with such regulations and in particul
where appropriate, be entitled to disapply or modify all or part of the provisions in these Articles with respect to the requirer
written instruments of transfer and share certificates (if any), in order to give effect to such regulations.

27. The Board, may in its absolute discretion and without assigning any reason for its decision, decline to register any transfer of an'
which is not a fully paid Share. The Board may also, in its absolute discretion, and without assigning any reason, refuse to re
transfer of any Share unless:

27.1 the instrument of transfer is lodged with the Company accompanied by the certificate for the Shares (if any) to which it relates
shall upon registration of the transfer be cancelled) and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show t
of the transferor to make the transfer;

27.2 the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of Shares;

27.3 the instrument of transfer is properly stamped (in circumstances where stamping is required);

27.4 in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to which the Share is to be transferred does not exceed fo

27.5 it is satisfied, acting reasonably, that all applicable consents, authorisations, permissions or approvals of any governmental
agency in Ireland or any other applicable jurisdiction required to be obtained under relevant law prior to such transfer ha\
obtained; and

27.6 it is satisfied, acting reasonably, that the transfer would not violate the terms of any agreement to which the Company (or al
subsidiaries) and the transferor are party or subject.
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28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

If the Board shall refuse to register a transfer of any Share, it shall, within two (2) months after the date on which the transfer was
with the Company, send to each of the transferor and the transferee notice of such refusal.

The Company shall not be obligated to make any transfer to an infant or to a person in respect of whom an order has been ma
competent court or official on the grounds that she is or may be suffering from mental disorder or is otherwise incapable of manag
affairs or under other legal disability.

Upon every transfer of Shares the certificate (if any) held by the transferor shall be given up to be cancelled, and shall forth
cancelled accordingly, and subject to Article 18 a new certificate may be issued without charge to the transferee in respect of the
transferred to her, and if any of the Shares included in the certificate so given up shall be retained by the transferor, a new certit
respect thereof may be issued to her without charge. The Company shall also retain the instrument(s) of transfer.

REDEMPTION AND REPURCHASE OF SHARES
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and these Articles, the Company may, pursuant to the Companies Acts, ist
Shares of the Company which are to be redeemed or are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company or the Membe
Company on such terms and in such manner as may be determined by the Company in general meeting (by Special Resolution
recommendation of the Board.

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Company may, without prejudice to any relevant special rights attached to any class of
pursuant to the Companies Acts, purchase any of its own Shares (including any Redeemable Shares and without any oblig
purchase on any pro rata basis as between Members or Members of the same class) and may cancel any Shares so purchased
them as treasury shares (as defined by the Companies Acts) and may reissue any such Shares as Shares of any class or classes.

The Company may make a payment in respect of the redemption or purchase of its own Shares in any manner permitted
Companies Acts.

The holder of the Shares being purchased shall be bound to deliver up to the Company at its registered office or such other plac¢
Board shall specify, the certificate(s) (if any) thereof for cancellation and thereupon the Company shall pay to her the purcl
redemption monies or consideration in respect thereof.

VARIATION OF RIGHTS OF SHARES
If at any time the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of Shares, the rights attached to any class
otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the Shares of that class) may be varied or abrogated with the consent in writing of the
of three-quarters of all the votes of the issued Shares of that class, or with the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a
meeting of the holders of the Shares of that class.

The provisions of these Atrticles relating to general meetings of the Company shall apply mutatis mutandis to every such general |
of the holders of one class of Shares except

that the necessary quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing by proxy at least one-half of the issued Shares of the

class.
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37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

42.1

42.2

42.3

42.4

The rights conferred upon the holders of the Shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, unless ot
expressly provided by the terms of issue of the Shares of that class, be deemed to be varied by (i) the creation or issue of further
ranking pari passu therewith; (ii) a purchase or redemption by the Company of its own Shares; or (jii) the creation or issue for ft
(as determined by the Board) of further Shares ranking as regards participation in the profits or assets of the Company or othe
priority to them.

LIEN ON SHARES
The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every Share (not being a fully paid Share) for all monies (whether pi
payable or not) payable at a fixed time or called in respect of that Share. The Directors, at any time, may declare any Share to be
or in part exempt from the provisions of this Article. The Company’s lien on a Share shall extend to all monies payable in respect o

The Company may sell in such manner as the Directors determine any Share on which the Company has a lien if a sum in res
which the lien exists is presently payable and is not paid within fourteen clear days after notice demanding payment, and stating th
notice is not complied with the Share may be sold, has been given to the holder of the Share or to the person entitled to it by re
the death or bankruptcy of the holder.

To give effect to a sale, the Directors may authorise some person to execute an instrument of transfer of the Share sold t
accordance with the directions of, the transferee. The transferee shall be entered in the Register as the holder of the Share comg
any such transfer and she shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase monies nor shall her title to the Share be .
by any irregularity in or invalidity of the proceedings in reference to the sale, and after the name of the transferee has been entere
Register, the remedy of any person aggrieved by the sale shall be in damages only and against the Company exclusively.

The net proceeds of the sale, after payment of the costs, shall be applied in payment of so much of the sum for which the lien exis
presently payable and any residue (upon surrender to the Company for cancellation of the certificate for the Shares sold and subj
like lien for any monies not presently payable as existed upon the Shares before the sale) shall be paid to the person entitle
Shares at the date of the sale.

Whenever any law for the time being of any country, state or place imposes or purports to impose any immediate or future or |
liability upon the Company to make any payment or empowers any government or taxing authority or government official to req
Company to make any payment in respect of any Shares registered in the Register as held either jointly or solely by any Membe
respect of any dividends, bonuses or other monies due or payable or accruing due or which may become due or payable to such [
by the Company on or in respect of any Shares registered as mentioned above or for or on account or in respect of any Mem|
whether in consequence of:

the death of such Member;
the non-payment of any income tax or other tax by such Member;

the non-payment of any estate, probate, succession, death, stamp or other duty by the executor or administrator of such Me
by or out of her estate; or

any other act or thing;
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in every such case (except to the extent that the rights conferred upon holders of any class of Shares under the
Company liable to make additional payments in respect of sums withheld on accountIN WITNESS WHEREOF,
Alkermes and BIG have executed and delivered this Fifth Amendment as of the foregoing):

42.5

42.6

42.7

42.8

the Company shall be fully indemnified by such Member or her executor or administrator from all liability;

the Company shall have a lien upon all dividends and other monies payable in respect of the Shares registered in the Reg
held either jointly or solely by such Member for all monies paid or payable by the Company as referred to above in respect
Shares or in respect of any dividends or other monies thereon or for or on account or in respect of such Member und
consequence of any such law, together with interest at the rate of 15% per annum (or such other rate as the Board may det
thereon from the date of payment to date of repayment, and the Company may deduct or set off against such dividends ¢
monies so payable any monies paid or payable by the Company as referred to above together with interest at the same rate;

the Company may recover as a debt due from such Member or her executor or administrator (wherever constituted) any mon
by the Company under or in consequence of any such law and interest thereon at the rate and for the period referred to a
excess of any dividends or other monies then due or payable by the Company; and

the Company may if any such money is paid or payable by it under any such law as referred to above refuse to register a tra
any Shares by any such Member or her executor or administrator until such money and interest is set off or deducted as ref
above or in the case that it exceeds the amount of any such dividends or other monies then due or payable by the Compa
such excess is paid to the Company.

Subiject to the rights conferred upon the holders of any class of Shares, nothing in this Article 42 will prejudice or affect any right
or remedy which any law may confer or purport to confer on the Company. As between the Company and every such Member
as referred to above (and, her executor, administrator and estate, wherever constituted), any right or remedy which such law
shall confer or purport to confer on the Company shall be enforceable by the Company.

CALLS ON SHARES

43. Subiject to the terms of allotment, the Directors may make calls upon the Members in respect of any monies unpaid on their Sha
each Member (subject to receiving at least fourteen clear days’ notice specifying when and where payment is to be made) shall pa
Company as required by the notice the amount called on her Shares. A call may be required to be paid by instalments. A call
revoked before receipt by the Company of a sum due thereunder, in whole or in part and payment of a call may be postponed in v
in part.

44, A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the call was passed.

45, A person on whom a call is made shall (in addition to a transferee) remain liable notwithstanding the subsequent transfer of the £
respect of which the call is made.

46. The joint holders of a Share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect thereof.

47. If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable, the person from whom it is due and payable shall pay interesi
amount unpaid from the day it became due until it is paid at the rate fixed by the terms of allotment of the Share or in the notice of
or, if no rate is
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fixed, at the appropriate rate (as defined by the Companies Acts) but the Directors may waive payment of the interest wholly or in part.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

An amount payable in respect of a Share on allotment or at any fixed date, whether in respect of nominal value by way of premiu
be deemed to be a call and if it is not paid the provisions of these Articles shall apply as if that amount had become due and pay
virtue of a call.

Subject to the terms of allotment, the Directors may make arrangements on the issue of Shares for a difference between the hc
the amounts and times of payment of calls on their Shares.

The Directors may, if they think fit, receive from any Member willing to advance the same all or any part of the monies uncal
unpaid upon any Shares held by her, and upon all or any of the monies so advanced may pay (until the same would, but f
advance, become payable) interest at such rate as may be agreed upon between the Directors and the Member paying such
advance.

FORFEITURE
If a Member fails to pay any call or instalment of a call on the day appointed for payment thereof, the Directors, at any time th
during such times as any part of the call or instalment remains unpaid, may serve a notice on her requiring payment of so much of
or instalment as is unpaid together with any interest which may have accrued.

The notice shall state a further day (not earlier than the expiration of fourteen clear days from the date of service of the notice
before which the payment required by the notice is to be made, and shall state that in the event of non-payment at or before t
appointed the Shares in respect of which the call was made will be liable to be forfeited.

If the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not complied with then, at any time thereafter before the payment requirec
notice has been made, any Shares in respect of which the notice has been given may be forfeited by a resolution of the Director
effect. The forfeiture shall include all dividends or other monies payable in respect of the forfeited Shares and not paid before fo
The Directors may accept a surrender of any Share liable to be forfeited hereunder.

On the trial or hearing of any action for the recovery of any money due for any call it shall be sufficient to prove that the nam
Member sued is entered in the Register as the holder, or one of the holders, of the Shares in respect of which such debt accrued,
resolution making the call is duly recorded in the minute book and that notice of such call was duly given to the Member ¢
pursuance of these Articles, and it shall not be necessary to prove the appointment of the Directors who made such call nor ar
matters whatsoever, but the proof of the matters aforesaid shall be conclusive evidence of the debt.

A forfeited Share may be sold or otherwise disposed of on such terms and in such manner as the Directors think fit and at any time
a sale or disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled on such terms as the Directors think fit. Where for the purposes of its disposa
Share is to be transferred to any person, the Directors may authorise some person to execute an instrument of transfer of the £
that person. The Company may receive the consideration, if any, given for the Share on any sale or disposition thereof and may
a transfer of the Share in favour of the person to whom the Share is sold or disposed of and thereupon she shall be registerec
holder of the Share and shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money, if any, nor shall her title to the Sl
affected by any
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irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the forfeiture, sale or disposal of the Share.

56.

57.

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

A person whose Shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a Member in respect of the forfeited Shares, but nevertheless shall
liable to pay to the Company all monies which, at the date of forfeiture, were payable by her to the Company in respect of the

without any deduction or allowance for the value of the Shares at the time of forfeiture but her liability shall cease if and w
Company shall have received payment in full of all such monies in respect of the Shares.

A statutory declaration or affidavit that the declarant is a Director or the Secretary of the Company, and that a Share in the Comp:
been duly forfeited on the date stated in the declaration, shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein stated as against all |
claiming to be entitled to the Share.

The provisions of these Atrticles as to forfeiture shall apply in the case of hon-payment of any sum which, by the terms of issue of ¢
becomes payable at a fixed time, whether on account of the nominal value of the Share or by way of premium, as if the same h
payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.

The Directors may accept the surrender of any Share which the Directors have resolved to have been forfeited upon such ter
conditions as may be agreed and, subject to any such terms and conditions, a surrendered Share shall be treated as if it he
forfeited.

NON-RECOGNITION OF TRUSTS

The Company shall not be obligated to recognise any person as holding any Share upon any trust (except as is otherwise pro
these Atrticles or to the extent required by law) and the Company shall not be bound by or be compelled in any way to recognis
when having notice thereof) any equitable, contingent, future, or partial interest in any Share, or any interest in any fractional ¢
Share, or (except only as is otherwise provided by these Articles or the Companies Acts) any other rights in respect of any Share
an absolute right to the entirety thereof in the registered holder. This shall not preclude the Company from requiring the Membt
transferee of Shares to furnish to the Company with information as to the beneficial ownership of any Share when such inform
reasonably required by the Company.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES
In case of the death of a Member, the survivor or survivors where the deceased was a joint holder, and the legal personal represe
of the deceased where she was a sole holder, shall be the only persons recognised by the Company as having any title to her int
the Shares, but nothing herein contained shall release the estate of any such deceased holder from any liability in respect of any
which had been held by her solely or jointly with other persons.

Any person becoming entitled to a Share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy or liquidation or dissolution of a Member (o
other way than by transfer) may, upon such evidence being produced as may from time to time be required by the Board and su
hereinafter provided, elect either to be registered himself as holder of the Share or to make such transfer of the Share to suc
person nominated by her and to have such person registered as the transferee thereof, but the Board shall, in either case, have th
right to decline or
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suspend

registration as they would have had in the case of a transfer of the Share by that Member before her death or bankruptcy as the

case may be.

63.

64.

65.

66.

66.1

66.2

66.3

66.4

66.5

66.6

67.

67.1

67.2

REFIN

©2024 Refi

If the person so becoming entitled shall elect to be registered himself as holder, she shall deliver or send to the Company a n
writing signed by her stating that she so elects.

Subject to Article 65, a person becoming entitled to a Share by reason of the death or bankruptcy or liquidation or dissolution of the
(or in any other case than by transfer) shall be entitled to the same dividends and other advantages to which she would be entitle
were the registered holder of the Share, except that she shall not, before being registered as a Member in respect of the St
entitled in respect of it to exercise any right conferred by Membership in relation to meetings of the Company provided however
Board may at any time give notice requiring any such person to elect either to be registered himself or to transfer the Share ar
notice is not complied with within ninety (90) days the Board may thereafter withhold payment of all dividends, bonuses or other
payable in respect of the Share until the requirements of the notice have been complied with.

The Board may at any time give notice requiring a person entitled by transmission to a Share to elect either to be registered hims
transfer the Share and if the notice is not complied with within sixty (60) days the Board may withhold payment of all dividends ar
monies payable in respect of the Share until the requirements of the notice have been complied with.

AMENDMENT OF MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION;
CHANGE OF LOCATION OF REGISTERED OFFICE; AND
ALTERATION OF CAPITAL
The Company may by Ordinary Resolution:

divide its share capital into several classes and attach to them respectively any preferential, deferred, qualified or specia
privileges or conditions;

increase the authorised share capital by such sum to be divided into Shares of such nominal value, as such Ordinary Re
shall prescribe;

consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into Shares of larger amount than its existing Shares;

by subdivision of its existing Shares or any of them divide the whole or any part of its share capital into Shares of smaller |
value than is fixed by the Memorandum subject to the Companies Acts, so, however, that in the sub-division the proportion k
the amount paid and the amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced Share shall be the same as it was in the case of the She
which the reduced Share is derived;

cancel any Shares that at the date of the passing of the relevant Ordinary Resolution have not been taken or agreed to be ti
any person; and

subject to applicable law, change the currency denomination of its share capital.
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Company may:

by Special Resolution change its name, alter or add to the Memorandum with respect to any objects, powers or other
specified therein or alter or add to these Articles;

by Special Resolution reduce its company capital (including its share capital and any capital redemption reserve or share p
account) in any way it thinks expedient and, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, may
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68.

69.

70.

71.

67.3

(a) extinguish or reduce the liability on any of its shares in respect of share capital not paid up;

(b) either with or without extinguishing or reducing liability on any of its shares, cancel any paid up company capital \
lost or unrepresented by available assets; and

(c) either with or without extinguishing or reducing liability on any of its shares, pay off any paid up company capital wh
excess of the wants of the Company,

and in relation to such reductions, the Company may by Special Resolution determine the terms upon which the reduction is
to be effected, including in the case of a reduction of part only of any class of Shares, those Shares to be affected; and
by resolution of the Directors change the location of its registered office.

Whenever as a result of an alteration or reorganisation of the share capital of the Company any Members would become en
fractions of a Share, the Directors may, on behalf of those Members, sell the Shares representing the fractions for the be
reasonably obtainable to any person and distribute the proceeds of sale in due proportion among those Members, and the Direct
authorise any person to execute an instrument of transfer of the Shares to, or in accordance with the directions of, the purchas
transferee shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall her title to the Shares be affected
irregularity in or invalidity of the proceedings in reference to the sale.

CLOSING REGISTER OF MEMBERS OR FIXING RECORD DATE

For the purpose of determining Members entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of Members or any adjournment the
Members entitled to receive payment of any dividend, or in order to make a determination of Members for any other proper purp¢
Board may provide, subject to the requirements of the Companies Acts , that the Register of Members shall be closed for tran
such times and for such periods, not exceeding in the whole thirty (30) days in each year. If the Register of Members shall be sc
for the purpose of determining Members entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of Members such Register of Members sha
closed for at least five (5) days immediately preceding such meeting and the record date for such determination shall be the dat
closure of the Register of Members.

In lieu of, or apart from, closing the Register of Members, the Board may fix in advance a date as the record date (a) for at
determination of Members entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the Members, which record date shall not be more thai
(90) days nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting, and (b) for the purpose of determining the Members en
receive payment of any dividend, or in order to make a determination of Members for any other proper purpose, which record de
not be more than ninety (90) days prior to the date of payment of such dividend or the taking of any action to which such determin
Members is relevant. The record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted
Directors.

If the Register of Members is not so closed and no record date is fixed for the determination of Members entitled to notice of or to
a meeting of Members or Members entitled to receive payment of a dividend, the date immediately preceding the date on which r
the meeting is deemed given under these Articles or the date on which the resolution of the Directors declaring such dividend is a
as the case may be, shall be the record date for such determination of Members. When a determination of Members entitled to
any meeting of Members has been made as provided in these Articles, such determination shall apply to
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any adjournment thereof; provided, however, that the Directors may fix a new record date of the adjourned meeting, if they think fit.

72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

7.

78.

79.

GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board shall convene and the Company shall hold annual general meetings in accordance with the requirements of the Con
Acts.

The Board may, whenever it thinks fit, and shall, on the requisition in writing of Members holding such number of Shares as is pre
by, and made in accordance with, the Companies Acts, convene a general meeting in the manner required by the Companies /
general meetings other than annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary general meetings.

The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its annual general meeting in addition to any other meeting in that ye
shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it. Not more than fifteen (15) months shall elapse between the date of one
general meeting of the Company and that of the next. Subject to the Companies Acts, all general meetings may be held ou
Ireland.

Each general meeting shall be held at such time and place as specified in the notice of meeting.

The Board may, in its absolute discretion, authorise the Secretary to postpone any general meeting called in accordance \
provisions of these Atrticles (other than a meeting requisitioned under Article 73 of these Articles or the postponement of which w
contrary to the Companies Acts, law or a court order pursuant to the Companies Acts) if the Board considers that, for any reas
impractical or unreasonable to hold the general meeting, provided that notice of postponement is given to each Member before t
for such meeting. Fresh notice of the date, time and place for the postponed meeting shall be given to each Member in accordar
the provisions of these Articles.

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts allowing a general meeting to be called by shorter notice, an annual general n
and an extraordinary general meeting called for the passing of a Special Resolution, shall be called by at least twenty-one (21) cle
notice and all other extraordinary general meetings shall be called by at least fourteen (14) clear days’ notice. Such notice shall s
date, time, place of the meeting and, in the case of an extraordinary general meeting, the general nature of the busines:
considered. Every notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is given or deemed to be given and of the day for which it is gi
shall specify such other details as are required by applicable law or the relevant code, rules and regulations applicable to the listin
Shares on the Exchange.

A general meeting of the Company shall, whether or not the notice specified in this Article has been given and whether or
provisions of the Articles regarding general meetings have been complied with, be deemed to have been duly convened if applice
so permits and it is so agreed by the Auditors and by all the Members entitled to attend and vote thereat or their proxies.

The notice convening an annual general meeting shall specify the meeting as such, and the notice convening a meeting to pass a
Resolution shall specify the intention to propose the resolution as a Special Resolution. Notice of every general meeting shall be
any manner permitted by these Articles to all Members other than such as, under the provisions
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hereof or the terms of issue of the Shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such notice from the Company.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

There shall appear with reasonable prominence in every notice of general meetings of the Company a statement that a Member
to attend and vote is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of her and that any proxy need not be a |
of the Company.

The accidental omission to give notice of a general meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by any person entitled to
notice shall not invalidate the proceedings of that meeting.

In cases where instruments of proxy are sent out with notices, the accidental omission to send such instrument of proxy to, or t
receipt of such instrument of proxy by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not invalidate any resolution passed or any pro
at any such meeting. A Member present, either in person or by proxy, at any general meeting of the Company or of the holders
class of Shares in the Company, will be deemed to have received notice of that meeting and, where required, of the purpose for
was called.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an extraordinary general meeting, and also that is transacted at an
general meeting, with the exception of:

(a) the consideration of the Company’s statutory financial statements and the report of the directors and the repor
statutory auditors on those statements and that report;

(b) the review by the members of the Company’s affairs;

(c) the declaration of a dividend (if any) of an amount not exceeding the amount recommended by the directors;
(d) the authorisation of the directors to approve the remuneration of the statutory auditors; and

(e) the election and re-election of directors.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. One or more Members present in person or k
holding not less than a majority of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Company entitled to vote at the meeting in question
a quorum.

If within one hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened upon the requis
Members, shall be dissolved and in any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time ar
or to such other time or such other place as the Board may determine and if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present wi
hour from the time appointed for the meeting the Members present shall be a quorum.

If the Board wishes to make this facility available to Members for a specific or all general meetings of the Company, a Memk
participate in any general meeting of the Company, by means of a telephone, video, electronic or similar communication equipt
way of which all persons participating in such meeting can communicate with each other

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 84/116
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

simultaneously and instantaneously and such participation shall be deemed to constitute presence in person at the meeting.

87. Each Director and the Auditors shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the Company.

88. The Chairman, if any, of the Board, and, if the Chairman is not present, such officer or other person as the Board shall designa
preside as chairman at every general meeting of the Company.

89. The Chairman may, with the consent of any general meeting duly constituted hereunder, and shall if so directed by the meeting,
the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other t
business left unfinished, or which might have been transacted, at the meeting from which the adjournment took place. When a
meeting is adjourned for thirty (30) days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original n
save as aforesaid it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an ad
general meeting.

90.

90.1 Subject to the Companies Acts, a resolution may only be put to a vote at a general meeting of the Company or of any |
Members if:

@
(b)
(©

(d)
(e)

it is proposed by or at the direction of the Board; or
it is proposed at the direction of the Court; or

it is proposed on the requisition in writing of such number of Members as is prescribed by, and is made in accordan
the Companies Acts;

it is proposed pursuant to, and in accordance with the procedures and requirements of, Articles 98 or 99; or

the Chairman of the meeting in her absolute discretion decides that the resolution may properly be regarded as wi
scope of the meeting.

90.2 No amendment may be made to a resolution, at or before the time when it is put to a vote, unless the Chairman of the meetin
absolute discretion decides that the amendment or the amended resolution may properly be put to a vote at that meeting.

90.3 If the Chairman of the meeting rules a resolution or an amendment to a resolution admissible or out of order (as the case n
the proceedings of the meeting or on the resolution in question shall not be invalidated by any error in her ruling. Any ruling
Chairman of the meeting in relation to a resolution or an amendment to a resolution shall be final and conclusive.

91. Except (i) where a greater majority is required by the Companies Acts or these Atrticles or any applicable law or regulation to wi
Company is subject or (ii) as otherwise required by Article 151, any question proposed for a decision of the Members at any
meeting of the
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Company or a decision of any class of Members at a separate meeting of any class of Shares shall be decided by an Ordinary
Resolution.

92.

93.

94.

95.

96.

97.

98.

99.

At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll. The Board or the Chairman may de
the manner in which the poll is to be taken and the manner in which the votes are to be counted.

A poll demanded on the election of the Chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. A poll demanded on ar
question shall be taken at such time, not being more than ten (10) days from the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting at wl
vote was taken, as the Chairman of the meeting directs, and any business other than that on which a poll has been demanded
proceeded with pending the taking of the poll.

No notice need be given of a poll not taken immediately. The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the general |
at which the poll was demanded. On a poll a Member entitled to more than one (1) vote need not use all her votes or cast all th
she uses in the same way.

If authorised by the Board, any vote taken by written ballot may be satisfied by a ballot submitted by electronic or telephonic transr
provided that any such electronic or telephonic submission must either set forth or be submitted with information from which it
determined that the electronic submission has been authorised by the Member or proxy.

The Board may, and at any general meeting, the chairman of such meeting may make such arrangement and impose any require
restriction it or she considers appropriate to ensure the security of a general meeting including, without limitation, requirem:
evidence of identity to be produced by those attending the meeting, the searching of personal property and the restriction of ite
may be taken into the meeting place. The Board and, at any general meeting, the chairman of such meeting are entitled to refuse
a person who refuses to comply with such arrangements, requirements or restrictions.

Subject to the Companies Acts, a resolution in writing signed by all of the Members for the time being entitled to attend and vote «
resolution at a general meeting (or being bodies corporate by their duly authorised representatives) shall be as valid and effectiv
purposes as if the resolution had been passed at a general meeting of the Company duly convened and held, and may consist of
documents in like form each signed by one or more persons, and if described as a special resolution shall be deemed to be a
resolution within the meaning of the Companies Acts. Any such resolution shall be served on the Company.

NOMINATIONS OF DIRECTORS

Nominations of persons for election to the Board (other than Directors to be nominated by any series of preferred shares
separately as a class) at a general meeting may only be made (a) pursuant to the Company’s notice of meeting pursuant to Artic
the recommendation of the Board, (b) by or at the direction of the Board or any authorised committee thereof or (c) by any Meml
(i) complies with the notice procedures set forth in Articles 99 or 100, as applicable, (ii) was a Member at the time such notice is di
to the Secretary and on the record date for the determination of Members entitled to vote at such general meeting and (jii) is pre
the relevant general meeting, either in person or by proxy, to present her nomination, provided, however, that Members shall
entitled to nominate persons for election to the Board at annual general meetings or at general meetings called specifically
purpose of electing Directors.

For nominations of persons for election to the Board (other than Directors to be nominated by any series of preferred shares
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separately as a class) to be properly brought before an

annual general meeting by a Member, such annual general meeting must have been called for the purpose of, among other things,
electing Directors and such Member must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary. To be timely, a Member’s notice
shall be delivered to the Secretary at the registered office of the Company, or such other Address as the Secretary may designate, not
less than one hundred and twenty (120) days nor more than one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the first anniversary of the date
the Company’s proxy statement was first released to Members in connection with the prior year’'s annual general meeting; provided,
however, that in the event the date of the annual general meeting is changed by more than thirty (30) days from the first anniversary date
of the prior year’s annual general meeting, notice by the Member to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the one hundred and
eightieth (180th) day prior to such annual general meeting and not later than the later of the one hundred and twentieth (120th) day prior
to such annual general meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is
first made. Such Member’s notice shall set forth (a) as to each person whom the Member proposes to nominate for election or re-election
as a Director, all information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of Directors in an
election contest, or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of the
United States of America, as amended (the “ Exchange Act "), or any successor provisions thereto, including such person’s written
consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a Director of the Company if elected and (b) as to the
Member giving the notice (i) the name and Address of such Member, as they appear on the Register of Members, (ii) the class and
number of Shares that are owned beneficially and/or of record by such Member, (iii) a representation that the Member is a registered
holder of Shares entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such nomination
and (iv) a statement as to whether the Member intends or is part of a group that intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of
proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Company’s outstanding share capital required to approve or elect the nominee and/or
(xi) otherwise to solicit proxies from Members in support of such nomination. The Board may require any proposed nominee to furnish
such other information as it may reasonably require to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a Director of the
Company, including such evidence satisfactory to the Board that such nominee has no interests that would limit such nominee’s ability to
fulfil her duties as a Director.

100. For nominations of persons for election to the Board (other than directors to be nominated by any series of preferred shares
separately as a class) to be properly brought before a general meeting called for the purpose of the election of Directors, other
annual general meeting by a Member, such Member must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary. To be t
Member’s notice shall be delivered to the Secretary at the registered office of the Company or such other Address as the Secret:
designate, not earlier than the one hundred and eightieth (180th) day prior to such general meeting and not later of the one hund
twentieth (120th) day prior to such general meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement is fir:
of the date of the general meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected at such meeting. Such Member’s noti
set forth the same information as is required by provisions (a) and (b) of Article 99.

101. Subject to the Companies Acts, unless otherwise provided by the terms of any series of preferred shares or any agreement
Members or other agreement approved by the Board, only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set
Articles 99 and 100 shall be eligible to serve as Directors of the Company. If the Chairman of a general meeting determines
proposed nomination was not made in compliance with Articles 99 and 100, she shall declare to the meeting that nomination is d
and such defective nomination shall be disregarded. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of these Articles,

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 87/116
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

if the Member (or a qualified representative of the Member) does not appear at the general meeting to present her nomination, such
nomination shall be disregarded.

102.

103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

108.

VOTES OF MEMBERS

Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of Shares, every Member of record pre
person or by proxy shall have one vote for each Share registered in her name in the Register of Members.

In the case of joint holders of record the vote of the senior holder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be acce
the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders, and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the
stand in the Register of Members.

A Member of unsound mind, or in respect of whom an order has been made by any court, having jurisdiction in lunacy, may vote
committee, receiver, curator bonis, or other person in the nature of a committee, receiver or curator bonis appointed by that court,
such committee, receiver, curator bonis or other persons may vote by proxy.

No Member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting unless she is registered as a Member on the record date for such mee

No objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter except at the general meeting or adjourned general meeting at which 1
objected to is given or tendered and every vote not disallowed at such general meeting shall be valid for all purposes. Any such o
made in due time shall be referred to the Chairman of the general meeting whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

Votes may be given either personally or by proxy. A Member may appoint more than one proxy or the same proxy under one
instruments to attend and vote at a meeting and may appoint one proxy to vote both in favour of and against the same resolution
proportion as specified in the instrument appointing the proxy.

PROXIES AND CORPORATE REPRESENTATIVES

108.1 Every Member entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote on her behalf &

appoint more than one proxy to attend, speak and vote at the same meeting. The appointment of a proxy or corporate repres
shall be in such form consistent with the Act and may be accepted by the Company at such place and at such time as the E
the Secretary shall from time to time determine, subject to applicable requirements of the United States Securities and Ex
Commission and the Exchange on which the Shares are listed. No such instrument appointing a proxy or corporate repres:
shall be voted or acted upon after two (2) years from its date.

108.2  Without limiting the foregoing, the Directors may from time to time permit appointments of a proxy to be made by mean

electronic or internet communication or facility and may in a similar manner permit supplements to, or amendments or revoca
any such electronic or internet communication or facility to be made. The Directors may in addition prescribe the me
determining the time at which any such electronic or internet communication or facility is to be treated as received by the Cc
The Directors may treat any such electronic or internet communication or facility which purports to be or is expressed to be
behalf of a Member as sufficient evidence of the authority of the person sending that instruction to send it on behalf of that Me
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109.

110.

111.

112.

113.

114.

115.

116.

Any body corporate which is a Member of the Company may authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative
meeting of the Company or of any class of Members of the Company and the person so authorised shall be entitled to exercise th
powers on behalf of the body corporate which she represents as that body corporate could exercise if it were an individual Membe
Company. The Company may require evidence from the body corporate of the due authorisation of such person to act
representative of the relevant body corporate.

An appointment of proxy relating to more than one meeting (including any adjournment thereof) having once been received
Company for the purposes of any meeting shall not require to be delivered, deposited or received again by the Company for the pi
of any subsequent meeting to which it relates.

Receipt by the Company of an appointment of proxy in respect of a meeting shall not preclude a Member from attending and votin
meeting or at any adjournment thereof which attendance and voting will automatically cancel any proxy previously submitted.

An appointment proxy shall be valid, unless the contrary is stated therein, as well for any adjournment of the meeting as for the me
which it relates.

113.1 A vote given in accordance with the terms of an appointment of proxy or a resolution authorising a representative to act on b

a body corporate shall be valid notwithstanding the death or insanity of the principal, or the revocation of the appointment of |
of the authority under which the proxy was appointed or of the resolution authorising the representative to act or transfer of th
in respect of which the proxy was appointed or the authorisation of the representative to act was given, provided that no intin
writing (whether in electronic form or otherwise) of such death, insanity, revocation or transfer shall have been received
Company at the Office, before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the appointment of proxy is
at which the representative acts; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that where such intimation is given in electronic form it shall ha
received by the Company before the commencement of the meeting.

113.2 The Directors may send, at the expense of the Company, by post, electronic mail or otherwise, to the Members forms

appointment of a proxy (with or without stamped envelopes for their return) for use at any general meeting or at any class n
either in blank or nominating any one or more of the Directors or any other persons in the alternative.

DIRECTORS
The Board may determine the size of the Board from time to time at its absolute discretion.

The remuneration to be paid to the Directors shall be such remuneration as the Directors shall determine. Such remuneration ¢
deemed to accrue from day to day. The Directors shall also be entitled to be paid their travelling, hotel and other expenses |
incurred by them in going to, attending and returning from meetings of the Directors, or any committee of the Directors, or
meetings of the Company, or otherwise in connection with the business of the Company, or to receive a fixed allowance in respect
as may be determined by the Board from time to time, or a combination partly of one such method and partly the other.

The Board may approve additional remuneration to any Director undertaking any special work or services for, or undertaking any
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mission on behalf of, the Company other than her ordinary routine work as a Director. Any fees paid to a Director who is also coi
solicitor

to the Company, or otherwise serves it in a professional capacity shall be in addition to her remuneration as a Director.

117.

118.

119.

120.

121.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INTERESTS

A Director or an officer of the Company who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract, transa
arrangement or proposed contract, transaction or arrangement with the Company shall, in accordance with the Companies Acts,
the nature of her interest at the first opportunity either (a) at a meeting of the Board at which the question of entering into the c
transaction or arrangement is first taken into consideration, if the Director or officer of the Company knows this interest then exis
any other case, at the first meeting of the Board after learning that she is or has become so interested or (b) by providing a genere
to the Directors declaring that she is a director or an officer of, or has an interest in, a person and is to be regarded as intereste(
transaction or arrangement made with that person, and after giving such general notice it shall not be necessary to give specie
relating to any particular transaction.

(a) A Director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (other than the office of its Audi
conjunction with her office of Director for such period and on such terms as to remuneration and otherwise as the
may determine.

(b) A Director may use the property of the Company pursuant to or in connection with: the exercise or performance of hi
duties, functions and powers as Director or employee; the terms of any contract of service or employment or |
appointment; and, or in the alternative, any other usage authorised by the Directors (or a person authorised
Directors) from time to time; and including in each case for a Director’s own benefit or for the benefit of another pers¢

(c) As recognised by section 228(1)(e) of the Companies Act 2014, the directors may agree to restrict their power to €
an independent judgment but only where this has been expressly approved by a resolution of the board of director
Company.

A Director may act by himself or her firm in a professional capacity for the Company (other than as its Auditors) and she or her fi
be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if she were not a Director.

A Director may be or become a director, managing director, joint managing director, deputy managing director, executive
manager or other officer or Member of any other company or otherwise interested in any company promoted by the Company or i
the Company may be interested as shareholder or otherwise, and no such Director shall be accountable to the Company
remuneration or other benefits received by her as a director, managing director, joint managing director, deputy managing ¢
executive director, manager or other officer or Member of such other company; provided that she has declared the nature of her
with, or interest in, such company to the Board in accordance with Article 117.

No person shall be disqualified from the office of Director or from being an officer of the Company or prevented by such offi
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contracting with the Company, either as vendor, purchaser or otherwise, nor shall any such contract or any contract or transaction
into by or on behalf of the Company in which any Director or officer of the Company shall be in any way interested be or be liab
avoided, nor shall any Director or officer of the

Company so contracting or being so interested be liable to account to the Company for any profit realised by any such contract or
transaction by reason of such Director or officer of the Company holding office or of the fiduciary relation thereby established; provided
that:

121.1 she has declared the nature of her interest in such contract or transaction to the Board in accordance with Article 117; and

121.2 the contract or transaction is approved by a majority of the disinterested Directors, notwithstanding the fact that the disint
Directors may represent less than a quorum.

122. A Director may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board which authorises or approves the c
transaction or arrangement in which she is interested and she shall be at liberty to vote in respect of any contract, transa
arrangement in which she is interested, provided that the nature of the interest of any Director in any such contract or transaction
disclosed by her in accordance with Article 117, at or prior to its consideration and any vote thereon.

123. For the purposes of Article 117:

123.1 a general notice given to the Directors that a Director is to be regarded as having an interest of the nature and extent specifie
notice in any transaction or arrangement in which a specified person or class of persons is interested shall be deemed
disclosure that the Director has an interest in any such transaction of the nature and extent so specified;

123.2 an interest of which a Director has no knowledge and of which it is unreasonable to expect her to have knowledge shall
treated as an interest of her; and

123.3  a copy of every declaration made and notice given under Article 117 shall be entered within three (3) days after the making c
thereof in a book kept for this purpose. Such book shall be open for inspection without charge by any Director, Secret
Auditors or Member of the Company at the registered office and shall be produced at every general meeting of the Company
any meeting of the Directors if any Director so requests in sufficient time to enable the book to be available at the meeting.

POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS
124. The business of the Company shall be managed by the Directors, who may pay all expenses incurred in promoting and registe
Company and may exercise all such powers of the Company as are not, by the Companies Acts or by these Articles, require
exercised by the Company in general meeting, subject, nevertheless, to any of these Articles and to the provisions of the Cor
Acts. No resolution made by the Company in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Directors that would have beer
that resolution had not been made.

125. The Board shall have the power to appoint and remove executives in such terms as the Board sees fit and to give such tit
responsibilities to those executives as it sees fit.
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126.

127.

The Company may have, for use in any place abroad, an official seal.

Subject as otherwise provided with these Articles, the Directors may exercise the voting powers conferred by shares of ar
company held or owned by the Company in such manner in all respects as they think fit and in particular they may exercise thei
powers in favour of any resolution appointing the Directors or any of them as directors or officers of such other

company or providing for the payment of remuneration or pensions to the directors or officers of such other company.

128.

129.

130.

131.

132.

133.

All cheques, promissory notes, drafts, bills of exchange and other negotiable instruments and all receipts for money paid to the C¢
shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or otherwise executed, as the case may be, by such person or persons and in such
as the Directors shall from time to time by resolution determine.

The Directors may from time to time authorise such person or persons as they see fit to perform all acts, including without prejudic
foregoing, to effect a transfer of any shares, bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness or obligations, subscription rights, warrai
other securities in another body corporate in which the Company holds an interest and to issue the necessary powers of attorney
same; and each such person is authorised on behalf of the Company to vote such securities, to appoint proxies with respect there
to execute consents, waivers and releases with respect thereto, or to cause any such action to be taken.

The Board may exercise all powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge its undertaking, property and
capital or any part thereof and to issue debentures, debenture stock, mortgages, bonds or such other securities whether outrigl
security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party.

The Directors may procure the establishment and maintenance of or participate in, or contribute to any non-contributory or coni
pension or superannuation fund, scheme or arrangement or life assurance scheme or arrangement for the benefit of, and pay, pro
or procure the grant of donations, gratuities, pensions, allowances, benefits or emoluments to any persons (including Directors
officers) who are or shall have been at any time in the employment or service of the Company or of any company which is o
subsidiary of the Company or of the predecessor in business of the Company or any such subsidiary or holding company and the
widows, families, relatives or dependants of any such persons. The Directors may also procure the establishment and subsic
subscription to and support of any institutions, associations, clubs, funds or trusts calculated to be for the benefit of any such per
aforesaid or otherwise to advance the interests and well being of the Company or of any such other company as aforesai
Members, and payments for or towards the issuance of any such persons as aforesaid and subscriptions or guarantees of mc
charitable or benevolent objects or for any exhibition or for any public, general or useful object. Provided that any Director shall be
to retain any benefit received by her under this Article, subject only, where the Companies Acts require, to disclosure to the Memhb
the approval of the Company in general meeting.

The Board may from time to time provide for the management of the affairs of the Company in such manner as it shall think fit
specific delegation provisions contained in the Articles shall not limit the general powers conferred by these Articles.

MINUTES

The Board shall cause minutes to be made in books kept for the purpose of all appointments of officers made by the Board, all res
and proceedings at meetings of the Company or the holders of any class of Shares, of the Directors and of committees of Di
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134.

including the names of the Directors present at each meeting.

DELEGATION OF THE BOARD’S POWERS
The Board may delegate any of its powers (with power to sub-delegate) to any committee consisting of one or more Directors. Thi
may also delegate to any Director such of its powers as it considers desirable to be exercised by her. Any such delegation may b
subject to any conditions the Board may impose, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion

of its own powers and may be revoked or altered. Subject to any such conditions, the proceedings of a committee of the Board shall be
governed by the Articles regulating the proceedings of Directors, so far as they are capable of applying.

135.

136.

137.

138.

139.

140.

The Board may by power of attorney or otherwise appoint any person to be the agent of the Company on such conditions as ths
may determine, provided that the delegation is not to the exclusion of its own powers and may be revoked by the Board at any tim«

The Board may by power of attorney or otherwise appoint any company, firm, person or body of persons, whether nominated dit
indirectly by the Board, to be the attorney or authorised signatory of the Company for such purpose and with such powers, authori
discretions (not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the Board under these Articles) and for such period and subject
conditions as they may think fit, and any such powers of attorney or other appointment may contain such provisions for the protect
convenience of persons dealing with any such attorneys or authorised signatories as the Board may think fit and may also authol
such attorney or authorised signatory to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in her.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS Fifth Amendment Effective Date.

The Company shall have a chairman, who shall be a Director and shall be elected by the Board. In addition to the chairman, the C
and the Secretary, the Company may have such officers as the Board may from time to time determine.

PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS
Except as otherwise provided by these Articles, the Directors shall meet together for the despatch of business, convening, adjourr
otherwise regulating their meetings and procedures as they think fit. Questions arising at any meeting shall be decided by a ma
votes of the Directors present at a meeting at which there is a quorum. Each Director shall have one vote.

Regular meetings of the Board may be held at such times and places as may be provided for in resolutions adopted by the Bo
additional notice of a regularly scheduled meeting of the Board shall be required.

A Director may, and the Secretary on the requisition of a Director shall, at any time summon a meeting of the Directors by at lea
eight (48) hours’ notice in writing to every Director which notice shall set forth the general nature of the business to be considerec
notice is waived by all the Directors either at, before or after the meeting is held and provided further if notice is given in per
telephone, cable, telex, telecopy or email the same shall be deemed to have been given on the day it is delivered to the Dire
transmitting organisation as the case may be. The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting of the Directors to, or the non-re
notice of a meeting by any person entitled to receive notice shall not invalidate the proceedings of that meeting.
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141.

142.

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board may be fixed by the Board and unless so fixed shall be a
of the Directors in office.

The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but if and so long as their number is reduced be
number fixed by or pursuant to these Articles as the necessary quorum of Directors, the continuing Directors or Director may ac
purpose of

increasing the number of Directors to that number, or of summoning a general meeting of the Company, but for no other purpose.

143.

144,

145.

146.

147.

148.

The Directors may elect a Chairman of their Board and determine the period for which she is to hold office; but if no such Chai
elected, or if at any meeting the Chairman is not present within five (5) minutes after the time appointed for holding the sa
Directors present may choose one of their number to be a Chairman of the meeting.

All acts done by any meeting of the Directors or of a committee of Directors shall, notwithstanding that it be afterwards discove
there was some defect in the appointment of any Director, or that they or any of them were disqualified, be as valid as if eve
person had been duly appointed and qualified to be a Director.

Members of the Board or of any committee thereof may participate in a meeting of the Board or of such committee by m:
conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can he
other and participation in a meeting pursuant to this provision shall constitute presence in person at such meeting. Unless ot
determined by the Directors the meeting shall be deemed to be held at the place where the Chairman is at the start of the meeting

A resolution in writing (in one or more counterparts), signed by all the Directors for the time being or all the members of a comn
Directors shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Directors or committee as the case may
convened and held.

RESIGNATION AND DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
The office of a Director shall be vacated:

147.1 if she resigns her office, on the date on which notice of her resignation is delivered to the Registered Office or tendered at a |

of the Board or on such later date as may be specified in such notice; or

147.2  on her being prohibited by law from being a Director; or

147.3  on her ceasing to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the Companies Acts.

The Company may, by Ordinary Resolution, in accordance with the Companies Acts, remove any Director before the expiratiol
period of office notwithstanding anything in these Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director. Such |
shall be without prejudice to any claim such Director may have for damages for breach of any contract of service between her
Company.
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149.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

Until the close of the 2024 annual general meeting, the Directors shall be divided into three classes, designated Class |, Clas
Class lll. Any allocation of the Directors into such classes shall be made by the decision of the affirmative vote of a majority of th:
then in office. The term of the Class | directors shall terminate on the date of the 2024 annual general meeting; the term of the
directors shall terminate on the date of the 2022 annual general meeting; and the term of the Class Il directors shall terminate on 1
of the 2023 annual general meeting. At each annual general meeting, beginning in 2022, each Director whose term expires at that
general meeting shall be eligible for re-election for a one-year term. Save as otherwise permitted in or prescribed by these
(including Article 114 and Article 151), Directors will be elected by way of Ordinary Resolution of the Company in general meetin
case will a decrease in the number of Directors shorten the term of any incumbent

Director. A Director shall hold office until the close of the annual general meeting for the year in which her or his term expires and until her
or his successor shall be elected and shall qualify, subject, however, to prior death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal
from office. Any vacancy on the Board, including a vacancy that results from an increase in the number of Directors or from the death,
resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal of a Director, shall be deemed a casual vacancy and, subject to the terms of any one or
more classes or series of preferred shares (if any), shall only be filled by decision of a majority of the Board then in office. Until the 2024
annual general meeting, any Director appointed to fill a vacancy shall hold office for the same remaining term as that of the class that she
has been designated in accordance with these Atrticles. After the 2024 annual general meeting, any Director appointed to fill a vacancy
shall hold office until the next annual general meeting. A Director retiring from the Board at a general meeting shall retain office until the
close or adjournment of such meeting.

150.

151.

During any vacancy in the Board, the remaining Directors shall have full power to act as the Board.

Subject to Article 114, each Director shall be elected by an Ordinary Resolution at an annual general meeting (or an
extraordinary general meeting called for that purpose), provided that:

151.1

151.2

if, at any general meeting of the Company other than at a meeting with a contested election as described in 151.2 bel
number of Directors is reduced below the minimum prescribed by the Board in accordance with Article 114 due to the fi
any persons nominated to be Directors to be elected, then in those circumstances, the nominee or nominees who rect
highest number of votes in favour of election shall be elected in order to maintain the prescribed minimum number of D
and each such Director shall remain a Director (subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and these Articles) only
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company unless such Director is elected by the Members durir
meeting; and

if, at the time the Company files its proxy statement for any general meeting of the Company, the number of persons
who are at such time validly nominated in accordance with these Articles for election or re-election as Directors (such
persons collectively, the “Director Nominees”) exceeds the number of Directors to be elected at such general meeting
in accordance with Articles 114 and 149 (the “Available Director Positions” and such an election, a “contested
election”), then only those Director Nominees in number equal to the Available Director Positions who receive the
highest number of votes in favour of their election by the Members present in person or represented by proxy at such
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152.

153.

meeting and entitled to vote on the election of Directors shall be elected as Directors. For clarity, notwithstanding the
withdrawal of any nominations for Directors in a contested election subsequent to the time the Company files its proxy
statement, the plurality voting provisions of this Article 151.2 will continue to apply to the election of Directors at any
such meeting.

SECRETARY

The Secretary shall be appointed by the Board at such remuneration (if any) and on such terms as it may think fit and any Secr¢
appointed may be removed by the Board.

The duties of the Secretary shall be those prescribed by the Companies Acts, together with such other duties as shall from time to
prescribed by the Board, and in any case, shall include the making and keeping of records of the votes, doings and proceeding
meetings of the

Members and the Board of the Company, and committees, and the authentication of records of the Company.

154.

155.

156.

157.

158.

159.

A provision of the Companies Acts or these Articles requiring or authorising a thing to be done by or to a Director and the Secrete
not be satisfied by its being done by or to the same person acting both as Director and as, or in the place of, the Secretary.

SEAL
The Company may, if the Board so determines, have a Seal (including any official seals kept pursuant to the Companies Acts) whi
only be used by the authority of the Board or of a committee of the Board authorised by the Board in that regard and every instru
which the Seal has been affixed shall be signed by any person who shall be either a Director or the Secretary or Assistant Secr
some other person authorised by the Board, either generally or specifically, for the purpose.

The Company may have for use in any place or places outside Ireland, a duplicate Seal or Seals each of which shall be a duplicat
Seal of the Company except, in the case of a Seal for use in sealing documents creating or evidencing securities issued by the Cc
for the addition on its face of the word “Securities” and if the Board so determines, with the addition on its face of the name of evel
where it is to be used.

DIVIDENDS, DISTRIBUTIONS AND RESERVES
The Company in general meeting may declare dividends, but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Director

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Board may from time to time declare dividends (including interim dividends) and distribut
Shares of the Company outstanding and authorise payment of the same out of the funds of the Company lawfully available therefc

The Board may, before declaring any dividends or distributions, set aside such sums as they think proper as a reserve or reserve
shall at the discretion of the Directors, be applicable for any purpose of the Company and pending such application may, at
discretion, be employed in the business of the Company. The Directors may also, without placing the same to reserve, carry forw
profits which they may think it prudent not to divide.
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160.

161.

162.

163.

No dividend, interim dividend or distribution shall be paid otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts.

Subject to the rights of persons, if any, entitled to Shares with special rights as to dividends or distributions, if dividends or distr
are to be declared on a class of Shares they shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the
of such class outstanding on the record date for such dividend or distribution as determined in accordance with these Atrticles.

The Directors may deduct from any dividend payable to any Member all sums of money (if any) immediately payable by he
Company in relation to the Shares of the Company.

The Board or any general meeting declaring a dividend (upon the recommendation of the Board), may direct that any divic
distribution be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of specific assets and in particular of paid up Shares, debentures, or de
stock of any other company or in any one or more of such ways and where any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution, th
may settle the same as they think expedient and in particular may issue fractional certificates and fix the value for distribution
specific assets or any part thereof and may determine that cash payments shall be made to any

Members upon the footing of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all Members and may vest any such specific assets in
trustees as may seem expedient to the Board.

164.

165.

166.

167.

Any dividend, distribution, interest or other monies payable in cash in respect of Shares may be paid by cheque or warrant sent
the post, or sent by any electronic or other means of payment, directed to the registered Address of the holder or, in the case
holders, to the holder who is first named on the Register of Members or to such person and to such Address as such holder
holders may in writing direct. Every such cheque or warrant, electronic or other payment shall be made payable to the order of the
to whom it is sent and payment of the cheque or warrant shall be a good discharge to the Company. Any one of two or more joint
may give effectual receipts for any dividends, bonuses, or other monies payable in respect of the Share held by them as joint holde
such dividend or other distribution may also be paid by any other method (including payment in a currency other than US$, el
funds transfer, direct debit, bank transfer or by means of a relevant system) which the Directors consider appropriate and any [
who elects for such method of payment shall be deemed to have accepted all of the risks inherent therein. The debiting of the Cor
account in respect of the relevant amount shall be evidence of good discharge of the Company’s obligations in respect of any g
made by any such methods.

No dividend or distribution shall bear interest against the Company.

If the Directors so resolve, any dividend which has remained unclaimed for twelve years from the date of its declaration shall be 1
and cease to remain owing by the Company. The payment by the Directors of any unclaimed dividend or other monies payable in
of a Share into a separate account shall not constitute the Company a trustee in respect thereof.

CAPITALISATION
Without prejudice to any powers conferred on the Directors as aforesaid, and subject to any authority granted to the Directors 1
and allot Shares, including, in accordance with the Companies Acts or under Article 9, the Directors or any duly appointed col
thereof may:
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167.1

resolve to capitalise any amount standing to the credit of the reserves of the Company (including, but not limited to, thi
premium account, capital redemption reserve, capital conversion reserve and profit and loss account), whether or not avalil
distribution, for any purpose, including, but not limited to, for the purposes of effecting any exchange of any rights and apply
such sum arising from such capitalisation to pay up any shares of the Company and allot them, credited as fully paid, to any
of such rights;

167.2 appropriate the sum resolved to be capitalised to the Members in proportion to the nominal amount of Shares held t
respectively and apply that sum on their behalf in or towards paying up in full unissued Shares or debentures of a nominal
equal to that sum, and allot the Shares or debentures, credited as fully paid, to the Members (or as the Board may direct) i
proportions, or partly in one way and partly in the other, but the share premium account, the capital redemption reserve, the
conversion reserve and profits that are not available for distribution may, for the purposes of this Article 167, only be ap
paying up unissued Shares to be allotted to Members credited as fully paid;
167.3 make any arrangements it thinks fit to resolve a difficulty arising in the distribution of a capitalised reserve and in particular,
limitation, where Shares or debentures become distributable in fractions the Board may deal with the fractions as it thinks fit;
167.4 authorise a person to enter (on behalf of all the Members concerned) into an agreement with the Company providing for the a
to the Members respectively, credited as fully paid, of Shares or debentures to which they may be entitled on the capitalisat
any such agreement made under this authority being effective and binding on all those Members; and
167.5 generally do all acts and things required to give effect to the resolution.
ACCOUNTS
168. The Directors shall cause the Company to keep adequate accounting records, which are sufficient to:
(@ correctly record and explain the transactions of the Company;
(b) enable, at any time, the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company to be determin
reasonable accuracy;
(c) enable the Directors to ensure that any financial statements of the Company and any directors’ report, require
prepared under the Companies Acts, comply with the requirements of the Companies Acts and, where applicable,
Regulation; and
(d) enable those financial statements of the Company to be audited.
Accounting records shall be kept on a continuous and consistent basis and entries therein shall be made in a timely manner and
be consistent from year to year in accordance with the Companies Acts.

169. The Company may send by post, electronic mail or any other means of electronic communication a summary financial stateme
Members or persons nominated by any Member. The Company may meet, but shall be under no obligation to meet, any request fi
of its Members to be sent additional copies of its full report and accounts or summary financial statement or other communications
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Members. The Company may send a summary financial statement to its Members or persons nominated by any Member i
Company may meet, but shall be under no obligation to meet, any request from any of its Members to be sent additional copie
documents required to be sent to Members by the Companies Acts or any summary financial statement or other communications
Members.

170. The accounting records shall be kept at the registered office of the Company or, subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts,
other place as the Directors think fit and shall be open at all reasonable times to the inspection of the Directors.

171. Accounting records shall not be deemed to be kept as required by Articles 168 to 170, if there are not kept such accounting rec
are necessary to give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs and to explain its transactions.

172. In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Board may from time to time cause to be prepared and to be laid be
Company in general meeting profit and loss

accounts, balance sheets, group accounts (if any) and such other reports and accounts as may be required by law.

173.
173.1 The Company may send by post, electronic mail or any other means of electronic communication:
(a) the Company’s statutory financial statements,
(b) the directors’ report, and
(c) the statutory auditors’ report and copies of those documents shall also be treated for the purposes of the Companit
as sent to a person where:
(i) the Company and that person have agreed to his or her having access to the documents on a website (ins
their being sent to him or her);
(ii) the documents are documents to which that agreement applies; and
(i) that person is notified, in @ manner for the time being agreed for the purpose between that person and the cc
of —
(A) the publication of the documents on a website,
(B) the address of that website, and
© the place on that website where the documents may be accessed and how they may be accessed.
173.2 The documents listed at 173.1 (a) to (c) shall be treated as sent to a person not less than 21 days before the date of a meetini
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173.3

only if —

(a) the documents are published on the website throughout a period beginning at least 21 days before the date of the |
and ending with the conclusion of the meeting; and

(b) the notification given for the purposes of paragraph (c) is given not less than 21 days before the date of the meeting.

Nothing shall invalidate the proceedings of a meeting where—

(a) any documents that are required to be published are published for a part, but not all, of the 21 day period mentioned
and
(b) the failure to publish those documents throughout that period is wholly attributable to circumstances which it woulc

reasonable to have expected the company to prevent or avoid.

173.4 Where copies of documents are sent out pursuant to this Article 173 over a period of days, references elsewhere

Companies Act to the day on which those copies are sent out shall be read as references to the last day of that period.

AUDIT

174. Statutory auditors shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance with the Companies Acts or any statutory ame
thereof, any other applicable law and such requirements not inconsistent with the Companies Acts as the Board may from time
determine.

NOTICES
175. Any notice to be given, served, sent or delivered pursuant to these Articles shall be in writing (whether in electronic form or otherwi
175.1 A notice or document to be given, served, sent or delivered in pursuance of these Articles may be given to, served on or deli
any Member by the Company:
(a) by handing same to her authorised agent;
(b) by leaving the same at her registered address;
(c) by sending the same by the post in a pre-paid cover addressed to her at her registered address; or
(d) by sending, with the consent of the Member to the extent required by law, the same by means of electronic mail
means of electronic communication approved by the Directors, to the Address of the Member notified to the Comj
the Member for such purpose (or if not so notified, then to the Address of the Member last known to the Company).
175.2  For the purposes of these Articles and the Companies Acts, a document shall be deemed to have been sent to a Member if :
is given, served, sent or delivered to the Member and the notice specifies the website or hotlink or other electronic link at or
which the Member may obtain a copy of the relevant document.
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175.3

175.4

175.5

175.6

175.7

175.8

175.9

Where a notice or document is given, served or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph 175.1(a) or 175.1(b) of this Article, the
service or delivery thereof shall be deemed to have been effected at the time the same was handed to the Member or her au
agent, or left at her registered address (as the case may be).

Where a notice or document is given, served or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph 175.1(c) of this Article, the giving, se
delivery thereof shall be deemed to have been effected at the expiration of twenty-four (24) hours after the cover containin
posted. In proving service or delivery it shall be sufficient to prove that such cover was properly addressed, stamped and post

Where a notice or document is given, served or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph 175.1(d) of this Article, the giving, se
delivery thereof shall be deemed to have been effected at the expiration of forty-eight (48) hours after despatch.

Every legal personal representative, committee, receiver, curator bonis or other legal curator, assignee in bankruptcy, exar
liquidator of a Member shall be bound by a notice given as aforesaid if sent to the last registered address of such Member, ¢
event of notice given or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph 175.1(d) of this Article, if sent to the address notified by the Ct
by the Member for such purpose notwithstanding that the Company may have notice of the death, lunacy, bankruptcy, liquid
disability of such Member.

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article, the Company shall not be obliged to take account of or make any investiga
to the existence of any suspension or curtailment of postal services within or in relation to all or any part of any jurisdiction.

Any requirement in these Articles for the consent of a Member in regard to the receipt by such Member of electronic mail «
means of electronic communications approved by the Directors, including the receipt of the Company’s audited accounts
Directors’ and statutory auditor’s reports thereon, shall be deemed to have been satisfied where the Company has writtel
Member informing her/him of its intention to use electronic communications for such purposes and the Member has not, wit
(4) weeks of the issue of such notice, served an objection in writing on the Company to such proposal. Where a Member ha
or is deemed to have given, her/his consent to the receipt by such Member of electronic mail or other means of el
communications approved by the Directors, she may revoke such consent at any time by requesting the Company to comm
with her in documented form; provided, however, that such revocation shall not take effect until five (5) days after written notic
revocation is received by the Company.

Without prejudice to the provisions of sub-paragraphs 175.1(a) and 175.1(b) of this Article, if at any time by reason of the sus
or curtailment of postal services in any territory, the Company is unable effectively to convene a general meeting by notic
through the post, a general meeting may be convened by a public announcement (as defined below) and such notice ¢
deemed to have been duly served on all Members entitled thereto at noon (New York time) on the day on which the sai
announcement is made. In any such case the Company shall put a full copy of the notice of the general meeting on its we
“public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by a financial news service or in a document publi
by the Company with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

176. Notice may be given by the Company to the joint Members of a Share by giving the notice to the joint Member whose name stand
the Register in respect of the Share and notice so given shall be sufficient notice to all the joint Members.
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177.

178.

177.1

177.2

Every person who becomes entitled to a Share shall before her name is entered in the Register in respect of the Share, be bt
any notice in respect of that Share which has been duly given to a person from whom she derives her title.

A notice may be given by the Company to the persons entitled to a Share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a Mel
sending or delivering it, in any manner authorised by these Articles for the giving of notice to a Member, addressed to ther
Address, if any, supplied by them for that purpose. Until such an Address has been supplied, a notice may be given in any m
which it might have been given if the death or bankruptcy had not occurred.

A Member present, either in person or by proxy, at any meeting of the Company or the Holders of any class of Shares in the Ci
shall be deemed to have received notice of the meeting and, where requisite, of the purposes for which it was called.

UNTRACED HOLDERS

179.
179.1 The Company shall be entitled to sell at the best price reasonably obtainable any Share or stock of a Member or any Share
to which a person is entitled by transmission if and provided that:

(a) for a period of twelve (12) years (not less than three (3) dividends having been declared and paid) no cheque or
sent by the Company through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to the Member or to the person entitled by trans
to the Share or stock at her Address on the Register or other last known Address given by the Member or the
entitled by transmission to which cheques and warrants are to be sent has been cashed and no communication h:
received by the Company from the Member or the person entitled by transmission; and

(b) at the expiration of the said period of twelve (12) years the Company has given notice by advertisement in a leading
newspaper and a newspaper circulating in the area in which the Address referred to in paragraph (a) of this A
located of its intention to sell such Share or stock; and

(c) the Company has not during the further period of three (3) months after the date of the advertisement and prio
exercise of the power of sale received any communication from the Member or person entitled by transmission.

179.2 To give effect to any such sale the Company may appoint any person to execute as transferor an instrument of transfer

Share or stock and such instrument of transfer shall be as effective as if it had been executed by the Member or person en

transmission to such Share or stock. The Company shall account to the Member or other person entitled to such Share or s

the net proceeds of such sale by carrying all monies in respect thereof to a separate account which shall be a permanent del

Company and the Company shall be deemed to be a debtor and not a trustee in respect thereof for such Member or other

Monies carried to such separate account may either be employed in the business of the Company or invested in such inve:

(other than Shares of the Company or its holding company if any) as the Directors may from time to time think fit.

DESTRUCTION OF DOCUMENTS
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180. The Company may destroy:

180.1 any dividend mandate or any variation or cancellation thereof or any notification of change of name or address, at any time ¢
expiry of two (2) years from the date such mandate variation, cancellation or notification was recorded by the Company;

180.2 any instrument of transfer of Shares which has been registered, at any time after the expiry of six (6) years from the
registration; and

180.3 any other document on the basis of which any entry in the Register was made, at any time after the expiry of six (6) years f
date an entry in the Register was first made in respect of it;

180.4 and it shall be presumed conclusively in favour of the Company that every share certificate (if any) so destroyed was
certificate duly and properly sealed and that every instrument of transfer so destroyed was a valid and effective instrument ¢
properly registered and that every other document destroyed hereunder was a valid and effective document in accordance '
recorded particulars thereof in the books or records of the Company provided always that:

(a) the foregoing provisions of this Article shall apply only to the destruction of a document in good faith and without
notice to the Company that the preservation of such document was relevant to a claim;

(b) nothing contained in this Article shall be construed as imposing upon the Company any liability in respect of the des
of any such document earlier than as aforesaid or in any case where the conditions of proviso (a) above are not
and

(c) references in this Article to the destruction of any document include references to its disposal in any manner.

WINDING UP
181. If the Company shall be wound up and the assets available for distribution among the Members as such shall be insufficient to

repay the whole of the paid up or credited as paid up share capital, such assets shall be distributed so that, as nearly as may be,
the losses shall be borne by the Members in proportion to the capital paid up or credited as paid up at the commencement of the
winding up on the Shares held by them respectively. And if in a winding up the assets available for distribution among the
Members shall be more than sufficient to repay the whole of the share capital paid up or credited as paid up at the
commencement of the winding up, the excess shall be distributed among the Members in proportion to the capital at the
commencement of the winding up paid up or credited as paid up on the said Shares held by them respectively. Provided that this
Article shall not affect the rights of the Members holding Shares issued upon special terms and conditions.

181.1 In case of a sale by the liquidator under section 601 of the Companies Act 2014, the liquidator may by the contract of sale a
as to bind all the Members for the allotment to the Members directly of the proceeds of sale in proportion to their respective i
in the Company and may further by the contract limit a time at the expiration of which obligations or Shares not accepted or r
to be sold shall be deemed to have been irrevocably refused and be at the disposal of the Company, but so that nothing
contained shall be taken to diminish, prejudice or affect the rights of dissenting Members conferred by the said section 601.
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182.

183.

181.2

The power of sale of the liquidator shall include a power to sell wholly or partially debentures, debenture stock, or other oblige
another company, either then already constituted or about to be constituted for the purpose of carrying out the sale.

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator, with the sanction of a Special Resolution and any other sanction required by the Cor
Acts, may divide among the Members in specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they shall cc
property of the same kind or not), and, for such purpose, may value any assets and determine how the division shall be carriec
between the Members or different classes of Members. The liquidator, with the like sanction, may vest the whole or any part
assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the contributories as, with the like sanction, she determines, but so that no |
shall be compelled to accept any assets upon which there is a liability.

183.1

INDEMNITY

Subject to the provisions of and so far as may be admitted by the Companies Acts, every Director and Secretary shall be er
be indemnified by the Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by her in the execut
discharge of her duties or in relation thereto including any liability incurred by her in defending any proceedings, civil or ¢
which relate to anything done or omitted or alleged to have

been done or omitted by her as an officer or employee of the Company and in which judgement is given in her favour (or the
proceedings are otherwise disposed of without any finding or admission of any material breach of duty on her part) or in which she is
acquitted or in connection with any application under any statute for relief from liability in respect of any such act or omission in which
relief is granted to her by the Court.

183.2

183.3

183.4

As far as permissible under the Companies Acts, the Company shall indemnify any current or former executive of the Ci
(excluding any Directors or Secretary) or any person who is serving or has served at the request of the Company as a |
executive or trustee of another company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against expenses, including attorney
judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by her in connection with any thre
pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, other than an action
the right of the Company, to which she, or she was, is, or is threatened to be made a party by reason of the fact that she, or s
was such a director, executive or trustee, provided always that the indemnity contained in this Article 183.2 shall not extenc
matter which would render it void pursuant to the Companies Acts.

In the case of any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding by or in the right of the Company, the Compa
indemnify each person indicated in Article 183.2 of this Article against expenses, including attorneys’ fees, actually and rea
incurred in connection with the defence or the settlement thereof, except no indemnification shall be made in respect of an
issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable for fraud or dishonesty in the performance of t
to the Company unless and only to the extent that the Court or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall de
upon application that despite the adjudication of liability, but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fa
reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses as the Court shall deem proper.

As far as permissible under the Companies Acts, expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in defending any action,
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184.

185.

183.5

183.6

183.7

proceeding referred to in Articles 183.2 and 183.3 of this Article may be paid by the Company in advance of the final dispo:
such action, suit or proceeding as authorised by the Board in the specific case upon receipt of an undertaking by or on beha
director, executive or trustee, or other indemnitee to repay such amount, unless it shall ultimately be determined that she is er
be indemnified by the Company as authorised by these Articles.

It being the policy of the Company that indemnification of the persons specified in this Article shall be made to the fullest
extent permitted by law, the indemnification provided by this Article shall not be deemed exclusive (a) of any other rights to
which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under the Memorandum, Articles, any
agreement, any insurance purchased by the Company, any vote of Members or disinterested Directors, or pursuant to the
direction (however embodied) of any court of competent jurisdiction, or otherwise, both as to action in her official capacity
and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, or (b) of the power of the Company to indemnify any person
who is or was an employee or agent of the Company or of another company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise which
she is serving or has served at the request of the Company, to the same extent and in the same situations and subject to
the same determinations as are hereinabove set forth with respect to a director, executive or trustee. As used in this
paragraph (b), references to the “Company” include all constituent companies in a consolidation or merger in which the
Company or a predecessor to the Company by consolidation or merger was involved. The indemnification provided by this
Article shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, executive or trustee and shall inure to the benefit of
the heirs, executors, and administrators of such a person.

The Directors shall have power to purchase and maintain for any Director, the Secretary or other officers or employees
Company insurance against any such liability as referred to in the Companies Acts or otherwise.

The Company may additionally indemnify any employee or agent of the Company or any director, executive, employee or ¢
any of its subsidiaries to the fullest extent permitted by law.

FINANCIAL YEAR

The financial year of the Company shall be as prescribed by the Board from time to time.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

The Board is hereby expressly authorised to adopt any Shareholder Rights Plan, upon such terms and conditions as the Board
expedient and in the best interests of the Company, subject to applicable law, including the grant of rights (including appro\
execution of any documents relating to the grant of such rights) to subscribe for ordinary shares or preferred shares in the share ¢
the Company in accordance with the terms of any Shareholder Rights Plan. The Directors or any duly appointed committee there
effect an exchange of rights in accordance with such Shareholder Rights Plan.
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We, the corporate body whose name and address is subscribed, wish to be formed into a company in pursuance of this memorandum of

association, and we agree to take the number of shares in the capital of the Company set opposite our respective names.

Names, Address and Description BIOGEN
INTERNATIONAL GMBH

of the
Subscriber by the Subscriber

Goodbody 1 (ONE)
Subscriber

One Limited

Internationa

| Financial

Services

Centre

North  Wall

Quay

Dublin 1
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Limited
liability
company

Total
Number
of
Shares
Taken:
By:

/sl Peter Puype

Dated 29 April 2011

Witness to the above signature

Name:

Address:
Name:

Title:

Date:
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Isabel Hyde

Trainee Solicitor

Pet
er
Pu

yp

IFSC,
SV
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Ch
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20
24
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Dublin

ALKERMES
PHARMA
IRELAND
LIMITED
By: Is/

De

cla

Co
nn
or

Name: De
cla

Co
nn
or

Title: SV

Op
era
tio
ns
Date: 07
Ju
ne
20
24

Exhibit 10.2A
2018 Plan Award Certificate - Non-Employee Director Non-Qualified Stock Option
Alkermes plc
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Connaught House
1 Burlington Road
Dublin 4, Ireland

Name: Participant Name
Address: Participant Address
Grant ID: Grant ID

Plan: Plan ID

ID: Optionee 1D

Effective [Grant Date] (the “Grant Date”), you have been granted a non-qualified stock option (the “NQ Option”) to buy [Award Grant
Amount] ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share (the “Shares”), of Alkermes plc (the “Company”) with an exercise price of $[Grant
Price] per share.
The NQ Option was granted under the Alkermes plc 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), and is governed by the terms and
conditions thereof and of this award certificate (this “Award Certificate”). A copy of the Plan is available upon request. Unless otherwise
defined in this Award Certificate, all capitalized terms used in this Award Certificate shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them
in the Plan.
Vesting details for the NQ Option are available via your Bank of America Merrill Lynch Benefits Online account. The NQ Option shall
expire on the earlier to occur of: (i) the 10th anniversary of the Grant Date or (ii) three years after the termination of your service
relationship with the Company.
In the event of the termination of your service relationship with the Company by reason of death or permanent disability, the NQ Option
shall automatically vest and become exercisable in full, effective upon the date of such termination, and the period during which the NQ
Option may be exercised (to the extent that it is exercisable on the date of such termination) shall be three years following the date of
such termination, provided, however, that in no event shall such three-year period extend beyond the original term of the NQ Option.
The grant of the NQ Option does not infer any right to, or expectation of, the grant of any additional Options or other Awards on the same
basis or at all, in any future year. Participation in the Plan shall in no way give you any rights to compensation for any claim of loss in
relation to the Plan, including without limitation:

(@) any loss or reduction of any rights or expectations under the Plan in any circumstances or for any reason;

(b) any exercise of a discretion or a decision taken in relation to an Award or to the Plan, or any failure to exercise a

discretion or take a decision; or

(c) the operation, suspension, termination or amendment of the Plan.
Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Award Certificate and/or the NQ Option shall, to the fullest extent permitted by
law, be settled by arbitration in any forum and form agreed upon by the parties or, in the absence of such an agreement, under the
auspices of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) in Boston, Massachusetts, USA, in accordance with the rules and procedures of
the AAA, including,
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but not limited to, the rules and procedures applicable to the selection of arbitrators. Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator
may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

You may not be issued any Shares in respect of the NQ Option unless either (i) the Shares are registered under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”); or (ii) the Company has determined that such issuance would be exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act. The NQ Option also must comply with other applicable laws and regulations governing the NQ Option,
and you will not receive such Shares if the Company determines that such receipt would not be in material compliance with such laws and
regulations.

The Company has no duty or obligation to minimize the tax consequences to you of the NQ Option and will not be liable to you for any
adverse tax consequences to you arising in connection with the NQ Option. You are advised to consult with your own personal tax,
financial and/or legal advisors regarding the tax consequences of the NQ Option.

This Award Certificate may not be modified or amended except in a writing signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator reserves the right to modify or amend, by written notice to you, the terms of the NQ
Option and/or this Award Certificate in any way it may deem necessary or advisable (i) as a result of any change in applicable laws or
regulations, or any future law, regulation, ruling, or judicial decision, in each case applicable to the NQ Option, or (ii) for any other legal
purpose, provided that (in each case of (i) or (ii) above), no such modification or amendment shall adversely affect your rights under the
NQ Option and/or this Award Certificate without your written consent.

Alkermes plc

By: )

Exhibit 10.2B

2018 Plan Award Certificate - Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit (Time-Vesting)
Alkermes plc
Connaught House
1 Burlington Road
Dublin 4, Ireland
Name: Participant Name
Address: Participant Address
Grant ID: Grant ID
Plan: Plan ID
ID: Grantee ID
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Effective [Grant Date] (the “Grant Date”), you have been granted a time-vesting restricted stock unit award (the "RSU"). The RSU is for a
total of [Award Grant Amount] ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share (the “Shares”), of Alkermes plc (the “Company”).

The RSU was granted under the Alkermes plc 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and is governed by the terms and
conditions thereof and of this award certificate (this “Award Certificate”). A copy of the Plan is available upon request. Unless otherwise
defined in this Award Certificate, all capitalized terms used in this Award Certificate shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them
in the Plan.

Vesting details for the RSU are available via your Bank of America Merrill Lynch Benefits Online account.

You must be in a service relationship with the Company on each vesting date in order to receive the Shares that vest on each such date,
except as otherwise provided below. The Company will deliver to you a number of Shares equal to the number of vested Shares
underlying your RSU, subject to the satisfaction of tax withholding obligations as set forth in the Plan, within three business days of each
applicable vesting date. Delivery of the Shares in settlement of your RSU is intended to comply with the requirements for the short-term
deferral exemption available under Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) and shall be construed and administered in such
manner.

In the event of the termination of your service relationship with the Company

by reason of death or permanent disability, the RSU shall automatically vest in full, effective upon such termination.

The grant of the RSU does not infer any right to, or expectation of, the grant of any additional Awards on the same basis or at all, in any
future year. Participation in the Plan shall in no way give you any rights to compensation for any claim of loss in relation to the Plan,
including without limitation:

€) any loss or reduction of any rights or expectations under the Plan in any circumstances or for any reason;

(b) any exercise of a discretion or a decision taken in relation to an Award or to the Plan, or any failure to exercise a

discretion or take a decision; or

(c) the operation, suspension, termination or amendment of the Plan.

Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Award Certificate and/or the RSU shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be
settled by arbitration in any forum and form agreed upon by the parties or, in the absence of such an agreement, under the auspices of
the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) in Boston, Massachusetts, USA, in accordance with the rules andproceduresof the AAA,
including, but not limited to, the rules and procedures applicable to the selection of arbitrators. Judgment upon the award rendered by the
arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

You may not be issued any Shares in respect of the RSU unless either (i) the Shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”); or (ii) the Company has determined that such issuance would be exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act. The RSU also must comply with other applicable laws and regulations governing the RSU, and you
will not receive such Shares if the Company determines that such receipt would not be in material compliance with such laws and

regulations.
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The Company has no duty or obligation to minimize the tax consequences to you of the RSU and will not be liable to you for any adverse
tax consequences to you arising in connection with the RSU. You are advised to consult with your own personal tax, financial and/or legal
advisors regarding the tax consequences of the RSU.

This Award Certificate may not be modified or amended except in a writing signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator reserves the right to modify or amend, by written notice to you, the terms of the RSU
and/or this Award Certificate in any way it may deem necessary or advisable (i) as a result of any change in applicable laws or
regulations, or any future law, regulation, ruling, or judicial decision, in each case applicable to the RSU, or (ii) for any other legal purpose,
provided that (in each case of (i) or (ii) above), no such modification or amendment shall adversely affect your rights under the RSU
and/or this Award Certificate without your written consent.

Alkermes plc

By: )

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Richard F. Pops, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Alkermes plc;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading"
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all mate
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedurt
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
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designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over finan:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 1, 2024 July 24, 2024 /sl Richard F. Pops

Richard F. Pops

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Blair C. Jackson, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Alkermes plc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all materi

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;
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4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financii
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 1, 2024 July 24, 2024 /s/ Blair C. Jackson

Blair C. Jackson

Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer

(Interim Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
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In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Alkermes plc (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2024 June
30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Richard F. Pops, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Blair C. Jackson, Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Interim Principal

Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to our knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; ant

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 1

Company.

Date: May 1, 2024 July 24, 2024 /s/ Richard F. Pops
Richard F. Pops
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 1, 2024 July 24, 2024 /s/ Blair C. Jackson
Blair C. Jackson
Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
(Interim Principal Financial Officer)
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™
IS A COMPARISON OF TWO FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS,
OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON
DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE
INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE
COMPANY’'S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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